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Hughes:  This is John Hughes with the Secretary 

of State’s Legacy Project at the home of Adele 

Ferguson at  Hansville, Washington, overlooking 

 Puget Sound.  In 1961, Adele became the fi rst 

female legislati ve reporter at the state  Capitol in 

 Olympia, and in short order became a force to 

reckon with.  She reti red from  The Bremerton Sun 

in 1993, but has maintained her column, which is 

syndicated in some 30 Northwest newspapers.

Hughes: Adele, you have been quoted as saying 

that you should never ask a woman her weight, 

her salary, or her age.  But, for the record, this is an oral history, and I’m duty bound to ask 

you to state your full name, including your maiden name, and your date of birth. It’s for 

posterity.

Ferguson:  It’s going to go in that book.

Hughes:  It’s going to go in an oral history, on the website, then in a book.

Ferguson:  Well, my full name is Adele (“A-dell”) W. Ferguson. 

Hughes:  Not “Uh-DELL” but “A-dell”?

Ferguson:  You know why I do that?

Hughes:  Why?

Ferguson:  Because when you answer the phone and say “A-dell” they understand “A-dell.”  

But if you only say “Uh-dell” it kind of runs together.  So I fi gure “A-dell,” then they know 
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who they’re talking to. … I was named aft er my father’s only sister, who was an invalid of 

some kind.  I never knew for sure what was wrong with her. 

 They never called me anything but “Sister,” just as my brother,  Grady Jr., was 

“Buddy” and my sister  Alice was “Tooddy.” They quit doing that with their last seven kids.

I should tell you something interesti ng about my mother and my father’s family.  

I never met either one of my grandmothers.  Well, I did when I was litt le baby – one of 

them.  The one that came over from  Norway with her kids in World War I.  The other one is 

from the hillbilly secti on of  Tennessee.  And my grandfather had brothers, several brothers, 

and one of them was found dead by the railroad tracks one day, all bloodied up.  Now the 

questi on was, “Did he get beat up and killed or was he run over by the train accidentally?”  

You know how they found out?

Hughes:  No.

Ferguson:  You take the body home and you get a new quilt, and wrap the body in the 

quilt, and then you wash the quilt.  And if the blood comes out of the quilt then he wasn’t 

murdered.  If the blood had remained in the quilt he would have been considered a murder 

victi m.  Now that’s old hillbilly stuff .

Hughes:  Wow.

Ferguson:  But, yeah, that’s true!  That’s a true story.

Hughes:  That’s Hillbilly CSI.

Ferguson:  Oh yeah.

Hughes:  So, I think we got interrupted on your full name. What’s the “W” for?

Ferguson:  My middle name –  Werdell – is my  mother’s maiden name.  She was a teenager, 

I think, when she came over from Norway in World War I.  What happened was this: A 

great number of  Scandinavian men were inclined to come to the  United States ahead of 

the family, sett le, fi nd another woman, have another bunch of kids and say, “I’ll see ya!”  So 

the poor grass widows … they’re left  alone back in Norway or  Sweden.  It happened to a 

lot of them.  Eventually when they get the money, fi rst they send the kids over one by one.  

They pop the kids over as soon as they got the dough.  And the kids come over and stay 

with the  father. My grandmother came over with her two girls – my mother and my aunt.  
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I think she had fi ve boys and two girls.  Her boys were all excellent fl oor layers. They were 

wonderful fi gures in my life…

Hughes:  Grandma’s sons we’re talking about?

Ferguson:  Grandma’s. My  Norwegian grandmother.  She sett led in  Minnesota.  

Interesti ngly, as a young woman, she had a mastectomy and that was very rare in those 

days.

Hughes:  Yeah, to survive it no less.  Talk about disfi guring.

Ferguson:  And I don’t know how it happened, but — what’s the name of the big medical 

clinic there?

Hughes:  The Mayo.

Ferguson:  The  Mayo somehow learned about that and asked her to please come to the 

clinic, would she talk to some of their doctors in a meeti ng about what happened?  And 

she did.  As a matt er of fact I’ve got a book on the Mayo Clinic but I haven’t run through 

it yet to see if I can fi nd that writt en up in there.  I think it might be.  It’s about that thick 

– the book. That’s why I haven’t read it yet.  But she did, she went to the Mayo Clinic and 

told them all about her operati on.

Hughes:  So Werdell is your mother’s maiden name?

Ferguson:  Yes.  My father’s name is  Ferguson.

Hughes:  So you are Adele Werdell Ferguson. That’s your maiden name?

Ferguson:  Right. 

Hughes:  What was your father’s fi rst name?

Ferguson:  Grady, G-r-a-d-y,  Grady Ferguson.

Hughes:  And the derivati on of Ferguson?

Ferguson:  Mostly  Scotch.  I don’t know where the Grady comes from.  When I was litt le we 

used to laugh at it. We didn’t like it. … I’m half  Norwegian and half Scotch.

Hughes:  That’s a prett y formidable combinati on of gene pools.

Ferguson:  Oh, I think so.

Hughes:  And how about your mother? What was her fi rst name?

Ferguson:  Christi ne. C-h-r-i-s-t-i-n-e, just like regular  Christi ne.
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Hughes:  Were they married as a young people?

Ferguson:  Well, they must have been. I don’t know. Was she 18 when I was born?  No that 

wasn’t me. That was somebody else.  I’m thinking of Barack  Obama’s mother! (Joking)  She 

was 18 when he was born.  I was their second child. They had a boy before they had me. 

Then they had a lot more kids.

Hughes:  What was the span between you and your brother?

Ferguson:  Probably a couple years.  Kids at school used to say, “Gee, how do you 

remember all of the names of all of your brothers and sisters?”  And adults would say, “I 

didn’t know they gave that much furlough” in the  Army! 

Hughes:  And how many siblings in all?

Ferguson:  Ten.

Hughes:  You were number two of 10. Holy moly! That’s a big family. 

So, do you want to negoti ate over this? What year were you born?

Ferguson:  (aft er lengthy pause) I was born near the ti me of the  Great Depression. That’s as 

close as I’m going to give you.

Hughes:  OK.  And where was that?

Ferguson:   Fort Snelling, Minnesota.  My  father was an Army man. He was career Army.

Hughes:  Were your early growing up years in Minnesota?

Ferguson:  Well, no. I was just a baby in Fort Snelling.  And then we moved to—

Hughes:  Where was that near, Adele? Fort Snelling  …

Ferguson:  Between  Minneapolis and  St. Paul.  I think it’s the oldest fort in the  United 

States.  

Hughes:  So you’re a baby in Minnesota.

Ferguson:  And then they moved to  Fort Omaha, and I was raised in Fort Omaha.

Hughes:  So you stayed there for how many years?

Ferguson:  I don’t remember.  I went to school there.  And then in  Caruthersville, Missouri. 

My dad was transferred to a  Nati onal Guard unit in Caruthersville.  That’s in Southern 

Missouri.

Hughes:  What was your dad’s job in the Army?
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Ferguson:  He was a soldier.  I don’t know what he did.  He was in the offi  ce, and of course 

he fought.  As a matt er of fact he joined the Army when he was 16 because he had thrown 

a boot out the front door of the house and hit a goose and killed it.  And they took him 

down and enlisted him into the Army.  So he was 16, but of course they didn’t care how old 

you were. He was big enough and able.

Hughes:  Where was that?

Ferguson:   Tennessee. But then he went to the border, fi ghti ng  Pancho Villa.  He fought 

with those troops.

Hughes:  With  General Pershing along the  Mexican border in 1916?

Ferguson:  Yeah, and then he was in World War I, too. He went overseas.  And he got 

mustard gassed.  He never talked much about his  Army service. … He eventually became a 

sergeant, and then he became a First Sergeant.  He got in some kind of trouble toward the 

end of his career and got busted.  But I never knew why.  Someone in the family may know 

why.

Hughes: What did you call your parents – “Mom,” “Dad”?

Ferguson: I called my mother “Mama.” Some of the other kids called her “mother.” 

Neighbors called her “Mrs. Ferguson.” I never heard anyone call her “Chris.” My  mother 

called my  father “ Dad.” He called her “Ma.”

Hughes: Tell us about what your mother did.

Ferguson:  She stayed home.

Hughes:  A housewife – classic housewife?

Ferguson:  Yeah, she never worked.

Hughes:  What was she like?

Ferguson:  Oh she was fi ne, which was really odd since she had six daughters and four 

sons. Anyway,  Frances, the last one born, born in this state, she was a  Down syndrome 

baby.  I’ll tell you something later about her. But what was your questi on?

Hughes:  What was your mother like?

Ferguson:  My mother was the kind of woman anyone would like to have as a next-door 

neighbor. She was an expert by experience with her brood of 10 in childhood diseases, 
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broken limbs and internecine warfare. I never heard her gossip. I never heard her swear. 

I don’t recall ever seeing her lose her temper. She treated neighbor kids like her own. I 

remember a couple of ragamuffi  ns coming by the house one day, selling berries, I think. 

And my mother gave their unkempt hair a good combing with the family comb. On 

discovering they had lice, she gave them the comb, which meant her own kids had to comb 

their hair with a fork unti l she or my dad got to town to buy a new one. My dad had his 

own comb. 

My  mother milked a cow for a while and the neighbor’s cow, too, when the 

neighbor was not home to do it. She and the neighbor’s wife both knew that if the wife 

ever learned how to milk the cow it would become her job. 

Neighbor kids walked to our house in the mornings to wait in our living room for 

the school bus. When the girls in the neighborhood got the itch for a  4-H Club, my mother 

wound up running it when no one else volunteered. She was such an eager reader that the 

bookmobile made its weekly neighborhood stop in our yard. 

She made most of our clothes, and the thing I thought was so unusual was that she 

had six daughters, but we never cooked.  She did all the cooking.  She never taught me to 

cook.  I learned to cook from a cookbook.  My sister and I would do the dishes, and the two 

oldest boys had to sweep the fl oor and do some other damn thing.  But then we sort of 

swapped off . They’d do the dishes and we’d sweep the fl oor

Hughes:  So these 10 kids came in prett y rapid succession in the Ferguson household? 

Ferguson:  Oh yeah, there was always a baby.   I never played hooky from school. Never, 

because I knew if I did I’d probably end up taking care of the baby.

Hughes:  Are those siblings sti ll alive?

Ferguson:  Three of them have died.

Hughes:  Seven of 10 kids are sti ll alive in 2008. That’s wonderful. Are you close to those 

other kids?

Ferguson:  A couple of them. You know, aft er we moved up here to Washington, I think it 

was the  University of Minnesota had heard about this family of 10 kids, and they called 

up here and wanted to know about us. We were older then and fairly successful. I’ve 
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been kind of successful my whole life. They wanted to know from the principal of  Central 

Kitsap High School – a guy named Jim  Huey – how all these kids were doing.  And he called 

one day and told me, “You know, I told them all about you.”  I said, “I didn’t go to Central 

Kitsap. I went to high school before I got here.” And he said, “Well I told him you did.  I 

wanted him to be proud of all of you.” I always wondered if they’d ever writt en about all 

this and if I could lay my hands on it.  Because every single one of us was successful. My 

brother worked for this outf it that demonstrates airplanes. What do you call those litt le 

things you sit in and pretend you’re in an airplane?

Hughes:  A trainer.  When I was in the Air Force we called them a Link Trainer.

Ferguson:  Yeah, I think that’s it.  And I was in the newspaper business all my life.  My 

sister  Tooddy ran a nursery school, and a wonderful one. They were just in line to go to her 

school over in  Seatt le.  … And then my brother  Tommy was in the  Navy 20 years, and then 

aft er that he worked fi rst for a private company.  And  Robin was a hot-shot supervisor at 

Boeing.  And my brother  Jonnie, we think he’s a spy because nobody knows what he does.  

And when he comes to this country he always goes to states where they have spy schools 

and stuff .  But when you ask him about it, he just buzzes around.  He’s so blank someti mes 

I don’t know how he could possibly be a spy.  He was just here recently.   But he won’t tell 

you anything… But he’s been on the federal payroll and he’s just really weird. Jonnie the 

spy. He lives in  Las Vegas now and has 18 cats.

Hughes:  With all those kids, were your parents  Catholics? 

Ferguson:  Want to hear a joke?

Hughes:  I do!

Ferguson:  The guy went to Catholic priest and he says, “My dog just died, and I just loved 

that dog.  Could you possibly say a prayer in the church for my dog?”  

 And the priest says, “No, I’m sorry but we just don’t do things like that.”

 “I don’t know what to do,” the guy said.  

 The priest said, “Well, try the  Bapti st Church down the road there. Maybe they’ll do 

it.”

 
“Oh, OK,” he said.  “Do you think it would be forward of me to off er them 5,000
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bucks to say a prayer for my dog?”

 And the priest said, “Holy Mary, you didn’t tell me it was a  Catholic dog!”

Hughes:  So Jonnie the spy has 18 kids. That’s prett y incredible.

Ferguson:  Cats! 18 cats.

Hughes:  Oh, never mind! I thought you said “kids.” Cats, that’s diff erent.  They could have 

been  Protestant cats then!

Ferguson:  They take in strays.  And my sister who has visited them says, “Yes, you can 

smell the cats.”  But they have scratching posts and litt er boxes.  And I asked him when he 

was here recently, I said to Jonnie, “How do you feed all these cats?”  He said, “I line up so 

many bowls, and they eat …” It’s nice that people will do that – take in that many strays. 

But I couldn’t.  I’ve had up to eight cats at one ti me and they didn’t all like each other.

Hughes:  Do you have cats now?

Ferguson:  One.  The Scarlet Pimpernel. She’s somewhere around the corner here.  She’s a 

tabby.

Hughes:  Were the  Fergusons a religious family? Did you kids all go to church?

Ferguson:  No. Well, we occasionally went to Sunday School, the nearest Protestant one.  

But we didn’t go very oft en to church. In her old age, as a widow, my  mother att ended my 

church,  Our Saviour’s Lutheran, but didn’t like it because they have a statue of Jesus up 

front and she said they were worshipping graven images. She was a  Lutheran as a child. My 

dad wasn’t anything.

Hughes:  What was it like growing up in that household as a girl – the oldest girl? 

Ferguson:  We did everything.  We made our own toys. Like if we didn’t have cards, we’d 

make them out of thin cardboard if we could fi nd it.

Hughes:  We’re defi nitely talking about the Depression years.

Ferguson:  My sister and I we made our own dolls, rag dolls.  An oatmeal box would be 

their bed…  And for fun we hunted up snakes, ti ed them to sti cks, and brought them home 

to my mother.

Hughes:  This is in  Nebraska?

Ferguson:  This is in  Missouri.



10

Hughes:  OK, so relocate me here.  Where are you when you’re a young girl going to 

grammar school?

Ferguson:  Probably in  Missouri.

Hughes:  And your dad’s in the Army all this ti me.  You’re a classic  Army brat.

Ferguson:  Yep.

Hughes:  Did you enjoy school? Were you a good student? Tell me about it.

Ferguson:  Oh yeah, loved school, loved  English.  In high school I was taking fi ve diff erent 

kinds of English classes.  I’m not that good on mathemati cs.  

Hughes:  So when did it hit you that you were a writer?

Ferguson:  I have been writi ng all my life.

Hughes:  Tell us about your fi rst memory of doing that, Adele?

Ferguson:  As soon as I could fi nd a piece of paper, I think.

Hughes:  What did you write?

Ferguson:  Short stories, serials, songs. I composed songs.  We all loved to go to the 

movies, but we never, hardly ever had the money. It was 27 cents to go to the movies.  But 

if they managed to put together 27 cents, they would give it to me, and I would go to the 

movie and sit through the movie twice.  I would come home and write what the movie was 

about, start to fi nish.  I remember doing that on newspaper edges because that was all the 

paper I had.  I stole all that my mother and father had up in the cupboard.  I’d get these 

long strips of paper and it would look like ti cker tape.  Then we’d read those movies on 

rainy days when nobody could go.

Hughes:  What were some of your favorite movies?

Ferguson:  Oh well,  Tarzan and all that.  But the  Flash Gordon serials were crazy.  When 

I missed a Saturday, I made it up.  I fi lled in my own chapter – what I thought probably 

should have happened.  

Hughes:  You could have had a career as a novelist.  Did you ever think about doing that?

Ferguson:  Well, I’ve been too busy.

Hughes:  Actually some of the things you’ve covered in your life are stranger than fi cti on.

Ferguson:  I’m trying to think of some of the people I have interviewed.  I once interviewed 
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a lady whose hobby was to make litt le bitt y coffi  ns with litt le bodies in them, out of clay.  I 

wrote about it; have a picture of her and everything.  

Hughes:  When I was a reporter in Aberdeen, there would always be a farmer who would 

come in with a giant rutabaga or whatever. All sorts of characters wandering in.

Ferguson:  Ours here (in  Bremerton) was named Andy  Rogers.  And one ti me they brought 

in one that was shaped like a man’s everything.  And his wife was with him, and she was, 

“Hehehehehe,” snickering and caring on.  I could have slapped her!  And there she was 

with this thing. We couldn’t even take a picture of it probably, it was so realisti c.  

Hughes:  But back to you as a girl in  Missouri during the  Depression … 

Ferguson:  I collected everything that was collecti ble.  I collected bott le caps. I collected 

cigar bands.  It didn’t bother me to stop in the street and pick up somebody’s litt le cigar 

butt  and take the end off  and take it home.  And I collected those katydid skins that were 

on the trees.  We tried skinning snakes. We were all going to make wallets, so we took and 

put them on top of a chicken house, but they all rott ed.  … Today I collect so much stuff .  

The only thing I never collected was Depression glass.  I just didn’t care.  

Well, where were we?

Hughes:  We were in school and we were at  Flash Gordon, and making up stories.

Ferguson:  I loved school.  And the teacher,  Mrs. Cunningham, she frequently let me be the 

substi tute teacher.

Hughes:  How old were you then?

Ferguson:  I don’t know, probably a sophomore.

Hughes:  Oh, this is in high school.  Where did you att end high school?

Ferguson:   Caruthersville, Missouri.

Hughes:  Did you graduate from there?

Ferguson:  No.

Hughes:  So you started high school at Caruthersville, Missouri, and you got to be a 

substi tute teacher.

Ferguson:  Yeah, I thought that was great.

Hughes:  In  English classes?
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Ferguson:   English classes.

Hughes:  What were you like as a girl at that age?  Were you like you are now – voluble and 

fun?

Ferguson:  Well, I don’t know if I was fun.

Hughes:  You loved to talk – you liked to read?

Ferguson:  Yeah, and I had fun, but someti mes it would aggravate me.  I guess because 

when we’d go out and play soccer outside, if Deborah  Baker got hit in the face with a 

soccer ball, everybody said, “Oh Deborah!  Oh gosh!  Where do you hurt, Deborah?!”  

When I got hit in the face with the soccer ball, they laughed.  It was funny. I was a funny 

person.

Hughes:  Were you popular?

Ferguson:  Not with boys, I don’t think much. I was sort of a smart mouth.

Hughes:  Were you athleti c?

Ferguson:  Sort of.  Although I remember telling them that I didn’t want to play basketball 

because – what do you get when you play too much basketball?

Hughes:  Bad ankles and knees. … So during that ti me, tell me about your favorite thing to 

do. 

Ferguson:  Read, read and write.

Hughes:  What were you reading?

Ferguson:  Anything.  The most wonderful event in my enti re young life was the ti me 

when we lived in  Caruthersville, near the banks of the  Mississippi.  We had big fl oods in 

the spring.  The water comes up and it makes these holes. You can catch great big carp in 

them or catf ish. One ti me, water had gott en into the basement of some store downtown in 

Caruthersville and wet its magazines.  They were  True Detecti ves,  The Shadow,  Hopalong 

Cassidy – all these old pulp magazines.  Just tons of them.  I bet we took them all home.  

First we carried them. Then we got a wagon, and we wagoned them home.  And all the 

kids would sit around reading.  You had to dry them out a litt le bit fi rst.  But, God, that was 

wonderful. It was just like seeing a pot of gold to see all these magazines.  And we just had 

a ball with those magazines.
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Hughes:  Did you listen to radio, too?

Ferguson:  Oh yeah, every night.  As a matt er of fact we were experts, as most kids 

were then, because my dad would be waiti ng for the news to come on.  But if there was 

something on we wanted to hear instead, we were right there by the radio so the minute 

the stati on (was about to change) we’d change it and he wouldn’t hear.  So we’d get to 

listen to the next half hour of what we wanted and he didn’t realize that we had aced him 

out of the news.

Hughes:  Born in 1943, I’m probably the last generati on to grow up on radio rather than 

TV.  I listened to “ Gangbusters,” and  “I Love a Mystery” and  “The Shadow.” I remember 

riveti ngly that my mom had the records from  Orson Welles’  “Mercury Theater.” What were 

your favorite shows, Adele?

Ferguson:  Those kinds of shows, and as a matt er of fact we were listening the night that 

Orson Welles did his thing, you know, on Halloween in 1938.

Hughes:   “The War of the Worlds” scared millions into thinking the Marti ans were invading.

Ferguson:  We had listened to so much radio that we knew exactly (what was really 

happening), because we recognized his voice and we recognized other voices, and we 

knew this was a put-on thing.  All these other people were going nuts thinking that the 

aliens were landing, and we’re sitti  ng there thinking, “Well, that’s a prett y good show.”  We 

weren’t the least bit fooled. 

Hughes:  So this is  Roosevelt era. Tell me about the politi cs of your dad and mom.

Ferguson:  I don’t know. I just remember that when Roosevelt died, my  father or somebody 

said, “Well the old son of a bitch is dead!”  

Hughes:  That must have meant that dad was a  Republican!

Ferguson:  Well, not really. He never talked politi cs. But my brother  Buddy, my older 

brother, he was hot for Roosevelt.  He had a teacher who brought him into the Roosevelt 

 “New Deal,” and so he was crazy about Roosevelt.  The rest of us were not.

Hughes:  Did you listen, nevertheless, to FDR’s “fi reside chats” on the radio?

Ferguson:  No, we didn’t.  My  father didn’t.  He read editorials and all.  But the thing that 

really kind of impressed me about my parents is that here he was a hillbilly and she was an 
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immigrant from  Norway, yet they spoke good  English.  You watch  “Judge Judy” some night. 

You’ll see college students on there saying, “Well, me and her went down here” and so 

forth…  I think, “Where did you learn English?!” and “My god, what’s the matt er with these 

people?”  But my mother and father never spoke like that.

Hughes:  That’s very revealing. So did you learn any  Norwegian growing up?

Ferguson:  Oh no, no, no.  Mother was one of the few members of her family who never 

had an accent.  All her brothers did.  … We came here because her brothers were here.

Hughes: Did your folks place a real premium on educati on?  Were they high school 

graduates?

Ferguson:  No, but it was just assumed that everybody went to school. Everybody did the 

best they could, and don’t lie, cheat or steal. That kind of thing.  Just an ordinary, common 

raising, I guess. … One thing I remember is that we had a great big  American fl ag in a buff et 

just like this one.  (points to her buff et) Boy, were we ever told, “Never let that thing touch 

the fl oor. Never.  If you ever take it out of there, be very careful. Do not touch the fl oor 

with the fl ag.”

Hughes:  Dad being an  Army  guy, was the atmosphere in the household very strict?

Ferguson:  Nah!  And we learned to play pinochle as kids – double deck pinochle.  So every 

Ferguson kid is a good pinochle player.

Hughes:  That’s a classic thing of  Depression-era thing – you entertain yourself with cards 

–Hearts, Bridge, Pinochle and Canasta.

Ferguson:  Only Pinochle – Double Deck Pinochle. I was kind of unhappy with the fact that 

my brother was the favorite because he was the fi rst baby.  I remember one  Christmas so 

well. He got a bicycle for Christmas. I got a game.  And then it was cold out and he couldn’t 

ride his bicycle, so they made me let him play with my game with me.  I was so insulted 

over that!  

(Adele’s daughter comes in, asking if she can get us lunch.)

Hughes:  You’re a great cook, aren’t you, Adele?

Ferguson:  I’m a good cook, oh yeah.  I cook every night just like there were two of us here.  

My  husband died in 2005. It’s funny that when you become a widow, someti mes you think 
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he’s sti ll here.  You know what I mean?  

Hughes:  I do.  My late mom, whom you would have liked a lot, said that the best thing 

about people who were so alive when they were alive is that when they’re gone they’re 

not really gone.  They’re always here.

Ferguson:  That’s his chair over there with all the holes in it. It was my other cat –  Raisa 

Gorbachev – that did that.   

Hughes: When I look around this house, it’s clear that you are a book worm. 

Ferguson:  See all those books over there on that table? I bought them at the  St. Vincent 

de Paul.  And some of them I take back aft er I read them, so they can sell them again.  

Some of them I keep. The politi cal ones, the ones I can use for resources, history and 

stuff  I keep.  But I buy most of my books there.  And I always like to say I’m not going 

to read so and so’s book unti l it reaches the St. Vincent De Paul for 45 cents!  But I love 

autobiographies.  I’m reading an autobiography I’ve never read before by H.L.  Mencken 

(the celebrated newsman, criti c and commentator).

Hughes:  I’ve read it too.

Ferguson:  It’s in several volumes, I think.

Hughes:  Yes it is.

Ferguson:  I’ve got volume one and volume two. There’s supposed to be a three but I didn’t 

see it there.

Hughes:  What do you think of Mencken?

Ferguson:  Well, I thought he was great. What a writer!  I love it when he says, “My  father 

hated labor and labor leaders so much that he would pick the paper up at night and scan 

through it looking hopefully for a picture where some labor leader had been arrested, 

clubbed and hanged.”

Hughes:  And Mencken once said, “No one ever went broke underesti mati ng the 

intelligence of the  American public.”  

Ferguson:  I’m on volume number one yet, so he’s only a kid there.

Hughes:  Mencken’s  Newspaper Days is just terrifi c. He’s a reporter in  Balti more at the turn 

of the century. Speaking of segues, when did you start reading newspapers?
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Ferguson:  Oh, I’ve always read newspapers.

Hughes:  What newspapers did they have in the house when you were growing up?

Ferguson:  Whichever was the local paper.  It was usually just one.  And I remember when I 

was a litt le kid that the funnies were always green.  The paper was green.

Hughes:  In the old fi les of The Aberdeen Daily World, there are color comics – an 

experiment about 1902 on green newsprint. They someti mes used yellow newsprint for 

the funnies, too.

Ferguson:  Well, I don’t date back to 1902! Also, if I had the money, which I rarely did, I’d 

scrapbook stuff .  I saved everything that was writt en about (the bank robber) John  Dillinger.  

Ah, and other things.  I sti ll do scrapbooks; I’ve sti ll got all kinds of scrapbooks fl oati ng 

around.  I do politi cal cartoons in scrapbooks. They’re prett y interesti ng to look at and go 

back and see.

Hughes:  They really are. David  Horsey, the cartoonist at the  Seatt le P-I is a genius. Do you 

follow his stuff ?

Ferguson:  I’ve known him since he was young in  Olympia.  But I wish he’d stop trying to be 

a politi cal writer.  And I told him that to his face: For God’s sake, Dave, you’re a wonderful 

cartoonist, even if you’re terribly biased.  But give it up. Don’t try to be a big star in both 

because you’re not going to do it. You’re not going to make it.

Hughes:  When you have two  Pulitzers as a cartoonist, that’s got to tell you something.

 So when you get these newspapers, do you read everything in them?

Ferguson:  Today?

Hughes:  No. When you were a youngster.

Ferguson:  No, I didn’t read everything.  I read what looked interesti ng – the murders, and 

all that.  In those days a guy could get shot down on the street and they’d put a picture in 

the paper. Blood all over, you know!  Remember that?

Hughes: People keep telling me that the media is so sensati onal today.  But in  The 

Aberdeen World or  The Sun or whatever paper you read anywhere in early 1900s on 

through the 1930s, the front pages were replete with the goriest, detail by detail, stories of 

some poor Olof getti  ng minced by the saws in the mills – losing limbs, blood on the deck. 
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And murders, executi ons, kidnappings.

Ferguson:  Oh yeah! I read all that kind of stuff .  And I wasn’t really all that interested in 

the editorial pages back then.  As I grew older, when I became a politi cal writer is when 

I really became interested in editorial pages.  Now I take four daily newspapers, plus  The 

Washington Times.  I just read yesterday that it’s now run by two ex- Washington Post-men 

and that they’re thinking of endorsing  Obama, but they’re afraid it will drive people away. 

It will drive me away,  I tell you, by God!

Hughes:  So did it hit you there in high school that you wanted to be a writer? Were you on 

the high school newspaper?

Ferguson:  Yeah, and I took journalism …

Hughes:  What year did you graduate from high school?

Ferguson:  I’m not going to tell you.

Hughes:  OK, but what high school was it?

Ferguson:   Central High in  Litt le Rock.

Hughes:  Central High in Litt le Rock, Arkansas?!

Ferguson:  Before all the trouble (with desegregati on).

Hughes:  So you really had a close up of segregated society in the 1930s and 1940s. Tell me 

about that.

Ferguson:  Well, there’s a black high school just around the corner, so I’d have to walk up 

from where I stayed. I stayed in a litt le rooming house down there because my mother 

lived way out in the country.  So she gave me money for this rooming house so I could go to 

school.  

Hughes:  Wait a minute, I’m lost here now.  You lived so far out in the country?

Ferguson:  My  mother lived so far out in the country that I couldn’t commute to school 

from there.  I didn’t have a car or anything.

Hughes:  You said only your mother. You mean your parents?

Ferguson:  My  father was gone a lot.  (As for segregati on) the black kids would come down 

the street. They would be going to their school and the white kids would be going to their 

school.  And the unwritt en rule was that whoever had the most in their number stepped 



18

off  the sidewalk, onto the grass, and let the others pass by.  If I would meet two black girls 

I would step off  on to the grass and they would come on down.  Of course, I hardly had 

anybody with me because I was alone.  

Hughes:  Were you prejudiced in any way?

Ferguson:  No.  As a matt er of fact, when I was a kid I always appreciated the black guys 

because you need to have a litt le muscle. They weren’t going to bother you (because you 

were a white girl), and if you needed anything you could stop by one of the black people’s 

houses and they’d help you.

Hughes:  Did you have any ideas about the races and racial relati ons that you quickly 

outgrew when you broadened your horizons?

Ferguson:  No, I just never thought about it, I guess.  I lived in the  South, and in the South 

the black people lived on the alleys or in other parts of town…

Hughes:  But is it wrong to think that everyone in the South, during that era, was deeply 

prejudiced?

Ferguson:  They weren’t. As a matt er of fact, most of them had black people working in 

their homes.  When we lived in  Caruthersville, we lived in town at 610 West 7th Street. 

Why, we had a black couple that lived in what used to be a smokehouse up in back.  Her 

name was  Eliza, of all things, and his name was  Bill.  He was our hired man and she was our 

cook. We had another lady whose name I kind of forget – maybe it was Hannah – she came 

in and did the ironing.  My mother always had a baby, so some things she couldn’t do.  

Hughes:  Were you living in military housing some of the ti me?

Ferguson:  In  Fort Omaha we lived in military housing.  Long rows of buildings. Your 

neighbor was right through the wall.

Hughes:  With mom not working, dad an enlisted man and all these kids, your family was 

not that well off .

Ferguson:  We were all right. We didn’t consider that we were poor.  Well, we were 

prett y poor for a while there. My  dad was a gambler. He oft en came home broke from 

a night of cards, so someti mes the light bill didn’t get paid. I remember when our set 

of encyclopedias was repossessed, and I used to have to go to the door and tell the bill 



19

collector that my folks weren’t home when they really were. But we never asked anyone 

for help. Someti mes we lived on the fi eld corn.  Field corn was raised by the farmers to 

feed their stock. Terrible stuff .  But we would go and steal it out of the fi elds at night and 

bring it home.  And we didn’t have any real salt to put on it. We didn’t have any money to 

buy it.  So we used curing salt – that brown stuff  you cure meat with. It was just awful.  And 

one day we sold a brass bed to a guy who would come through buying metal and stuff . We 

sold one of the beds to get some money.  And we gave my brother Buddy the money to go 

to the store and get a loaf of bread.

Hughes:  What did a loaf of bread cost then?

Ferguson:  I don’t remember. Probably a dime because we always bought day-old bread.  

When you haven’t got any money, a dime is a lot.   Buddy was so weak from not eati ng 

food. We weren’t eati ng that well, not when you’re just living on fi eld corn.

Hughes:  And  dad is away in the  Army?

Ferguson:  He’s gone.  And my mother had a baby while we were there. That was terrible 

because I’d never been exposed to anybody having a baby before.

Hughes:  Your mother delivered a baby when you were looking on?

Ferguson:  I wasn’t looking on. She went and called the doctor and the doctor didn’t come.  

So  she said to me, “Go down to the end of the road and tell Mrs. So and So to come up. I 

need her for the baby.”  So I ran all the way down the road, which had to be a good mile, 

and got this old lady.

Hughes:  How old were you then – a young teenager?

Ferguson:  Yeah, I suppose.  And I told this lady that my mother was about to have a baby, 

and could she come and help.  And she said, “I’ll be right there.”  When she arrived I had 

to somehow handle these kids. I had all these kids there.  And my mother is beginning to 

make noises of some pain, you know.  So I gave the kids a tub.  I said, “Now, you see that 

faucet way down there at the end of the cott on fi eld?  You go down there and fi ll that tub 

with water and bring it back.”  So they walked down, fi lled the tub with water, what they 

could carry, and brought it back.  And right in front of them I poured it out and I said, “Now 

go back and get another tub.”  Now they’re crying!
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Hughes:  This is a variati on on the theme of telling the husband to go boil water.

Ferguson:  Now they’re crying!  I make them fi ll tubs, and I dump it right in front of them 

unti l the baby is fi nally born. That was Jonnie. He was a nice fat boy.

Hughes:  That’s just classic stuff , Adele. … But let’s go back to this issue of race: Did you 

have any black friends?  Play with black kids?

Ferguson:  No, well you never really saw them hardly.  I mean they went to diff erent 

schools. …

 I picked cott on with them.  The fellow we rented our house from had huge cott on 

fi elds.  And he didn’t have kids pick cott on because they were lousy pickers, but we did 

anyway.  The black people were always very nice, nice to us kids.  And we’re out there 

picking cott on.  We had to rent the cott on sack from the guy who owned the cott on fi eld, 

and we paid a nickel or something for a cott on sack.  And I was thinking, “I wonder if I 

can ever save enough money to buy a tar-bott omed cott on sack?”  It drags down the row 

easier than a regular cott on sack. And the black guys were so funny because frequently 

there would be snakes in there. Not poisonous ones. When they’d fi nd one, they’d throw it 

up at everybody!  Everybody would go “Whaaaaaa!”  It was funny.  But they treated us kids 

like royalty; they didn’t dare do that kind of stuff  with us kids because we’d go tell our folks.  

And our folks would say, “OK, you can’t pick out there anymore.”  

Hughes:  That’s a great story.

Ferguson:  I was going to get you to when we came out West.

Hughes:  I sti ll want to get you out of high school.

Ferguson:  Well, I’m out of high school.

Hughes:  So you graduate from high school in  Litt le Rock. Then what?

Ferguson:  Then I got married.  I’ve had two husbands.  My  mother always said my fi rst 

husband just married me to not be draft ed.  Maybe he did. I don’t know.

Hughes:  Who was that guy?

Ferguson:  He was a guy who was about to be draft ed into the  Navy.  And I had known him 

for a while, and his parents and everything.  

Hughes:  What was  his name?
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Ferguson:  Tolbert  White. Typical Southern name. … So we got married.  We didn’t even 

sleep together because we didn’t have the ti me to do it.  We just got married and that was 

it.  I don’t think we ever went to bed together for nearly a month or two.  I was petrifi ed 

with fear. You know, I’d read all about stuff .  They never told you much about it in books, 

but they sure leaned toward telling you that, for one thing, it was messy. …  But eventually 

we did it, and I didn’t like it. Never did, with him anyway.  So he went off  in the  Navy, I 

moved in with my mother – my mother moved in with me really.

Hughes:  Where was that?

Ferguson:   Litt le Rock, Arkansas. So she and I went down to get jobs during the war.  War 

broke out.

Hughes:  What’s your recollecti on of Dec. 7, 1941?

Ferguson:  My recollecti on was that my brother had stopped by to see me in the 

apartment I was living in.  Litt le, lousy one-and-a-half-room apartment I was living in with 

my husband.  And we went downtown and the newspapers were telling us that  Pearl 

Harbor had been bombed.

Hughes:  You didn’t hear it on the radio?

Ferguson:  Heard it on the street from the newspaper boys.  So then we thought, “Oh 

gosh, that’s really something.” I wasn’t that sure what it was going to mean to me.  But 

eventually my  mother and I had to go get jobs.  So we went down to this place in Litt le 

Rock where they made nose bomb fuses – litt le things, you put the bomb in it.  They had 

all these women there for the jobs, because there weren’t any men. They were all in the 

service.  So the guy looked out into the crowd, and said, “OK, now you, you, you, you, 

and you will be inspectors.” (pointi ng at herself) And I thought, “That’s really good he 

recognizes talent when he sees it.” So aft er we got to be inspectors —

Hughes:  What did that pay?

Ferguson:  Probably the same as the other workers. I don’t remember.   You’d walk behind 

the old women who were pulling the nose bomb fuses and testi ng them and so forth.  

You know how come I got to be an inspector?

Hughes:  I don’t.
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Ferguson:  I asked them, “How come I got to be an inspector?”  He says, “We always take 

the tallest ones.”  I thought, oh God, here I’m so fl att ered to be an inspector.

Hughes:  You were kind of a tall girl.

Ferguson:  I am a tall girl. I’m 5-7. I was that tall then.  

So anyway, then my father was out stati oned in  California.  He never went overseas 

in World War II.  He did in World War I, but he didn’t in World War II.  He was stati oned 

down in California.  

Oh, I’ve got to tell you this story!  We were speaking of being poor and not having 

any money.  So I told my mother one ti me, I said, “You know I have to have some new 

shoes.  I really need new shoes.”  

And she said, “Well, I haven’t got the money to buy them.”  

And I said, “Well listen, I’ve got the worst shoes in the whole school.  And I really 

have to have new shoes.”  

And she said, “Well, I wish I could buy them for you, but I just can’t. I’m sure there’s 

somebody who’s got worse shoes than you.”  

A couple days later, I went into the girls’ bathroom at school, and I was sitti  ng on 

the toilet, and it was open between the stalls.  I see these feet hanging down under the 

toilet next door to me.  “God look at those shoes,” I mean the toes were all stubbed off , 

and the laces were just knots; the heels were worn to a nubbin.  And I thought, “My god, 

my  mother was right.  There is somebody who’s got worse shoes than I have.”  So when 

I got out I waited, and the door opened, and my sister  Alice walked out! (Uproarious 

laughter)

Hughes:  From growing up during the  Depression, are you sti ll prett y frugal?

Ferguson:  Oh yes!  And I am furious if I’m billed for something I already paid. I just go wild.  

And I pay everything on ti me. I pay cash for everything. I paid cash for my cars. I own this 

house, you know. Paid it off  early.

Hughes:  Was John, your second  husband, that way too?

Ferguson:  No.  He owed 21 diff erent people when I married him in 1946. He didn’t have 

any money at all, and I had money in the bank.  You know what I did?  I wrote a lett er to 
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all the people  he owed money to.  And I said, “He’s married now, and I will see to it that 

you are paid.  To begin with I can’t give you very much, but as I pay you off  I’ll increase the 

amount unti l you are all paid off .”  Nobody complained.  Nobody even answered; they just 

let it go at that fi gure.  And by God I did it, I paid everybody off .

Hughes:  That’s a great story.

Ferguson:  Well, that’s the way it ought to be with people.

Hughes:  So you’re in a nose bomb factory in  Litt le Rock, inspecti ng.  Were there a lot of 

people there? Was it a big factory?

Ferguson:  I don’t know. I was only in one part of it.

Hughes:  But it was a large operati on?

Ferguson:  Yeah, it was a large operati on. The war was on.  So they were operati ng 

conti nuously.  … So anyway the ti me came when we were going to go off  and join my father 

out on the  West Coast.  We decided to leave  Arkansas and go to  California.  Now the one 

litt le problem was that we had no way there. Neither one of us could drive.  So my  mother 

went down and bought a car.

Hughes:  What kind of car?

Ferguson:  A Ford.  We named it “Charlie” aft er a boyfriend I had at the ti me. My mother 

had them show her how to drive it.  She came home and said, “Let’s go down to the park.”  

So she drove down to this park near our house, and she showed me how to drive.  I drove 

around the park for about an hour, just learning how to drive.  We packed up the next day 

and we left  for California.

Hughes:  You were going to be driving, too?

Ferguson:  I did all of the driving.

Hughes:  Wow. From Arkansas to California as a beginning driver.

Ferguson:  And the fi rst car I passed on the highway, I just brushed the side of it. I was that 

close.  (using her hands to demonstrate and laughing)  But I just kept going!

Hughes:  Go Charlie, go!

Ferguson:  I can remember one ti me when a policeman pulled up alongside us on his 

motorcycle. He looked in and saw all those kids, and he just backed away. (laughing at the 

memory)
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Hughes:  How many kids were in Charlie?

Ferguson:  Well, there was, let’s see,  Tooddy,  Tommy,  Peggy,  Barbara,  Nancy,  Robin and 

 Jon.  And my daughter  Annett e.  I had a daughter by then.  So we had eight kids in the 

car, plus all our gear is in the back.  The stuff  is ti ed all over the car.  And I knew nothing 

about driving a car.  So we would go to a gas stati on … and there were long hoses lying out 

between the pumps.  And I’d always stop the car and have Tommy get out and move the 

hose.  (loud laughter)  And the guy standing there would just marvel.

Hughes:  That’s hilarious.  The hoses were there, of course, to alert the att endant that you 

were there.  Someone would run over it and it would make a “ding.”

Ferguson:  And we moved it every ti me we went to a gas stati on!  

But anyway, on we went.  We slept in parks overnight. We slept near a reservoir. 

One night we slept at somebody’s lovers’ lane because people kept stepping over us all 

night long, you know, to go in the bushes and do their thing.  We fi nally got near  California, 

but we were running out of gas.  We stopped to fi nd my father.  My  mother got a hold of 

him, and he was at camp.  We found out we couldn’t stay there. 

Hughes:  What camp was that, Adele?

Ferguson:  I don’t know where he was stati oned. It was near  Los Angeles.

 So my mother thought, “Well, if we can’t stay here, let’s go up to  Washington.” 

My mother’s brothers were all up there working in that  Navy Yard.  So we thought, “OK.”  

But we had to have gas.  We headed to the gas rati oning offi  ce.  First we went to a park 

because we didn’t want to take all the kids with us. We left  all the kids at the park.  My 

mother and I then drove back to the gas rati on offi  ce, and as soon as they found out we 

had eight kids with us they gave us enough gas to get us to  Alaska.  I mean they gave us all 

the stamps we could possibly use. 

Hughes:  This was the federal gas rati oning board?

Ferguson:  Yeah.  Well, wouldn’t you, if somebody showed up with all those kids?

Hughes:  Absolutely.

Ferguson:  So we got the gas stamps and we went back down to the park and picked up 

the kids.  We were about an hour out of town, Los Angeles, when Peggy said, “I left  my 
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shoes at the park!”  And we thought, “We don’t have any shoe stamps.”  And you had to 

have stamps to buy shoes.  So we had to turn around and drive all the way back to the park 

to get her shoes.  We found her shoes under a tree.  And sitti  ng by them was my brother 

 Robin! We never even missed him. (gales of laughter)

Hughes:  How old was Robin?

Ferguson:  Oh, who knows?

Hughes:  He’s a litt le kid, 4 or 5?

Ferguson:  Yeah.

Hughes:  That’s incredible. You left  him behind and didn’t know it.

Ferguson:  And he’s crying a litt le, but he said, “I knew you’d come back for the shoes.”

Hughes:  Adele, that’s priceless.

Ferguson:  It’s a true story. 

 But every now and then we’d stop at a service stati on to get gas or to go to the 

bathroom or something.  When Robin would go to the bathroom, I would start revving up 

the car so he’d think we were about to leave without him.  He’d come running out zipping 

up his pants!  

Hughes:  So, you’re en route to the  Bremerton Naval Shipyard.

Ferguson:  Yes.  One place we went through, the car sort of broke down.  So the next man 

who went by we asked him if he’d take a look at it.  He gets in the car. He’s going to try this 

and that.  I said to my mother, “He’s pinching me!”  She said, “Let him pinch. He’s going to 

fi x the car.”  So he does fi x the car.  

So we push on, and we sleep by the side of the road. ...  One place we had a coupon 

for a new ti re, but we didn’t have any money for a new ti re.  So the guy at the ti re store 

gave us two used ti res for our coupon.  But my brother and I had to walk way back into 

town to do that.  Oh God, we did a lot of walking. 

Hughes:  I bet you did.

Ferguson:  But we fi nally got up to  Washington, and learned where my  Uncle Eddy lived.

Hughes:  This is at  Bremerton?

Ferguson:  Yes, out by  Crosby.  And they were out there.  How would you like to suddenly 
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have your long lost sister and eight kids show up on your doorstep, with no money, or 

anything?  But they treated us like we were kings and queens.  I mean they were so good 

to us.  They welcomed us; they fed us; they found us a place to sleep.

Hughes:  Now that’s what kinfolks are all about.

Ferguson:  That’s what kinfolks are for.

Hughes:  That’s a wonderful story. Meanti me, your fi rst  husband is overseas?

Ferguson:  He’s in the  Navy. He’s gone.  And I had divorced him by then.  I actually divorced 

him before we left .

Hughes:  And your daughter?

Ferguson:  Oh she’s with me.  Annett e. That’s this one’s older sister (moti oning toward 

daughter  Karen getti  ng us lunch) … So my mother took us down to enroll us in the 

 Bremerton Navy Yard and get a job.  And we lied about our ages.  I had to lie about my age 

in order for my sister to work because she wasn’t old enough to work.

Hughes:  Which sister was that, Adele?

Ferguson:  Alice – Tooddy.

Hughes:  Alice, also known as  “Tooddy”?

Ferguson:  We spelled it T-o-o-d-d-y. But anyway, we had to get these jobs.  Years later, 

they had this thing in the paper saying, “Do you want to fi nd out how your Social Security 

is?”  So I sent a card in, and they sent a card back and it said, “We’ve corrected your 

informati on.”  And I thought, “What would they have to correct.”  And then I remembered 

I’d lied up my age by two or three years in order that Tooddy could work.  So they never 

really checked on you in those days.

Hughes:  How old did you have to be – 21?

Ferguson:  I think you had to be 18.  And she wasn’t, so I lied my age forward so she could 

be 18.  If I said I was 20 then she could say she was 18.  Otherwise, if I was 18, there was no 

way that she could be 18.

Hughes:  Got it now. OK.  So what kind of job was that?

Ferguson:  Working in the boiler shop, I think – no, messenger. My fi rst job was being a 

messenger.
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Hughes:  So you weren’t a “Rosie the Riveter”?

Ferguson:  Oh no, I was the messenger who worked in the offi  ce.  Eventually I became the 

chief clerk of the boiler shop at the shipyard.

Hughes:  How did you get to do that?

Ferguson:  I just did it.  I liked it, I liked clerical work.  I could write and all this kind of stuff .

Hughes:  You said math wasn’t your strong suit, but you had a good public school 

educati on so you could do—

Ferguson:  Whatever needed to be done. Keep ti mesheets and all that kind of crap.  

Although I got in trouble, with one of the top supervisors. Our desks were open to the 

door.  People would come up the stairs and come in the door, and they could see under the 

desks.  So if you didn’t have your skirt down, they could see up your skirt.  The girls were 

complaining that this parti cular guy made an awful lot of trips up the stairs.  So I had the 

desks enclosed with wood.  Without asking anybody.  I just simply ordered it done.  And 

they put panels in front of all the desks.  From then on my effi  ciency report was poor. … 

The peeper was the guy who made out my report.

Hughes:  For a conservati ve woman, you’d made a feminist statement.

Ferguson:  Feminist statements don’t mean anything in a  Navy Yard.  But anyway, I worked, 

and I wrote some stories.

Hughes:  For whom?

Ferguson:  For the local (shipyard) paper,  The Salute.  And I wrote one about my father 

and the ti me that he stole a pound of butt er or a bott le of wine … something that he had 

pilfered from a train car of supplies.  But they hadn’t proved it, so they couldn’t get him on 

that.  Everybody was stealing stuff  to eat.  You know what the really funny thing is? Later 

on when I started collecti ng postcards, I found one that told all about a guy named “Fergie” 

who had stolen something, and I just know they were writi ng about my  father. 

Hughes:  Did they give you a byline in The Salute for that story?

Ferguson:  Oh yeah, picture and everything.

Hughes:  Do you sti ll have that?

Ferguson:  I don’t know where it would be.  I’ll check and see.  I know where the scrapbook 

is.
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Hughes:  That’s fascinati ng.  So what year are we in now?

Ferguson:  1943. We got here in ’43.

Hughes: What was  Bremerton like then in the middle of the war?

Ferguson:  Jammed, jammed.

Hughes:  Tell me about it.

Ferguson:  When I worked at the shipyard paper, I asked the  Navy to give me peak 

employment in the  Navy Yard during the war – and that was the fi gure. (she writes down 

the number)

Hughes:  32,343 on a day in July, 1945?

Ferguson:  I remember it because of the threes and the two doubles to a four, so I sort of 

got it fi xed in my head.  But that’s how many people were working on a day in July ’45. 

(Editor’s Note:  The Bremerton Sun and other sources say that employment at the shipyard 

was “nearly 34,000” at its high point.)

Hughes:  That must have been one hopping town.

Hughes:  Were there a lot of women working there?

Ferguson:  Ah, sure.

Hughes:  Were there buses just around the clock?

Ferguson:  Oh yeah, a lot of people. I lived on  Pioneer Road near  Seabeck, and went to 

work in the morning. I lived with my mother then.  Went to work in the morning with a guy 

who had a big truck. The back of it was enclosed, with seats along the wall.  And he took 

about 15 people to work every morning and we all paid him.  Being a girl, I would sit up 

front a lot.

Hughes:  Who took care of your  daughter?

Ferguson:  My  mother.

Hughes:  Was there childcare there at the Navy Yard?

Ferguson:  No, we didn’t have anything like that.  Not a bit.  My daughter Annett e did 

so dearly love my mother, that when I got married again and took her home she really 

resented it.  

Hughes:  Grandmas are prett y important people.
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Ferguson:  Oh yeah.

Hughes:  So did some of those stories lead to a job on  The Salute?

Ferguson:  All of a sudden in 1944 they needed somebody to hire at The Salute.  But I 

didn’t get the job.  So that’s where  Charlie comes in. Charlie was the Admiral’s aide – nice 

looking guy. Went to  Groton. God, if I could have married him I’d be sitti  ng prett y.

Hughes:  You’d be living next door to here in that fancy house with all the rockery.

Ferguson:  I’d own the place!  

So I had to be interviewed, and Charlie interviewed me.  He said, “Now you realize 

you have to have some experience working for a newspaper to go to work for The Salute?”

 “Oh yeah,” I said. “Gee, I worked for  The Caruthersville Democrat and The 

 Caruthersville Republican.”  I made these newspapers up.

Hughes:  Those newspapers never existed?

Ferguson:  No.  So he said, “Well, OK, you go on down and see how it is.”  So I went 

down to The Salute offi  ce and met a fellow there named Don  Allyn. Nice Guy. He was the 

assistant editor and Jim Reams was the editor.  So Don said, “If you’re going to go to work 

here, let me show you what’s here.”  So he started to show me this, and this, and this, and 

this. Suddenly he stopped and said, “You don’t even know what I’m talking about, do you?”

Hughes:  Like the equipment and newspaper procedures?

Ferguson:  Yeah, yeah.  How you do this; and this is where you’ll do this, and this is where 

you do that.  And I don’t know anything.  And he says it again: “You don’t really know what 

I’m talking about do you?”  

I said, “No, but you only have to tell me once.”  

 He said, “OK.”  

And they hired me.  Unfortunately, the boss got kind of a crush on me.  And he 

started telling people we were going to be married.  And I said we were not.  So he stopped 

speaking to me.

Hughes:  He’s your editor and he’s not speaking to you?

Ferguson:  He’s my editor.  And he would leave me notes for what I was supposed to do for 

the day.  Well, one day  Charlie dropped in on the offi  ce.
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Front page of the Bremerton Naval Shipyard newspaper, The Salute, announcing Adele Ferguson joining the staff .
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Hughes:  This is the AA – the Admiral’s Assistant?

Ferguson:  The AA. In uniform.  And he stops by my desk and says, “What are these notes?”  

I said, “Well those are my orders for what I’m supposed to do today.”  

He said, “He sits right behind you.  Why can’t he tell you?”  

I said, “I don’t know. I think he just doesn’t want to.”  

So obviously things were not going well and I knew I had to get out of there.   

Actually you were not 

supposed to be able to leave a job in 

that  Navy Yard during the war.  But 

they realized it wasn’t going to work 

out.  If  Jim was going to be that way 

– and they’d had him a long ti me – 

that it was OK to let me go.  They 

weren’t going to make me go, but 

if I wanted to go they were going to 

allow me to leave the Yard, so I did.

Hughes:  How long did you work for 

 The Salute, Adele?

Ferguson:  A couple years maybe. 

Hughes:  Do you remember what you were paid?

Ferguson:  No.  I had tried to join the  Army too but they wouldn’t take me because of 

 Annett e. I had the child.  I had a friend down in  Santa Ana, so I thought, “Well, I’ll go down 

and get a job down there.”  You could get a job anywhere during the war.  So I went down 

there and got a job on  The Santa Ana Register.  

Hughes:  When I was a kid hanging around  The Aberdeen World in the 1950s, Barbara  Elliott  

was the Adele Ferguson of  Aberdeen.  She was the fi rst female in the newsroom, as opposed 

to the “soc” department – which wrote the weddings and engagements and society stuff .  

The guys were all off  at war. … Is that how you got a job at the Santa Ana newspaper?

Ferguson:  No, they hired me to work at the society desk, with the society people.  

Adele as a young reporter for the Bremerton
 Naval Shipyard newspaper, The Salute, in the 1940s

Adele Ferguson Collecti on
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Hughes:  Well, there you go!

Ferguson:  So I was an assistant.

Hughes:  Were there any women out in the regular newsroom?

Ferguson:  No female reporters. Just men

Hughes:  You were the Assistant Society Editor for  The Santa Ana Register?

Ferguson:  Right.

Hughes:  Tell me what  Santa Ana was like then?

Ferguson:  Oh, busy. Everything was busy during the war. Lots of people.  Like in  Bremerton, 

you’d walk down the Bremerton streets and the sidewalks were jammed most of the ti me.  I 

mean constantly jammed.

Hughes:  What was The Register like? Was that a prett y good newspaper?

Ferguson:  Yeah, it was good. They were good to me.  I worked fi ve days a week. I did write 

some feature kind of stuff , too, and turned it in, and they ran some of it.  But that wasn’t 

what I was paid to do.

Hughes:  What year was that?

Ferguson:  Oh, I don’t know, I was sti ll down there when the war was over so it had to be ’45.  

Hughes:  Were you able to crack into the city room at all, work with the regular reporters?

Ferguson:  No, always in the “soc” stuff .  

Hughes:  Did you write the classic kind of grind-em-out weddings and engagements?

Ferguson:  Oh yeah. And I had to join the  Junior Ebell Club.

Hughes:  The what?

Ferguson:  They call it the Junior Ebell Club; it’s a fancy young women’s club.  And I had to 

learn how to play Bridge.  

Hughes:  Is your personality prett y much the same now as when you were a young woman?  

You love to talk. You’re easy to talk to.  Have you always been this way, or were you ever a shy 

girl?

Ferguson:  No, I was never shy.

Hughes:  So there you are at The Register.  Was there certain genti lity to the society pages?

Ferguson:  Oh yes, oh yes.
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Hughes:  Tell me about that.

Ferguson:  Well, it’s like any society department.  There’s the upper class and the  Altrusa 

 Club, these kinds of things, and we’d cover what they’d do.

Hughes:  Yes, and the mayor’s daughter got a three-column picture when she got engaged?

Ferguson:  Oh yes, what people wore and all this kind of stuff .  But the editors were prett y 

nice and they paid prett y well, and I kind of liked it there.  I don’t know why I left .  I guess, 

maybe the war was over and I decided to go home.

Hughes:  Did you make some friends with folks on the news side there? Did they encourage 

you?

Ferguson:  Oh, not that much.  We went out with service personnel, my friend Inger and 

I.  I met her friends because she was in the service.  And I even smoked some cigarett es, 

although I never inhaled because I didn’t know how.  I never really smoked because I 

couldn’t aff ord it.  And I always think about young people who smoke … Why the hell didn’t 

they ever think of that?  I couldn’t aff ord it.

Hughes:  And cigarett es were then only 15 or 20 cents a pack, weren’t they?

Ferguson:  Whatever they were. But I never bought a pack of cigarett es.  You only smoked 

when a guy off ered you one.  You’d sit there and it looked so sophisti cated. It looked so 

great.  

Hughes:  Tell me about the most memorable story you did there in  Santa Ana?

Ferguson:  I don’t know, but it was a feature I did on some damn thing.  

Hughes: By then, being a fast learner, had you already got the hang of newspaper lingo, 

and writi ng leads and headlines, and all that sort of thing?

Ferguson:  Well, I was getti  ng it.  Of course when you’re new in the business you go to bed 

at night wondering how you’re going to lead the story in the morning.  Aft er that you just 

forget it, you know that when you get there it will come to you.  (laughing)  But I got to 

be real good—except I got so irked at editors. I always tried to write the leads so people 

would want to read the rest of it.  And I always wanted a snapper on my stories, features. 

You couldn’t always do that with news stores, but you could do that with features. … 

But it would get me when the goddamn editor would steal the snapper and put it in the 
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headline.  That just infuriated me!  

Hughes:  That is every reporter’s bane. 

 So, along about 1946 you meet John M.  Philipsen.

Ferguson:  Well, he was up here (in  Bremerton). I met him when I came back to Bremerton.

Hughes:  So you leave  Santa Ana. …

Ferguson:  I leave Santa Ana, and I come home.  Ahead of me I sent a footlocker … full of 

gift s for my family. When I got home I discovered my family – the  kids – had broken it open 

and took everything out.

Hughes:  What kinds of gift s?

Ferguson:  Just gift s I had bought for them, diff erent things.

Hughes:  Scarves and chocolate bars?

Ferguson:  Yeah, that kind of crap.  But they opened it up and took everything out. I could 

have killed them.  I wanted to open it myself.  But they broke open the footlocker and stole 

everything that was in it.

Hughes:  So you’re thinking now  Kitsap County is home?

Ferguson:  It’s where my mother is.  And Phil, my second husband.  His name is John, but I 

always called him Phil.  He is staying with some people down the road a ways.  Everybody 

stayed with somebody if they could because there was no place to live. It was very diffi  cult 

to fi nd a place to live during the war.  Now the war is over.  And he had been in the Navy 

for eight years and now he’s out.  So we started going together. Eventually we got married.

Hughes:  This is John M. Philipsen.  Please spell that?

Ferguson:  P-h-i-l-i-p-s-e-n … The  English spell it with two “l”s and “s-o-n.”  But the  Danes 

spell it with one “l” and “sen.”

Hughes:  John Morgan Philipsen.  And what kind of guy was John?

Ferguson:  Nice guy … nice, good-looking guy, tall and blond.  He was an electrician in the 

 Navy Yard.

Hughes:  On this Digital Archives record I have it says you were married on July 5, 1946.

Ferguson:  Yeah, it was right aft er the  Fourth of July.  So we got married, and I was sti ll 

working at  The Bremerton Sun. 
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Hughes:  Wait a minute. How’d you get to The Sun?

Ferguson:  Oh, I went down to The Sun dressed to the nines. I wore a beauti ful black coat 

and white litt le straw hat. I really looked great.  And I went in and saw Julius  Gius and asked 

him for a job.

Hughes:  Who is he?

Ferguson:  The editor – Julius Gius. He was the founding editor of The Sun.

Hughes:  Spell that please.

Ferguson:  J-u-l-i-u-s Julius, Gius, G-i-u-s.  He was half Finnish.  Great guy. Wonderful guy.  

He was a brilliant newspaper man.  I mean he was the kind of guy who would stop the 

presses for a misspelled word that would be embarrassing to somebody.  You know what 

I mean? He was great.  And I learned everything from him.  One ti me I wrote that a fi re 

was caused by a short in the wiring.  And he said, “It is a short circuit in the wiring.”  I said, 

“Well Julius, everybody writes short in the wiring.”  He said, “Yes, but you know bett er.”

Hughes:  So what year did you start at  The Sun?  Was this before you were married?

Ferguson:  Oh yeah, I was working at The Sun when I was married.

Hughes:  So it must have been 1945, right aft er the end of the war.

Ferguson:  The war was over when I was in California.

Hughes:  If you were married in 1946 it must have been 1945 or early in ’46 when you 

joined The Sun.

Ferguson:  Yeah.

Hughes:  So you’re all dressed up—

Ferguson:  All in black, with a litt le white straw hat.  I looked great.

Hughes:  Were there any females in the newsroom at The Bremerton Sun?  

Ferguson:  No.

Hughes:  And what job were you applying for?

Ferguson:  Reporter. … I wasn’t trying to break any glass ceilings. I just wanted a job!  So 

they hired me.

Hughes:  To be a reporter?

Ferguson:  To be a reporter.
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Hughes:  What did he ask you about your newspaper experience?

Ferguson:  “Where have you been working before?”  And I told him, “I was working over at 

 The Santa Ana Register.  And I lied a litt le bit there. I told him I was a reporter down there.  

Of course, they didn’t check on me.  And I told him I’d been on  The Salute and so forth.  I 

had a litt le background.  I was nice looking.  That helped. He always appreciated a prett y 

girl.

Hughes:  You are a great looking woman now, and you were gorgeous then, judging from 

these photos.

Ferguson:  Thank you.  So he hired me.  I didn’t make much, maybe $50 a week.  They were 

very chintzy with their raises. I remember one ti me everybody got the rumor that we were 

going to get a $5 a week raise, all of us reporters.  So everybody got called in separately 

and told that they were going to get the raise. The guys were told this is a cost-of-living 

increase.  And I got called in. I had just writt en a series of stories about a Russian immigrant 

lady named I forget what. Let’s say it was Liza.  When I went in there Julius said, “Now 

Adele, you’re going to get a $5 a week raise.  This is for Liza, for those wonderful stories 

that you wrote about her.” And I said, “Well gee,  Julius, if I’m getti  ng this raise for what I 

wrote about her, I suppose I get another fi ve for cost of living?” (laughs hearti ly)  You know 

what he said?

Hughes:  No.

Ferguson:  “You son of a bitch!”

Hughes:  You said that Julius had been like the founding editor of The Sun.

Ferguson:  He was the founding editor.

Hughes:  When did The Bremerton Sun get started? 

Ferguson:  I’m not sure. But before The Sun there was  The Searchlight, which was then 

purchased by The Sun.

Hughes:  Who were The Sun guys?

Ferguson:  It was Julius Gius and Alex F.  Ott evaere, who were funded by John P.  Scripps in 

 California.

Hughes:  I see.
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Ferguson:  So they bought The Searchlight – merged it with The Sun.

Hughes:  Forgive me. I’m confused. So Bremerton had two daily newspapers?

Ferguson:  Yes.  Julius and  Alex founded  The Sun. This was our new newspaper – The 

Bremerton Sun.

Hughes:  Was it a morning paper, hence the “sun”?

Ferguson:  No, an aft ernoon newspaper.  Both of those were. By the way, the lady at  The 

Searchlight rati oned toilet paper to her employees. They got so many sheets per day. She 

made her own paste.  I can’t remember her name right this minute.

Hughes:  We can look it up and insert it in the transcript. 

(Editor’s Note: The Daily News-Searchlight, owned and published by Mary E.  Jessup 

and her sons,  John,  Wilford and  James,  was purchased by The Sun in April of 1945 and 

printed its last issue on April 30 “aft er more than 40 years of conti nuous service” to the 

community. The Sun had been established 10 years earlier, in 1935. It was purchased by 

the  John P. Scripps Newspaper Group in 1940.)

Hughes: And you said that the Scripps family helped found The Sun?

Ferguson:  Yeah John P.  Scripps, who was the founding guy down in  California, owned some 

other newspapers on the  West Coast.  So Julius and Alex founded The Bremerton Sun, with 

the help of  Scripps, and it was a brand new newspaper in town

Hughes:  What was the reputati on of The Sun when you got there?  Was it a good 

newspaper?

Ferguson:  Oh yeah.  

Hughes:  What made it such a good newspaper?

Ferguson:  They covered everything.  They even wrote when somebody stole a hubcap.  

Aft er I went to work there, we were known as the best small daily newspaper in the state.

Hughes:  The Sun has always had a good reputati on.

Ferguson:  Not now they don’t.  

Hughes:  They don’t?

Ferguson:  No, no.  When I left , and not just because of me (things started to get worse). 

But I left  … angry.
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Hughes:  I didn’t know that.  I’m going to get back to you about that later.

 What was it like in The Sun’s newsroom there in 1946? What was it like to be the 

fi rst female reporter there?

Ferguson:  Well, everybody was trying to make it with me – the guys.  Back then I just 

laughed about it.  But later on girls would come and talk to me about that kind of stuff , and 

say, “Well what do you do when guys are aft er you?  Especially guys that you have to talk 

to you because they are your news sources?”  And I’d say, “Well I learned the best way to 

handle it is this.”  And I’ve been propositi oned by some prett y high up guys.  I’d tell them, 

“That would just get us in nothing but trouble.”  That way they can’t get mad. You haven’t 

said, “No I won’t go to bed with you by God for a thousand dollars” or anything like that.  It 

just simply said, “That would just get us in nothing but trouble.”

Hughes:  That’s a wonderful story.

Ferguson:  I made that up myself.

Hughes: How many reporters were there on the news staff  of  The Sun in 1946?

Ferguson:  They had quite a few. I’m picturing the room. We all sat at tables in a big room.

Hughes:  Open tables, no desks?

Ferguson:  Well, I forget what it was.  I just don’t recall exactly desks.

Hughes:  Where was The Sun located then?

Ferguson:  It was on Fourth Street, just across the street from  The Searchlight.  

Hughes:  Is that building sti ll there?

Ferguson:  No, I think they made it into a store.  But I’m trying to think, I don’t remember 

the desks very well. There must have been desks, though.

Hughes:  Everybody had a typewriter?

Ferguson:  Yeah, and I could type, of course.  I had gone to business school.

Hughes:  Oh, you did go to business school?

Ferguson:  Oh I went to business school, briefl y.

Hughes:  When did that occur?

Ferguson:  Someti me.

Hughes:  At business school did you do shorthand and all that?
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Ferguson:  No, I never did shorthand. I just did typing.  Then I really needed a job. It must 

have been when I came back from  California or something.  

Hughes:  When I fi rst started hanging around the newsroom in  Aberdeen in the 1950s, 

there was this carcinogenic plume of cigar, pipe and cigarett e smoke. Everybody smoked.  

And they had guys who were sti ll wearing green eyeshades at the copy desk.  Was the 

atmosphere at  The Sun classic “Front Page” kind of stuff  when you were a young reporter?

Ferguson:  Yeah, yeah, yeah.  I had a picture of all the employees of the Sun back around 

that ti me, but I gave it to the museum downtown.  And I’m in there, with all those guys.  

People stayed there quite a long ti me.  You had to have a real good reason to get fi red.

Hughes:  Did you feel like you really had to prove yourself, being a female there amidst a 

dozen guys?

Ferguson:  No, I just had to be a good writer.  I was a good writer.

Hughes:  Tell me about one of those fi rst big stories you remember where you really 

showed your stuff ?  

Ferguson:  Well, of course the ti me I went on the submarine.

Hughes:  The ti me you went on the submarine? You’re kidding. You went on a submarine?

Ferguson:  On the  Nauti lus.  

Hughes:  When was that in the ‘50s?  1957, ’58? Tell me about it.

Ferguson:  I’ve got that here somewhere.  (Editor’s Note: It was 1957) The Nauti lus was 

coming to town …

Hughes:  The fi rst atomic submarine. 

Ferguson:  The fi rst atomic submarine.  It was going to make a trip up onto the icecap or 

some damn thing.  So they let the newspapers know that they could take a certain amount 

of press for a visit.  So we sent a lett er and applied for me to be one of those persons.  And 

they wrote back and said, “No she can’t go because she’s a woman.”  

And we said, “Well, we already know that.  What’s wrong?”  

And they said, “Well, we don’t have any restrooms for women onboard the 

submarine.”

So then I wrote a story about the incident.  And we tried everything.  We even 
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talked to that lady Senator up in Maine or someplace …

Hughes:  Margaret Chase  Smith?

Ferguson:  Yeah, I guess.  And she hadn’t been on it either.  And other women were trying 

to get on board.  … All they were going to do was run us up to Everett , put us on a bus and 

we’d come back to  Bremerton.

Hughes:  Were they going to actually submerge?

Ferguson:  I think so.  So I wrote a story, but they absolutely refused.  We tried Sen. 

Jackson; we tried Sen.  Magnuson. Nobody could get us on board the submarine.  So I 

wrote that we didn’t have any trouble with no separate bathroom for women in my house. 

We just took our turn and it wasn’t any problem.  Anyway, it was kind of fun to write.

Hughes:  Well, you got an award for that one.  Here’s the clipping from  The Bremerton 

Sun, April 12, 1958. It says, “She won fi rst prize for disti nguished reporti ng for coverage 

of a  Shelton murder trial.  First for feature writi ng with her renowned account of her 

controversy with the Navy over a proposed trip on the  U.S.S. Nauti lus.  And an honorable 

menti on on the  Farmer’s Daughter column …”

Ferguson:  I submitt ed the story in the  Sigma Delta Chi journalism society awards 

competi ti on.  And I was noti fi ed to come to the awards banquet.  What I didn’t know was 

that Abe  Glasberg, who was then the editor of the  Everett  Herald, was the overall chairman 

of the awards that year.  He had happened to be back in  Washington, D.C. when that story 

(about the Nauti lus) came out.  And it had been picked up by newspapers all over the 

 United States and overseas.  Abe said the  Navy was just getti  ng razzed unmercifully by 

every other branch of the military.  And he thought it was the funniest damn thing – the 

reacti on to this story.  So he looks over the winning entries for the awards … and mine isn’t 

in there.  So he looks in the rejects and there it is.  He takes it out of the rejects, puts it 

back in the awards pile, and it wins!

Hughes:  That’s a great story.

Ferguson:  It’s a true story too.  So it won the prize.  So the next ti me, the Nauti lus came 

back to Bremerton, they invited me to go aboard.  And this ti me I went.  And they had a 

litt le ceremony up on the deck.  I’ve sti ll got the cartoons. They showed a litt le outhouse 
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built on the deck of the submarine, and a sailor marching back and forth, you know, with 

his gun.

Hughes:  At least the  Navy had a sense of humor.

Ferguson:  Well, they had to have a sense of humor I guess.

Hughes:  That’s wonderful.  … Was Julius  Gius a good editor?

Ferguson:  He was a wonderful editor.

Hughes:  What made him a great editor?  He had the good sense not to mess up your 

work?

Ferguson:  Yeah, but I had to stop him someti mes. I was the church editor for a while.  In 

fact, I was a litt le bit of everything.  I did hockey for a while, too. 

Hughes:  Hockey?

Ferguson:  Yeah, I wrote the hockey stories and I got $10 for doing it. The sports guy gave 

me the $10. I said, “What’s this for?”  He said, “That’s what I get every week from the 

hockey people.” 

 But anyway, Julius he came up to me once and he said, “You’ve got all these church 

stories to write yet. You’ve got to get out of here. Here, give me some of those. I’ll do them 

for you.”  And I said, “No.”  He said, “Why not?”  I said, “I don’t like the way you do them.” 

(much laughter)  Oh God, he just turned and walked out.

Julius  got to a point where he wanted to do something else.  Now he was either 

going to run for Congress or he was going to go down to  California and be top guy in the 

Scripps chain.  Well, eventually he chose the  Scripps job – being editorial director, which 

he was great at. When he was leaving Bremerton, I went up to him and I said, “Julius, I’d 

like to be the editor of this newspaper.  I think I can do a real good job of it.”  He said, “No 

you can’t, and you won’t.  Writers like you only come along once in a hundred years. If you 

were editor of this newspaper, you’d want to change everything everybody did to make it 

the way you would have done it.  And you’d never be able to get anything done because 

you’d be so busy improving everything.  So you don’t need to be an editor. Sti ck to what 

you do best.”

Hughes:  Was that good advice?
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Ferguson:  Yeah, it was. As a matt er of fact,  KOMO once tried to hire me.  One of the top 

guys at KOMO called me and said they wanted to hire me.  They said, “You can either be 

our investi gati ve reporter or you can be our”— what was the other thing?

Hughes:  Consumer aff airs maybe?

Ferguson:  Editorials or something.  It was a prett y good job.  He said, “We will pay you well 

and you can keep your column. You can conti nue to do your column and keep the money 

(from it).”  So I thought about it and then I called him back and told him, “No, I know I’m a 

writer.  And if I go over there now I’m with new people. … Where I work now I know what 

everybody does, and what they want of me, and what I can deliver for them.  But if I go 

over there and suddenly I get in with some people who don’t like me that much, or want 

me to do something I don’t want to do, I’m disconnected.”  So I turned it down.

Hughes:  Were you otherwise ever tempted? Or did they off er you any jobs at The Sun, like 

to be city editor?

Ferguson:  No, no, no. I was a writer.

Hughes:  So what was it that made you a great reporter?

Ferguson:  I was curious about everything. One ti me when they were going to have a 

trial over at the courthouse, they picked somebody else to cover it. I had other things 

to do.  This guy came over to cover it for the  Seatt le P-I.  He said, “Boy, I was sure glad 

Adele Ferguson isn’t going to cover this.  She sees so much stuff  that nobody else sees.”  I 

thought that’s a prett y good compliment.

Hughes:  Was that just natural curiosity?

Ferguson:  Yeah.  And I liked to write. I liked to write.  And I read a lot.

Hughes:  Could you write quickly once you hit your stride?

Ferguson:  Yeah.  In fact some of the best stuff  I’ve writt en, I just wrote off  the top of my 

head.

I tried to write leads that people would be encouraged to go through and read the rest of 

the story.

Hughes:  Try to get the “grabber” – the lead sequence.

Ferguson:  Make people want to read.  And I read some things in the paper today and 
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someti mes they’re so boring.  And I think, “God almighty, you didn’t have to do it this way.”

Hughes:  Was Julius  Gius the greatest teacher you had early in the going?

Ferguson:  Yes, yes he was.

Hughes:  Was he also a classic sti ckler for att enti on to detail?

Ferguson:  Oh yeah, and he was a good writer himself.  He won prizes.  But he was proud 

of his whole staff . He was so mad one year because just he and I won.  I won very oft en for 

various stories.

Hughes:  Like the murder trial you won this award for?

Ferguson:  Yeah.  The trial went on for a whole month and I had to drive down to Shelton.  

That was a problem because  Julius was prett y cheap?  He didn’t want to pay anybody 

mileage to be going down there.  But he did. 

Hughes:  How many hours a week were you working?

Ferguson:  Well, I didn’t have to put any hours down.  Most other people worked 40-hour 

weeks.  But I was paid so much a week and I could work however many hours I wanted to 

work.  So I always worked more than the other staff .

Hughes:  How did they get away with that if you weren’t a supervisor?

Ferguson:  I had that kind of a deal, like being the boss’ secretary.  … And I always worked 

more. I always was the fi rst one to the offi  ce in the morning.  I went to work at seven 

o’clock; deadline was eleven.

Hughes:  So  The Sun was an aft ernoon paper six or seven days a week?

Ferguson:  Six days a week. Eventually it became seven.

Hughes:  You had a Saturday paper but not a Sunday paper? 

Ferguson:  Yeah.

Hughes:  Did you work six days a week?

Ferguson:  No, I only worked fi ve days a week. 

Hughes:  Tell me more about Julius and some of the things he really inculcated in reporters, 

like the classic stuff  about spelling names.

Ferguson:  Oh he got so mad at me once when I got a name spelled wrong on the front 

page.  And I did something once that got the city editor fi red.  I had worked every beat, 
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see, and at this point I had the  Navy beat, and the  Navy Yard beat.

Hughes:  So you’d covered cops and city hall?

Ferguson:  Oh I had done cops, and courthouses, city hall, and hockey, just everything.  

Hughes:  Was hockey a big thing in  Bremerton?

Ferguson:  Oh yeah.  So I enjoyed going to the games.

Hughes:  What were the names of the teams?

Ferguson:   I don’t remember.  Anyway, they had one guy on there who was a really mean 

rott en guy, and he would always go up to me crossly with a sti ck. 

Where was I?

Hughes:  About the mistake you made and getti  ng the city editor fi red.

Ferguson:  Oh well, that wasn’t a mistake.  That was a deliberate thing I did.  Every week 

I had to write up a litt le story that said, “Boaters are advised to stay out of Dabob Bay 

on Mondays, Tuesdays and Fridays from 11 A.M. to 3 P.M because there will be torpedo 

testi ng.”  So I wrote that litt le story, and one day I felt real good about it.  So I wrote that, 

“Boaters are advised to stay out of Dabob Bay because there will be Tornado testi ng.”  And 

then I added, “So keep the hell off  the beaches then.”  And it got into the paper.  It proved 

to Julius that the city editor wasn’t reading the copy.  See what I mean?

Hughes:  I do.

Ferguson:  He should have caught that.  They fi red him.

Hughes:  Aberdeen and  Bremerton were sti ll classic, wide-open, whorehouse, sailor-and-

logger towns in the 1950s. Who was the Bremerton mayor back then, Whitey …?

Ferguson:   Domstad.

Hughes:  He worked in  Aberdeen for a while.  I interviewed him. And I said, “Well, what 

do you think about Aberdeen?”  And he said, “Seems just like Bremerton to me.” The 

Shore Patrol was always on duty, I suppose, in Bremerton, but you did have houses of 

prosti tuti on, lots of bars and tatt oo parlors?

Ferguson:  Oh yeah, right downtown, owned by the cops. You know that kind of a thing.

Hughes:  What?!

Ferguson:  Oh yeah, everybody knew who owned them.
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Hughes:  Tell me about that.

Ferguson:  No!

Hughes: So when did you start writi ng a column?  Was  “The Farmer’s Daughter” (in the 

1950s) your fi rst outi ng as columnist?

Ferguson:  I forget who got me to write that.  But I wrote that once a week, and it was 

supposed to be funny.  

Hughes:  But your father wasn’t really a farmer?

Ferguson:  No. That was just funny stuff .  I found it easier later to do fi ve columns a week 

on anything than to do one column a week and be funny.  Because you’d have to sit down 

every Thursday aft ernoon and be funny for the next day’s paper.  And that’s hard to do.  So 

I really never enjoyed writi ng The Farmer’s Daughter, although I did get some prizes for 

it. … I didn’t want to have to be funny.  When I wanted to be funny I could be funny but I 

didn’t always want to be funny.  You can’t do it like that.

Hughes:  Someone observed once how few comedians have ever won Academy Awards 

and how wrongful that is.  I mean, it’s hard to be funny.

Ferguson:  Yes it is.

Hughes:  Did you work with some great reporters during that ti me (the 1950s), some 

people you really admired?

Ferguson:  No.

Hughes:  So prett y early on, you were a star reporter for  The Sun?

Ferguson:  Yeah I was. I was.  To this day people stop me in the grocery stores and on the 

street and say they miss me. But you know where I really made friends in this city?  I loved 

to do obituaries. Most reporters hate obituaries. I didn’t. I always called the family if I could 

get a hold of them.  And I’d say, “This is Adele Ferguson from the Sun. Now I hate to bother 

you at a ti me like this but I know you want this to be the way you want it.  You want it to be 

accurate.  So could I just ask you a couple of questi ons?”  And to this day people say, “You 

wrote my mother’s obituary” … “You wrote my father’s. I’ll never forget. It was so nice of 

you” and so forth.  But there’s where you make friends because every newspaper is going 

to reach every family through the obituary columns one way or another.  So you have to be 
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nice about it.  But I’ve seen reporters who refuse to do it. They just hated obituaries.  

Hughes:  That’s dumb reporters.  There are so many great stories in obituaries.

Ferguson:  I wrote one ti me about a guy who was on one of these fi shing ships that 

disappeared. The family was just franti c.  And I had to call and break the news to them that 

he was among the missing.  And then about three, four days later they found him in a boat ...

Hughes:  Alive?

Ferguson:  Alive.  So Casey  Davison, the city editor, ran to the phone and said, “Well, I’ve 

got to call the family and tell them.”   Julius said, “Wait!  Let Adele. She had to call and tell 

them he was missing.  Let her call and tell them he’s found.”

Hughes:  That must have been a wonderful call.

Ferguson:  Yeah.  Well, the worst and best thing about it was there was sti ll ti me that I 

could write a story about it. I picked up the phone and I said, “Mrs. So-and-so.”  

“Yes.”  

And I say, “They found your son and he’s alive and well.”   

“Whaaaaaaa!!!!”  She dropped the phone and was gone.  Now, I’ve sti ll got to write 

a story!  I had to get in my car and drive out to her house and ask her how she felt about all 

that and rush back and write the story.  God, I could have killed her.  

Hughes:  That’s a great story.

Ferguson:  I always tell the story anyti me I give speeches, about how I called this woman 

who’d just lost her husband. I said, “This is Adele Ferguson and I hate to bother you at a 

ti me like this.  But I know you’d like to say some things and I want to check some facts.  

Now, he worked in the Navy Yard for 20 years, and he’s been reti red for 20 years.  What 

has he done for the last 20 years?”  And she said, “He didn’t do a damn thing! (uproarious 

laughter)

Say, I didn’t tell you about when I was a justi ce of the peace, did I?

Hughes:  No. Tell me.

Ferguson:  Well, when I was at  The Sun in the 1950s or ’60s, the county coroner went over 

and paid a dollar and fi led my name for  Seabeck  Justi ce of the Peace.  … I was elected and 

I was authorized to perform marriages.  So I performed about six marriages.  One marriage 
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was an elderly black couple who came into the offi  ce and wanted to see the editor.  So I 

referred them to Julius’ offi  ce.  And they told him that they wanted to get married.  They 

had never been married. They had a bunch of children, and nobody in the family knew that 

they had never been married, but they wanted to get married.  And could he please keep 

it out of the paper, because we always printed the names of everybody who applied for a 

marriage license.  

“Oh sure,” he said.  “We’ll keep it out for you.  When are you going to get married?”  

And they said, “We don’t know, we haven’t found anybody yet.”  

And he brings them out to me and says, “Now, Adele here is a justi ce of the peace.  

She can marry you.”  

“Oh,” they said, “Really?  Will you do that?”  

And I said, “Well sure.”  

And  Julius says, “We can do it right here.”  

So they said, “Well, fi ne, where are you going to do it?”  I almost said “in the 

darkroom,” but it quickly occurred to me that that would be a poor choice of words, 

and I said, “We can do it down in the photography laboratory.”  So we went down to the 

photography laboratory and I performed the marriage ceremony and we had some coff ee, 

and cookies that were kicking around there.  And those people were so happy.

Hughes: Great story. … So this is a classic questi on I always used to ask every reporter 

applying for a job:  Tell me about the most character-building mistake you ever made?  

Something you really screwed up.

Ferguson:  Well, very early in my career I went out on a story with a photographer. We 

didn’t have a staff  photographer at  The Sun. We hired a guy.

Hughes:  Few small papers had a staff  photographer in those days.

Ferguson: So we went to this house to interview this woman and she insisted when it was 

over on giving us each fi ve dollars for coming to the house.  We said no, and she absolutely 

insisted, following us clear out to the car, stuffi  ng the money in our pockets. And we left  

with the fi ve dollars.  When I got back to the paper, I went straight to Julius and told him.  

He should have fi red me.  But I realized what a rott en thing that was, so I should have 
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never have done that.  I didn’t need the fi ve dollars; the woman was pushing it on me.  

Hughes:  Did you take the money back?

Ferguson:  No

Hughes:  What did  Julius say?

Ferguson:  He just shook his head.

Hughes:  Did he appreciate your conscience?

Ferguson:  I don’t know, but he didn’t fi re me.  I guess I was too good a writer to let go, you 

know.

Hughes:  Did anyone ever come close to wanti ng to fi re you, for stepping over the line, for 

being too bold?

Ferguson:  Well, I think my last editor, just before I quit in 1993 would like to have fi red me.

Hughes:  Well, we can get back to that when the ti me comes.

 So you had all these beats you were covering. When did you really start covering 

politi cs?

Ferguson:  I started covering politi cs in 1961, I think.  Because at that ti me, the politi cal 

writer was Gene  Gisley, who later became the editor of  The Sun. He was also an avid 

Democrat. His best friend was Gordon  Walgren, who was in the House (1965-68) and then 

in the Senate (1969-1981) from our district.  Frances Haddon  Morgan was running against 

Walgren for the State Senate.  Gene wrote something for The Sun endorsing Gordon 

Walgren.

Hughes:  In a column?

Ferguson:  Well, he wrote it in a news story, as a reporter.  And the editor then, Jack 

 McHenry, called him in and said, “I decide who we endorse, not you.”  Now Gene realized 

that his ti me was going to be short there.  Now he had pissed off  Jack so badly.  So he 

called and he wrote Julius Gius and they off ered him a job down in  San Diego.  So Gene left  

The Sun, went to San Diego and became their politi cal writer.

Hughes:  Despite that mistake, was Gene a good reporter?

Ferguson:  Oh yeah, he was a good reporter, and a good guy.  He’s dead now. … 

So then the editor called me in and said, “Well, now you’re going to be the politi cal writer.”  
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I wasn’t even reading politi cal stories. I didn’t give a damn about politi cs.  But I’m now 

going to be the politi cal writer.  So I’m sent down to  Olympia.

Hughes:  So being the politi cal writer for The Bremerton Sun involved being the 

correspondent in  Olympia?

Ferguson:  Yeah.

Hughes:  And by this ti me you’ve got a couple of kids, right?

Ferguson:  Yes.

Hughes:  You didn’t commute to Olympia, did you? That’s quite a ride.

Ferguson:  Not at fi rst, mainly because they didn’t want the expense.  Eventually they paid, 

and I’d go down on Mondays and stay in a hotel in Olympia ti ll Friday.  In the beginning 

I just went back and forth when there was something going on that was of some local 

interest.

Hughes:  So this is 1961?

Ferguson:  Yep.

Hughes:  Jack  Kennedy has just been elected. Al  Rosellini is the governor.

Ferguson:  I liked Rosellini; I think he was a good guy.

Hughes:  He’s prett y amazing. My God, he’s a spry old guy.

Ferguson:  Isn’t he? What is he – 95, 100 years old? (Editor’s Note: Rosellini was born Jan. 

21, 1910)

Hughes:  His eyes are bright, and his handshake is fi rm.

Ferguson:  Best friend the ferries ever had in the Governor’s Offi  ce.

Hughes:  Al was?

Ferguson:  Oh yeah.

Hughes:  OK, so it’s 1961—

Ferguson:  And I’m going to be a politi cal writer.   McHenry also said, “I’d like to have you 

write a column every day.”

Hughes:  On politi cs?

Ferguson:  Well, whatever I choose.  I only agreed if I could do it on anything.  I mean he 

wanted it on politi cs.  But I said, “I can’t guarantee that. If I can write about anything, then 
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it will be easier to do.  But fi ve columns a week on politi cs might be a litt le diffi  cult.”

Hughes:  He wants you to be a columnist writi ng fi ve columns a week, in additi on to being 

a beat reporter on politi cs?  That’s a tall order.

Ferguson:  I was up to it.  I mean I liked to write; it’s no problem.  Eventually, he said 

fi ve columns a week are too many, so he cut me back to three.  Which was fi ne with me 

because I was doing fi ve.  I started writi ng my syndicated politi cal column in 1965. I moved 

up here (to Hansville) in ’65, and my father died in 1965, on December the seventh.  

Hughes:  Had your mother died before that?

Ferguson:  No, no, no, she lived on for a while aft er.  Aft er he was dead,  she now suddenly 

had money, because he had spent it all at the racetrack. He was a gambler, so he was 

always spending the dough.  One ti me they went picking apples over on the east side of 

the state, to make some money.

Hughes:  For the record, your dogs are lapping at me.

Ferguson:  (Smiles and nods approvingly) And they made quite a bit of money picking 

apples.  But the night they were supposed to leave and come home, my  father lost it all in 

a card game.  So aft er he was dead – even though I know she cared for him – she said to 

me one ti me, “You know, I’ve never had it so good.”  She found fi ve-dollar bills tucked away 

in the closest and stuff .  He was hiding money from her so he could go gamble.  

Hughes:  So it’s 1961. You’re going to  Olympia as  The Sun’s politi cal reporter at the  Capitol. 

Tell me about it.

Ferguson:  Don’t know anybody.  Well, I do too. I know Red Beck.

Hughes:  Who was Red  Beck?

Ferguson:  C.W. “Red” Beck. He was a state representati ve and then he was a state senator. 

Wonderful guy.

Hughes:  And he was “Red” because he was a redhead?

Ferguson:  He was a redhead is what he was, and he was a big heavyset guy.

Hughes:  So you arrive in Olympia in 1961.  Are you indeed the fi rst female Capitol 

reporter?

Ferguson:  I am the fi rst woman to become a regular correspondent at the Legislature.  
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They didn’t speak to me, the men. … Except for Leroy  Hitt le.  He was the longti me head of 

the  AP offi  ce in Olympia, and he liked me.  We were never romanti c, but he liked me, and 

he wanted to help me.

Hughes: He was a personable  guy, wasn’t he? Gov.  Evans appointed him to the  Liquor Board in 

1967.

Ferguson:  Yeah, he was, and he gave me a litt le desk. There was a row in there and then 

you sat at it.  

Hughes:  At the “Ledge” Building – the  Capitol?

Ferguson:  They weren’t desks. They were litt le nook and crannies.  And so Leroy gave me 

one next to his offi  ce and told me, “Now you know, Adele, when you write your stories 

you’re going to have to give me a copy because everybody has to give a copy to the 

Associated Press.”  

And I said, “Not me.  I’m not going to do that.”  

Leroy said, “What do you mean?”  

I said, “Well, what’s the point of me being down here and them paying me to be 

here, if I have to give you a story and you beat me on it in the  Associated Press?”

Hughes:  What did Leroy say then?

Ferguson:  Well, he said, “Everybody else gives me a copy.”  I said, “Well, that’s them. That 

isn’t me. I’m not going to give you a copy.”  I said, “I’m going to give it to my paper fi rst and 

you can have it aft er it runs in my paper.”  Well, he agreed. 

Header for Adele’s column in the 1960s
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Hughes:   Do you remember who was working for The  P-I and The  Times at that ti me?

Ferguson:  Yes.

Hughes:  Were they the guys who were sti nkers to you?

Ferguson:  Oh yeah, all of them except  Leroy.  Who was it that was with the UPI ( United 

Press Internati onal) at that ti me?  Was it Gordon  Schultz? 

Hughes: No, he came to  Olympia later than 1961. (Editor’s Note: Norm  Kempster was a UPI 

reporter in 1961; Gordon W. Schultz arrived to become bureau chief in 1963.)

Ferguson: Yeah, that was before Gordy Schultz.  Later on, Gordy wooed me to come over 

to his offi  ce (relocate) and leave the  AP offi  ce.  He said, “I’ll give you a big desk.  I’ll give you 

this great big desk right here. Move in with me.”  So, I did.

Hughes:  That’s a funny story. Tell me more.

Ferguson:  I’m trying to think of the name of the guy who was with  The P-I.  I thought 

about him just the other day. It’s a litt le short name.  (Editor’s Note: It was Stub  Nelson). 

He was “Mr. Big” – the senior member of the press corps. He was the everything.  But 

the thing was that he was so stressed out someti mes that if things really bugged him he 

had nosebleeds.  And he’d be standing like this, you know, trying to keep his nose from 

bleeding.  I remember one ti me we were at some meeti ng over in Eastern Washington.  

We’d all gone there – conventi on I guess.  And I’m standing in  Leroy’s room. Everybody 

goes in everybody else’s rooms.  And I’m in there with him and (Nelson) has a big 

nosebleed.  And I said, “Well, what’s the matt er?”  And he said, “Oh I’ve got to write this 

thing about Al  Rosellini, and I just don’t know how to even start the story.”  And I said, 

“Well, if it was me I’d call Al up and ask him.”  He stopped, looked at me, went to the 

phone.  From then on he was nice to me.

Hughes:  So that’s what broke the ice. Tell me the story about you sitti  ng in somebody’s 

chair and causing a ruckus. 

Ferguson:  Well that was him.  (Stub Nelson) They had a desk-like counter that went 

around the room in front of the House and the Senate, too, with seats for The P-I, The 

 Times,  Tacoma News Tribune, AP, UPI,  The Spokane Chronicle and  Spokane Spokesman-

Review and then “other” correspondents. I belonged in Other.  (Nelson) never even 
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showed up unti l aft ernoon because his deadline was late at night. So one morning, Leroy 

Hitt le said, “Come on, Adele, sit down here and we’ll talk.”  There was nothing going on.  

The  P-I seat was right next to the  AP seat, so I sat in The P-I seat and was talking to  Leroy.  

So I’m sitti  ng there, and it’s noon, or thereabouts, and ( Nelson) came in and saw me sitti  ng 

in his seat.  And he went to the Sergeant-at-Arms and said, “Get her out of there! That’s my 

seat.”  

So the Sergeant-at-Arms came down and said, “Adele, could I see you for just a minute?”  

And I said, “Yeah.”  

And he said, “Bring your stuff .”  So I picked up my stuff  – purse, books — went up there.  

And he says, “What’s his face says you’re sitti  ng in his seat and he wants you to get out of 

it.”  

And I said, “Well, I’m out of it.”  

 Meanti me, The P-I guy has disappeared; he didn’t want to see me.  So Hitt le came 

up to me, and I said, “You know something, Leroy, if this ever happens again and I’m down 

there sitti  ng, and they have the Sergeant-at-Arms come and throw me out there’s going 

to be blood and guts all over this chamber.  And it isn’t going to be mine!”  He believed 

me.  And he told (Nelson), “Don’t do that again.  You’ll have to just suff er it and wait ti ll she 

leaves.”  But it went on for about six weeks that none of them would speak to me.  They 

thought I was an interloper.  They really thought I was one of these women who just comes 

down to cover what the women are wearing to the Governor’s Ball.  But I wasn’t!  

Meanti me, I made friends with all the lobbyists. They couldn’t have been nicer.  

They were all so friendly and helped me.  So I really made out with the lobbyists. They 

invited me to dinner.  The banking lobbyists said to me, “Hey, Adele, we’re having this 

dinner down at so-and-so.  I’d like to invite you to come but we’re having some of these 

certain people and it would have to be off  the record.”  And I said, “Oh well, I couldn’t go to 

anything like that.” So he said, “Well, I can’t invite you because that’s the way it has to be.”  

So I didn’t go.  But I learned that it has to be that way. You have to agree that some things 

just have to be “off  the record.”

Hughes:  You were looking over this ti ny, high-tech tape recorder. It’s essenti al for oral 
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history. But it takes a long ti me to transcribe.  I really agree with a story you told earlier 

about not liking to use tape recorders. I always felt that as a note taker I could get 98 

percent of everything on my notepad. … I never had anybody really quibble and say, “Well I 

really said, such and such, instead of that.”

Ferguson:  No, I never did either.  The only boast I ever made was, “If it’s got quotes around 

it, you said it.”

Hughes:  And someone once said, too, that a “misquote” is seeing something you actually 

said in the cold hard reality of 8.5-point body type the next day. Did you ever have 

somebody try to do that to you, to really try to say, “Oh she took me out of context. She 

misquoted me’’?

Ferguson:  No.

Hughes:  So there you are. It’s  Olympia, 1961. Tell me about what fi nally really broke the 

ice with the guys in the   Olympia press corps?

Ferguson:  I don’t know.

Hughes:  The fact that you had gumpti on?

Ferguson:  I guess, I was getti  ng good stories and they weren’t.  I was getti  ng some really 

good stories.  I was talking to lobbyists. They didn’t do that.  I wrote some really funny stuff  

too.

Hughes:  Tell me about some of those really good stories you broke.  

Ferguson:  Well, the trouble is I’ve writt en so much since, that’s a long ti me ago.

Hughes:  What was the atmosphere like then in Olympia when you were covering the 

Legislature? I read a great quote the other day by Ed  Reilly of  Spokane, who was Speaker of 

the House in the 1940s: “For 60 days you’re a king. Then the medals come off .”

Ferguson:  Well, it was wild.  There were dinners and recepti ons every night.  Of course it 

eventually got to where it was too expensive; the lobbyists couldn’t aff ord to pay it.  But 

there were parti es every night, and everybody crashed the parti es or went to them.  A lot 

of dancing and everything, I can remember that.  I remember (State Sen.) Jim  McDermott  

of Seatt le told me he was going to dance with me at the Governor’s Ball.  And I said, “Well, 

it won’t be yours buddy!”  They began to respect me.  But I didn’t have any buddies to start 
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with. None.  Leroy  Hitt le was the only guy who was ever friendly to me. But they got over it 

eventually.  

Hughes:  I heard a story about an incident at the close of that fi rst legislati ve session you 

covered in 1961.

Ferguson:  It’s the closing night. The place is full. Everybody’s drinking. This one reporter 

was plastered.  And so we’re all sitti  ng down front in the press row and there’s a bunch of 

pages sitti  ng down there.

Hughes:  Young kids, teenagers?

Ferguson:  Yeah.  And he leans over to me and he says, “I’ve got eight inches.”  And the 

pages look at me to see what I’m going to say.  And I said, “Well it’s too bad you haven’t 

got 12 – you could get a job as a carpenter!”  It went over prett y good.  And when I went by 

Slade  Gorton at that dinner that night I said to Slade, “Did I go too far?”  And he said, “No!”

Hughes:  Your syndicati on of the column began in 1965 when Robert L. Charett e, a 

legislator from Aberdeen, went to Ed  Van Syckle, editor of  The Aberdeen World, and said, 

“You ought to run Adele’s column.”

Ferguson:  Oh, yeah.

Hughes:  So The Aberdeen World was the fi rst link in the chain of your syndicati on?

Ferguson:  I think Aberdeen and the  Centralia Chronicle came on at the same ti me. I’m sti ll 

in the Centralia paper.  They love me in Centralia!

Hughes: Tell me about Bob  Charett e.

Ferguson:  Bob was a wonderful guy, and he was somebody who could explain 

unemployment compensati on like nobody else.  I wrote quite a bit about Bob. He was a 

very good source and liked reporters.

Hughes:  He was an amazing storyteller.

Ferguson:  Oh yeah. …  The only thing I ever found unusual about him was once he had to 

be up at the Speaker’s rostrum, and be the Speaker, and he was nervous as a cat.  It was 

strange to see that in such a bright and confi dent guy.

Hughes:  So you wrote for  The Sun and then The World and then The Centralia Chronicle.  

Did a number of other papers come on prett y quickly?
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Ferguson:  Yeah.  It was in The  Wenatchee World for while and the Tri-Citi es paper for a 

while.

Hughes:  How many did you have at the peak?

Ferguson:  Oh, 35 or 40.  Where you lose columns is when they get a new editor.  Or you 

write something that irritates somebody, or some legislator who like doesn’t like you.  

That’s how I got out of one of my papers. I think it was  Wenatchee.  I had some of them 

who made it a point to stab me in the back for something I had writt en.

Hughes:  Did you have any parti cular theme that you tried to bring to the column?  

Ferguson:  Whatever interested me, I thought would interest them.

Hughes:  How many were you doing in ’65?  

Ferguson:  I was doing fi ve columns a week.  I think I was doing two for the  Sun and mailing 

out twice to the state.  Monday, Wednesday in one mailing, and Friday in another.

Hughes:  Did you have anybody helping you mail out these columns?

Ferguson:  No. … I did it all.

Hughes:  Well, you had a lot of material, that’s for sure. What was the atmosphere like in 

the Legislature then versus now?

Ferguson:  Well, I think then we had a lot more people who were members because they 

wanted to do something, not because they wanted money.  It now pays too well; the 

benefi ts are too good. They now are career legislators as opposed to citi zen legislators.  

When I fi rst went down there they were citi zen legislators.  Marshall  Neill from Eastern 

Washington became a Supreme Court judge (in 1967), but he’d been in the Legislature for 

years. (1949-1967). Perry  Woodall, a  Republican from  Toppenish who served in the House 

and Senate, was a wonderful, funny guy, brilliant lawyer.  He loved to tell me dirty jokes, 

but he would never tell you what went on in the caucus room because with him caucuses 

were private. But I could skim what happened in those caucuses from everybody else and 

pour it right back.  He was the main guy who was nice to me down there; gave me a ride 

back and forth, so my paper didn’t complain about the cost.  

Hughes:  Tell me about the whole fl avor of “citi zen legislators” back then versus the 

legislator of today.
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Ferguson:  It’s gone. Back in the 1960s when I began covering the Legislature, there was 

a lot of emphasis on the cost of the legislati ve session. In 1967, it was $22,000 a day. But, 

I wrote at the ti me, “When does any taxpayer ever sit down and fi gure what he’s got in 

the way of talent and experience and knowledge available right at his fi ngerti ps? Within 

this gathering of 148 citi zen legislators there were some of the fi nest brains west of the 

 Mississippi.” For instance, a legal opinion by att orney Francis  Holman would cost $500 in 

his offi  ce, but he put his brain at the people’s disposal. Brian  Lewis was one of the leading 

engineering consultants. The state paid him thousands before his electi on to fi nd out 

what he thought about the feasibility of a  Fletcher Bay Bridge. As a legislator, he shared 

his knowledge for practi cally nothing. George  Clarke as head of the  Washington Survey 

& Rati ng Bureau knew as much about insurance as anybody in the state. Wilbur  Hallauer 

was one of the leading fruit processors in the Northwest. Irv  Newhouse was one of the 

foremost hop growers in the world. Dr. Homer  Humiston was a gold mine of informati on 

on health services and pension plans. Bill  Kiskaddon was a  Boeing research engineer. Bill 

 May was a strong labor fi gure. John  Stender was an internati onal vice president of the 

 Boilermakers’ Union. August  Mardesich and Dick  Kink were lifelong commercial fi shermen. 

There were printers and publishers, doctors and denti sts, truck drivers and loggers, 

longshoremen and envelope salesmen, housewives and school teachers, bankers and you 

name it.  For $3,600 a year plus $25 a day expenses, these people off ered to take ti me 

away from their regular jobs to serve the public in writi ng the laws they were to live under. 

The most expert opinions could be sought on almost any subject. 

As the pay increased over the years to today’s $42,106 a year, plus $100 a day 

expenses, the legislati ve mix changed from people willing to serve the public to people 

legislati ng for a living. The pay was handsome enough to att ract housewives, reti rees and 

public employees. The citi zen legislator is a relic of the past. The state Legislature has 

become a profession treated like a fullti me job.

Hughes:  Who are some of the people, legislators and others, who really made an 

impression on you of being really bright, upstanding?

Ferguson:  Of course, Sen. Augie Mardesich of  Everett , Bob  Goldsworthy of  Spokane, Slim 
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 Rasmussen of  Tacoma, Sen. Bill  Gissberg of  Snohomish. And Marshall  Neill.  Neill used to 

sit behind Perry  Woodall.  And Perry Woodall was a wild talker. If he had something that 

needed to be looked up, he’d turn back to  Marshall, and Marshall would get the law book 

and fi nd what  Perry wanted so Perry could recall exactly what he wanted to quote.  

Hughes:  Tell me more about  Mardesich, the fi sherman who was a power in the Senate in 

the 1960s and ‘70s.

Ferguson:  Augie was a guy who rarely put a bill out with his name on it if he really wanted 

it.  He got it on somebody else’s name so then he wasn’t targeted because he fi gured they 

would go aft er it because they didn’t want Augie to have it.  But between him, gillnett ers 

and purse seiners, those guys ran the committ ees in both houses; you couldn’t get a thing 

through there that they didn’t want.  He was very powerful.

Hughes:  Did you know (future Senate Majority Leader) Sid  Snyder early on?

Ferguson:  Oh yeah.

Hughes:  What was Sid’s job then?  He was the deputy chief clerk, then the chief clerk of 

the House, wasn’t he? (Editor’s Note: Snyder was deputy chief clerk from 1957 to 1969 and 

acti ng chief clerk from 1965 to 1967.)

Ferguson:  I guess he was the clerk in the House.  The trouble is you get to know them for 

so long. It’s like seeing somebody wearing clothes that you’re not used to seeing them in 

and you think “Who the hell is that?”  I did that the other day. I met a guy and couldn’t 

fi gure out who the hell he was.  He sold me two cars and I couldn’t remember who he was 

because he was wearing blue jeans and didn’t work at the car place any more. … But yes, 

Sid Snyder is a really wonderful guy, a savvy politi cian and a great storyteller. He’s got the 

memory for these details.  If ever there is something I need to know, and I can’t quite pick 

it up, Sid knows.

Hughes:  When you were a  Capitol correspondent during that era, was it sort of free and 

easy to talk with offi  cials? You could just walk in and get to talk to the governor?

Ferguson:  No, no, no, no, it was never like that.

Hughes:  So Al  Rosellini was the fi rst governor you covered when you arrived in 1961?

Ferguson:  Al was the fi rst governor I covered.
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Hughes:  Did the governor have routi ne press conferences?

Ferguson:  Yeah he did, and he was good.  Of course, they treated him kind of mean.  Let’s 

see what is it that Jack  Pyle (of The  Tacoma News Tribune) used to say to him?  “Well, 

governor, are you going to tell us the truth now or are you just going to sit there and 

dangle …” I forget what exactly, but anyway, they talked down to him.  

And when Dixy Lee  Ray became governor (in 1977) and had her fi rst press 

conference, the guys didn’t think anything of her. They were not respectf ul. They thought 

she was just an old lady professor. … So they were sitti  ng out in that big room where they 

have the press conferences, making fun of her.  And I said, “You guys bett er watch out. I 

bet this place is bugged. I bet she’s sitti  ng back there in her offi  ce listening to every word 

you’re saying.”  Ahahahah, they’d think; that’s funny.  And when she walked in that room 

she was breathing fi re. I mean mad.  And I knew she had heard every word they had said 

about her.  That was the last press conference for weeks.  She was so mad that they were 

just running her down and just being so snott y.  And I warned them.  I said, “She’s listening 

to this.”

Hughes:  We skipped around Al  Rosellini too quickly.  You say you admired him. 

Ferguson:  Oh some.  Yeah, I admired him.  

Hughes:  What was it that you admired?  

Ferguson:  Well, he did good things.  He brought the insti tuti ons in this state up to par.  He 

hired good people.  Even Marti n  Durkan (a powerful Democrat from  King County), who 

was no Rosellini fan, would say that.  One ti me I said something like, “Why don’t you say 

something nice about Al?  What could you say nice about Al Rosellini?”  Durkan said, “Well, 

he hired good people.”  And that’s important.

Hughes:  Who were some of those good people that he hired?

Ferguson:  Oh, Dr. Garrett   Heyns, (who gained nati onal recogniti on for his dedicati on to 

improving prisons) as his director of insti tuti ons.  I can’t think back. It’s just too many 

people.

Hughes:  He picked good staff  people?

Ferguson:  I’m talking about his agency people.  His own staff  – the ones who should have 
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been looking out for him – they were too busy looking out for themselves.  One ti me I 

dared to ask Rosellini, “Why do you have this litt le slurp, this click when you talk?”  He used 

to have a litt le click, and then he had a slurp.   He said, “It’s just habit.”  That’s all it was, 

there wasn’t anything wrong.  

Hughes:  I wonder if he sti ll has that.

Ferguson:  Oh, I would imagine.

Hughes:  Talk about eye for detail – or ear for detail, in this case. You ask unusual 

questi ons. During that era – 1961 to 1964 – you’re covering the rise of “Straight Arrow” 

– this bright young Republican engineer, Daniel Jackson  Evans.  Could you spot him as a 

comer right off ?

Ferguson:  Oh yeah, yeah, yeah.

Hughes:  What was it about Dan Evans?

Ferguson:  Oh, well, probably the best thing that would answer that is that Dan lived down 

in  Olympia in a house with a bunch of the other members of the House.  I forget who they 

all were. I remember Jimmy  Andersen, Chuck  Moriarty, Slade  Gorton … four or fi ve of these 

guys rented a house.  And they told me Dan was the only one who made his bed before he 

left  in the morning.  Now that’s Dan Evans.

Hughes:  Att enti on to detail.  Discipline.

Ferguson:  Oh yeah.  Slade was great too.  I really liked Slade Gorton.  He’s a wonderful 

guy. Brilliant  guy.  They were good guys. They talked to me, and they confi ded in me.  Rep. 

Joel  Pritchard (a future GOP congressman and lieutenant governor) was one of that gang.  

Don  Brazier from  Yakima was another of those bright young  Republicans in the Evans era.  

Don was a guy who really believed in public service. And he wasn’t one of those ambiti ous 

guys who’d walk over the top of someone to advance his career.  As a legislator, as a 

deputy att orney general for Slade and then as chairman of the  Uti liti es & Transportati on 

Commission, he lived public service. Back when the energy conservati on thing really 

started, he also kept his offi  ce at about 60 degrees! It was that way at home, too. He made 

the family wear sweaters.

Hughes:  The cumulati ve IQ power in that house must have been really something. I never 
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interviewed anybody I thought was brighter than Slade Gorton.  Do you agree with that, in 

terms of brain power?

Ferguson:  Yeah, I do.  And there’s something else about  Slade, too, despite the fact that 

he’s considered kind of standoffi  sh.  I had every phone number that he had that I needed 

to reach him by.  I had his phone number at  McChord Field; I had his phone number at 

home.  I could call him in the morning when I knew whether he’d gone jogging yet or not.  

He was good.  But he never tolerated small talk. He never sat and gossiped like you and I 

are talking.  It was all business with him.  Nonetheless, if you needed to talk to him about 

something, he was available.  Some of them aren’t that available, but he sure was.  

Hughes:  What was it in that landmark year of 1964, hard on the heels of the Kennedy 

tragedy, and during  LBJ landslide, what is it that propelled young Dan  Evans, at 39, to upset 

Al  Rosellini for governor?

Ferguson:  I don’t know, and I don’t have any columns to look back in because my columns 

only started in ’65.  I have all my columns from ’65 forward.

Hughes:  Your impression then about Dan Evans as an up-and-comer, possibly the next 

governor?

Ferguson:  A lot of this involved John  O’Brien being ousted as Speaker of the House 

in 1963. He’d been speaker since 1955, and Evans, Slade Gorton and some dissident 

conservati ve Democrats wanted to get rid of him.  

Hughes:  Who became Speaker when they ousted O’Brien, Adele?

Ferguson:  Bill  Day, a  Spokane chiropractor. His nickname was “Big Daddy.” My biggest 

scoop was probably when I wrote that they were going to dump O’Brien.  Nobody else 

did.  I found that out and I put it in the paper a week before the session opened. I quoted 

Rep. Bob  Perry, a Democrat from North  Seatt le, as saying, “O’Brien is as dead as last year’s 

garbage. He’s through. He’s fi nished. He is NOT going to get it.” 

Later on,  Perry said to me, “I wish you hadn’t had me saying that.”  

I said, “What do you mean?”  

He said, “Well I mean, it’s really disrespectf ul to say ‘Dump him like last year’s 

garbage.’” 

“You said it!”
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(Editor’s Note: Legislati ve historian Don  Brazier, a longti me friend and admirer of 

Ferguson’s, says she did indeed have a scoop, but she was lucky, too, because Rep.  Perry 

was over-confi dent. The plan to dump  O’Brien wasn’t a done deal unti l the Sunday night 

right before the session started.)  

Hughes: Jim  Dolliver, a Republican staff er who later became Dan  Evans’ chief of staff , 

said O’Brien “didn’t realize what was happening unti l the knife was going in.” You wrote 

that O’Brien was absolutely livid. “In a bitt er outburst that could only be compared to 

that of Richard  Nixon aft er his recent defeat for governor in  California,” O’Brien called 

the maneuver “dishonest and immoral.”  As he “conti nued to rail at the  Republicans and 

 Democrats who’d thwarted him, voices rose and the man who once was king was obviously 

just another House member talking too long.” That’s good writi ng.

Ferguson:  I was the only one that had John O’Brien getti  ng kicked out of offi  ce aft er all 

those years.  He’d been speaker since 1955. The Republicans voted for Evans for speaker, 

then swung their votes to Bill  Day. Another scoop I had was that I also knew it when Dan 

Evans was going to endorse Nelson  Rockefeller for president in 1968. I had that. Nobody 

else had that.  I went in and talked to his folks. They knew it; they didn’t tell me. But I could 

tell it by the way they were talking that that was going to happen.

Hughes: Whenever they want to “roast” you, they always talk about how you were feared. 

At a roast in 1999 someone said that if you were in politi cs you’d pick up the newspaper 

with rapt anti cipati on just wondering what Adele Ferguson had writt en about you.  And 

you said at that ti me, “People who have resented me in the past are being nice to me 

now.  People who have been snott y now go out of their way to come up to me and make 

amends.”  That was when you’d been in  Olympia for 30 years.  Why were you such a 

fearsome person? What was your reputati on built on?

Ferguson:  I found out what was going on.  Ted  Botti  ger would always have litt le classes 

with the new members of the Senate.  He said, “I always tell them there’s just three things 

you want to look out for while you’re down here in Olympia.  And that’s “Adele Ferguson, 

Adele Ferguson, and Adele Ferguson.” 

Hughes:  Well, let’s go back to 1964: So there they were – the bright young guys – Evans, 
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 Gorton,  Pritchard.  And interesti ngly when you look back on Al  Rosellini’s career, and the 

reforming that he did, was there sort of an inference to the Evans campaign that  Al was old 

politi cs – a new day was dawning? (Adele is nodding.)  And here were these bright young 

progressive  Republicans?

Ferguson:  Yep.

Hughes:  Those Evans guys were prett y much  Bull Moosers – prett y liberal Republicans, 

weren’t they?

Ferguson:  Oh yeah. They’re liberals. So is Ralph ( Munro), so is Joel ( Pritchard). They’re all 

liberal Republicans. I mean they’re about as liberal as the  Democrats.  

Hughes:  It’s kind of interesti ng in  Washington State how much someti mes there hasn’t 

been a lot of diff erence between a conservati ve Democrat, like Henry M.  Jackson, and a 

“mainstream” Republican.

Ferguson:  Yeah, like in the Senate, see, Hubert  Donahue was a very conservati ve 

Democrat.  

Here’s something good about Dan  Evans and his staff : I remember a story about Bill 

 Lathrop, an ex-State Patrol guy who was Dan Evans’ driver.  And when he became Evans’ 

driver, Dan told him, “I don’t want you to be sucking up to me.” Well, he didn’t use that 

line, but that was the gist of it. Dan had been an admiral’s aide when he was in the  Navy 

and didn’t like that sort of thing. So one day when they came to town, the two of them 

picked me up and we went down to some event that was going on.  So when they came 

back with the car when it was ti me to leave, Dan was standing there and I said to Bill, 

“Aren’t you going to open the car door for him?”  He said, “There’s nothing wrong with his 

arms!”  

Hughes:  Gov. Evans preferred it that way?

Ferguson:  Oh he did. That’s the way he wanted it.

Hughes:  Dan’s press secretary at one ti me was my former fellow Aberdeen World reporter 

Jay  Fredericksen.  

Ferguson:  Oh, he used to tell me a lot of fun stuff  about Dan.

Hughes:  Jim  Dolliver and Ralph Munro were also very impressive people that I met among 
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Evans’ people in the late 1960s.

Hughes:  Tell me more about the Evans Administrati on.

Ferguson:  They were great.

Hughes:  They were great because?

Ferguson:  Well, he was a smart man; he was a loyal  Republican, and he didn’t fool around.  

Of course he did want an income tax.  I remember when he went on this trip promoti ng the 

income tax. He was going to go all around the state.  They asked me to go with them.  They 

said we’ll make all the arrangements for the hotel rooms and everything. I would pay them 

of course, but they would make it so we were all staying in the same hotel.  There were just 

four of us, I think – Dan  Evans, Bill  Lathrop, his driver, and Jay  Fredericksen. So we got up 

north of  Wenatchee someplace. The four of us got out of the car, and we’re walking down 

the street. A man comes up, he stops, and he looks at us.  And then he goes over to Jay and 

he says, “Isn’t that Adele Ferguson?”  (laughing hearti ly) I thought that was great! He didn’t 

say anything about Dan Evans, the governor.

Hughes:  That’s funny. Let’s skip ahead to 1972 and Dan Evans running for an 

unprecedented third term. Well, it wasn’t unprecedented to run for a third term, but he 

actually won one.  Al  Rosellini, in a debate, referred to Evans as “Danny Boy.”  Al had been 

ahead in the polls. Was that a real turning point in the race?

Ferguson:  Yeah, because it showed a lack of respect for the governor. Al shouldn’t have 

done that.

Hughes:  Do you suppose that was just sort of a knee-jerk reacti on by Al, or somebody put 

him up to it?

Ferguson:  No, I think he just got carried away, and he was sorry later.

Hughes:  Sort of pumping his chest a litt le bit?

Ferguson:  Yeah.

Hughes:  So was that a turning point in that electi on, Adele?

Ferguson:  Well, it was the straw that broke the camel’s back. Evans was gaining.

Hughes:  Did you see any diff erence in that third term of the  Evans Administrati on 

compared to the previous two?
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Ferguson:  No

Hughes:  How would you characterize it?

Ferguson:  Well for me it was just four more years because I knew all the people.  He 

changed a few people.  But he had such good people working for him. His press people 

were good people.

Hughes:  Philosophically some of those reforms that  Dan picked up on were started by Al 

 Rosellini weren’t they?  He made some really signifi cant reforms in state insti tuti ons, didn’t 

he?

Ferguson:  Well, Dan is the one who organized the  Department of Ecology.

Hughes:  And also the  Department of Social & Health Services.  Was that for bett er or 

worse?

Ferguson:  Worse, worse, worse, because eventually they had to start picking it apart 

again.  I mean they jammed all these things together. It didn’t work, so they had to take 

them apart again.  I think Charlie  Elicker (a Republican state senator from  Kitsap County) is 

the one Dan relied upon in the Legislature to come up with the Department of Ecology. 

Hughes: Ralph  Munro says he was standing near the elevator on the Senate fl oor the night 

the bill passed, and Elicker, with a twinkle in his eye, said to you, “Can you spell ‘Ecology’?” 

There had been a fi ght over what to call the agency. Do you have some prett y strong 

environmental feelings, Adele?

Ferguson:  I do not believe that the  United States economy should suff er because some 

people don’t believe global warming is all man-made. There are an awful lot of scienti sts 

who haven’t been heard from, or are not being quoted on what’s causing global warming.  

I agree with  Dixy. Global warming has been around for many, many centuries … It will come 

and go; it will be cold; it will be hot.  Just the other morning I heard some politi cian who 

was saying, “It’s a consensus now that we’re causing all this.”  It is not a consensus. There 

is no consensus yet.  It’s just a whole bunch of people who want to do it that way.  I think 

a lot of these people are looking at it from a money standpoint too, or how much it’s going 

to cost.

By the way, when Evans went back East to announce the  SST with  Nixon, they 
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invited me to go, so I went.  We fl ew back.  But we never got to talk on the plane.  Dan 

reads novels on planes.  He doesn’t talk.  He was reading.  So the rest of us started talking. 

Was it  Jay again?

Hughes:  It might have been Neil  McReynolds,  Evans’ director of communicati ons.

Ferguson:  I think it was Neil.  So at one airport we lost Neil. He was a making a phone call 

back home for something and the plane took off  without him.  

Hughes:  Kind of like leaving your litt le brother behind.

Ferguson:  So we got to  Washington, D.C., and I had a room in the  Mayfl ower.  Dan always 

let  Lathrop make the arrangement for them because Lathrop always had the smaller 

expense account.  So he put him in kind of a cheap hotel ….   And the next morning  … we 

agreed to meet for breakfast.  And I take a taxi over to their hotel. Now they’ve got a car 

provided for them, and we drive down to have breakfast before we go up to the White 

House.  So we get into this litt le restaurant, and aft er we eat, Dan starts to butt on his coat 

and the butt on comes off .  

 So he said to Jay and to Bill, “Have you got a needle and thread?”  And then he 

looked at me.  And I said, “Yes, I have a needle and thread.”  And it turned out to be the 

 Washington State Labor Council sewing kit.  (laughs)  So I said, “I will sew this on only if you 

swear that you will never tell anybody that I did this.”  OK, they all swore.  So I sewed the 

butt on back on.  

Then we went up to the  White House, and we get just inside the gate. The guard at 

the second gate says, “Let’s see your identi fi cati on.”  Now my identi fi cati on is my driver’s 

license. It says  Philipsen on it.  

He says, “Who’s this Philipsen?”  

And I said, “Well that’s me. That just happens to be my married name.” 

And he says, “Well, I have to see something that says Ferguson.”  

I said, “I don’t know if I have anything like that, because I’m identi fi ed by my 

married name.”   

“Well,” he said, “you can’t go in.”  

And Dan said, “Well, I’m the governor of the State of Washington, and she’s with us; 
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she’s going in with us for this announcement about the  SST. 

The guys says (moti oning with his thumb back toward the gate), “No she’s not. She 

has to go back out to the fi rst gate.”

So now the ti me is going by.  So those three, the governor and his aides, they go on 

up and leave me. I go back down to the fi rst gate.  And I’m down there trying to explain to 

this guy who Philipsen and Ferguson are when this big black limousine drives up. It’s Scoop 

 Jackson.  “Adele!” he says, “How are you?”  And I said, “Scoop, for God’s sake, will you 

inform this guy who I am so I can get in?”  

“Fine,” he said, “she’s OK by me.”  

The guy says, “OK, you can go in.”  

I thought, well, that’s something: The  Republican governor could not get me in the 

 Nixon White House.  But Scoop Jackson, a  Democrat, can get me in just like that.  So I ran 

on up there.  Tom  Pelly was then a congressman so he got me a seat in the back of the 

room. There was sti ll a seat vacant.  He had a picture taken of me sitti  ng — you can only 

see my back and side, except there I am and there’s Nixon and  Evans and everybody.

Hughes:  Great story. We skipped something: Who ran against Dan Evans in 1968?  John J. 

 O’Connell?

Ferguson:  Oh yeah.

Hughes:  He was our Democrat Att orney General for three terms.

Ferguson:  Oh, they had the goods on him from the start.

Hughes:  Yeah, about what?

Ferguson:  Well, his gambling – Wasn’t it is gambling that got him? … I could look it all up 

back in my column. 

(Editor’s Note: During the campaign, The  Seatt le Times revealed that the att orney general, 

whose reputati on for integrity rivaled Evans’, had a line of credit at  Las Vegas casinos.)

Ferguson: Speaking of staff , I saw Sen. Warren  Magnuson’s wife mad just once.

Hughes:  Jermaine was it?

Ferguson:  Jermaine  Magnuson, yeah.  Lt. Gov. John  Cherberg had Sen. Magnuson and 

some other people in his offi  ce.  And I was big pal of Cherberg’s. Well, we had drinks 

together.
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 Maggie was there and his wife was really ti cked because he had dandruff  all over his 

shoulders.  It was her feeling that his staff  should have seen to it that he didn’t have any 

dandruff  on his shoulders when he arrived.  Oh,  she was mad. … And Maggie was so good.  

Any ti me he came to The  Sun when I was there he’d come into my offi  ce, over the editors, 

and he’d say, “Adele, we just want to stop by and see you, see how you were.”

Hughes:  Of course he had Norm  Dicks as an aide, right there at the hem of his garment, 

learning those lessons.

Ferguson:  Well, Norm’s a good congressman, but you know what they say about Norm, 

which is true. When you’re shaking hands with him he’s always looking over your shoulder 

to see if somebody bett er is coming along.  (Laughing)

Hughes:  Norm would love that one.  … But you regard him as a good congressman?

Ferguson:  Well, he’s the pork barrel – he gets the pork.  That’s what makes a good 

congressman.

Hughes:  Does Norm Dicks have good staff  people?

Ferguson:  Yeah, he does. Norm’s a good guy. 

By the way, I was a big buddy of John  Cherberg’s.  His wife didn’t come down on 

Monday nights. She came down on Tuesdays.  So that left  him and  Orlando, his driver—

Hughes:  Excuse my need for a history lesson, but was Cherberg always lieutenant 

governor?

Ferguson:  Well, he was a football coach at the  University of Washington (1953-55) and 

then lieutenant governor for 32 years, from 1957 to 1989. My  husband and I went on a 

number of trade missions with Cherberg.  You pay your own way.  But the thing you get out 

of it is you get invited to these big dinners and stuff .  So we went a lot of places.  I talked 

him into going to  Egypt. I always wanted to see the pyramids!  I’m glad we went. 

… But as I was saying, everyone ended up in Cherberg’s offi  ce at day’s end.

Hughes:  What kind of guy was he?

Ferguson:  He was a great guy.  He was a super patriot and stuff .  But he could get annoyed. 

He was standing on the rostrum one ti me and one of the speakers got up and said, “Well, 

I can’t give my speech if the TV cameras aren’t on.”  So Cherberg waved to the TV guy in 
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the corner and said to turn the TV cameras on.  The guy had a pipe in his hand and pointed 

up to show  Cherberg that the lights weren’t on, and it wouldn’t do any good to turn the 

TV on because you couldn’t see.  Cherberg thought he was giving him “the fi nger.”  He 

rushed down there and grabbed him and the guy had to explain that it was just his pipe.  

(laughing)

Hughes:  That’s funny.  So could you have a cocktail at the “Ledge” Building?

Ferguson:  Oh sure. I had cocktails there all the ti me.  And also the Speaker of the House 

always had cocktails once a week, and the Minority Leader had cocktails once a week.  In 

the Senate, even Jeannett e  Hayner, who doesn’t drink, had cocktails once a week when she 

was majority leader – and dip and potato chips, you know.  

Hughes:  Was that prett y much press corps and legislators?  Were there lobbyists in there?

Ferguson:  No lobbyists.  Just press.  And the whole idea was that you could ask questi ons 

that you wouldn’t ask otherwise.

Hughes: So were you doing a column for The  Sun as well as news reporti ng at the same 

ti me?

Ferguson:  Yeah, I was.

Hughes:  Was that a ti ghtrope, hard to walk, when you’re doing straight news reporti ng?

Ferguson:  It got me up early in the morning, I’ll tell you that.

Hughes:  That is a really hard thing to do, to keep respect on both sides of that line – when 

you’re covering a story about how the delegati on’s doing, covering the governor, and then 

you’re writi ng your own opinions.

Ferguson:  Well, it was supposed to be diff erent, and I tried to keep them diff erent.

 Hughes:  Did you know my friend Bob  Bailey of South Bend, a lunch-bucket Democrat who 

served in the Senate?  A great newspaper man, too, by the way.  

Ferguson:  Yeah, he was a great guy. I loved Bob.  The caucus was always mad at Red  Beck 

because they thought Red Beck was telling me everything that happened in the caucus.  

Well, he was, but so was Bob Bailey.  … He trusted me.  I didn’t ever use anything that I 

thought was going to hurt somebody.  You know what I mean?  

Hughes:  Yes, I do.
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Ferguson:  Get them in trouble for it. … I know some big secrets today that I’d never be 

able to write, or tell.  

Hughes:  You’ll take those to your grave, will you, some of those secrets?

Ferguson:  Yeah.

Hughes:  Is there real smoking gun stuff ?

Ferguson:  Oh yeah.

Hughes:  Well, what’s the general nature of it?  Is it about graft , corrupti on—?

Ferguson:  No, it’s about — (long pause)

Hughes:  Sleeping around?

Ferguson:  Yeah, that kind of stuff . 

Hughes:  That’s an interesti ng thing, too, about the way things have changed in the press 

corps, isn’t it?  It’s well documented about Jack  Kennedy’s dalliances, and the like. … And 

we in the media oft en had a gentleman’s, gentlewoman’s agreement to not print that sort 

of thing back then.  Was that the way it was in  Olympia?

Ferguson:  Yes.  Well, I don’t know that that’s the way it was. Maybe they didn’t know it.  

But some of the things I know, I don’t know who else knows it.

Hughes:  But if Senator Smith were having an aff air with Aide Jill or whatever, was that just 

sort of viewed by the press corps as consenti ng adults?

Ferguson:  Well, I think it was viewed by “What good would it do you to write it?  What 

have you gained?  It isn’t anything that anybody has to know.”  It isn’t anybody’s business 

if it doesn’t aff ect their work. That’s the way I felt.  If these guys want to run around or 

get drunk or whatever, as long as it didn’t aff ect their job as representi ng the people, or if 

they were a doorman handling the door, or whatever they were doing.  I don’t care what 

anybody does if they don’t let it aff ect their work as the people are paying them to do. 

Hughes:  Tell me again about the advice you gave to anyone coming to Olympia for the fi rst 

ti me.

Ferguson:  Well anybody coming to Olympia for the fi rst ti me I told them, “Everybody 

down there is related to somebody else who is there – I mean the doorman, the legislators 

and all.  So whatever you say, they’re just dying to go and tell that person that you said it.  
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So you’ve got to be very 

careful.” Marti n  Durkan, 

he used to complain to me 

about a reporter.  He said, 

“I don’t know what good it 

does me.  I try to tell him 

and explain something 

to him, and he just gets 

it wrong and screws it up 

every ti me.”  I said, “What 

do you talk to him for 

then?!  Just let him alone, don’t talk to him.  And prett y soon his boss will want to know 

why he never has you in his story and then you can tell him, ‘Well because the son of a 

bitch always reports me wrong.’”  

Everybody down there is related to somebody and dying to have something to go 

report.  And it’s a gossip factory, it just grows gossip.

Of course you know the old story about when the State Patrol had the right to 

stop cars for no reason.  They could just pull cars over, and say “Let’s check the next 10 

cars.”  And the reason they had to quit that is because they stopped a car that had a very 

prominent (lawmaker) in it, who was not with his wife.  .. I always thought during all the 

 Walgren (“ Gamscam”) stuff  that some of those State Patrol men would talk because they 

were in the car with  Dixy and some of the other people who were out to get Gordon 

Walgren and John  Bagnariol.  There’s some untold stuff  there, but nobody has done it.

Hughes:  We might as well skip ahead because I know you have very vivid memories of that 

incident and some strong opinions as well.  This is the so-called “Gamscam” case in 1980.  

It involves Gordon Walgren, majority leader of the State Senate …

Ferguson:  And John Bagnariol (the co-speaker of the House) …

Hughes:  And then there was the lobbyist.

Ferguson:  Pat  Gallagher.

Adele with Frank “Buster” Brouillet, state superintendant of 
public instructi on, at a ceremony in the Senate Chambers, 1980s

Adele Ferguson Collecti on
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Hughes:  Tell us all about that. What did they accuse those fellows of doing?

Ferguson:  They accused them of conniving with members of the suspected mob to advance 

gambling in the state.  

(Editor’s Note: A federal racketeering indictment charged that they conspired with 

undercover FBI agents posing as organized crime fi gures to allow gambling in  Washington in 

return for a share of the profi ts.)

And how they ever got  Gordon (indicted), I don’t know, because he refused their 

money, turned down their fi ve thousand bucks.  And the only thing they got him on was 

answering a phone call that came across state lines, but he didn’t know it.  I thought it was 

really rott en the way they got him.  But I noti ced that everybody who got involved in it later 

– the Supreme Court, the  Bar Associati on, all these people, including Justi ce Jim  Dolliver, who 

wrote the opinion for the Supreme Court … couldn’t fi gure out how Gordon Walgren was 

considered to be in on this. Of course, he was targeted in the scam by the  FBI because he was 

the majority leader in the Senate. And  Dixy thought he was going to run against her instead 

of for att orney general.  

Hughes:  You’re convinced that Gov. Dixy Lee Ray was getti  ng the goods on these guys in a 

Nixonian way because she saw them as rivals?

Ferguson:  Well, the U.S. Att orney, John  Merkel, was the guy who kept it going when the FBI 

tried to drop Gordon out of the scam because they couldn’t get anything on him. Merkel told 

them, “Get something.” Gordon found that out when he got an order to go through the FBI 

fi les aft er he got out of prison. He found the memos from the FBI to Merkel.

Merkel and Gordon were both from over here ( Kitsap County).  And Merkel’s father 

was the prosecuti ng att orney here.  And then aft er he died, they wanted Merkel’s law 

partner named prosecuti ng att orney, and Gordon got that job instead.  So they were out 

to get Gordon.  And Dixy of course thought  Bagnariol was going to run against her, while 

Walgren was considering running for att orney general. But she thought both of them might 

run against her. And I always thought, boy, one of these days maybe one of those State Patrol 

men riding in Dixy’s car will tell.  But nobody has yet.

Hughes:  That would really be something wouldn’t it?
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Ferguson:  Oh yeah, because I imagine they heard a lot from  Dixy and her sister riding in the 

car.

Hughes:  Tell me about 1979 when Democrat John  Bagnariol and Republican Duane  Berentson 

were co-Speakers of the House in the 49-49 ti e. That must have been a moveable feast for you.

Ferguson:  Oh they got along OK.  Bagnariol had a terribly hot temper.  He’d snap at you for no 

reason, and then he’d apologize for it because he didn’t really mean to do it. He was just mad 

about something else.  He did that to me a couple ti mes, but he always apologized.  And he was 

a good guy.  

Hughes:  Had you known Gordon  Walgren well before all this?

Ferguson:  Oh yeah, sure, because he was my editor’s best friend. (Gene  Gisley was back at The 

 Sun as editor.)

Hughes:  You had a strong feeling that Walgren was innocent.  How would you characterize him 

as a legislator?

Ferguson:  He was a good legislator.  He stopped a lot of eff orts to raise fares on the ferries, and 

stuff  like that.  He was a good legislator.

Hughes:  So you had a column, and you made it clear that you felt that Walgren had gott en a 

bum rap?

Ferguson:  Oh yeah.  But before all this happened, I wrote a number of columns about Walgren 

because he was in a positi on where he made news.  And yet, when one of his people came 

to me and said, “We’re trying to fi nd something that you’ve writt en at some ti me that’s good 

about Gordon so we can run it.”  And they couldn’t because everything I’d done had been more 

criti cal than favorable.  Yet I liked Gordon fi ne.  By the way, something happened then and I 

never have found out who did it.  Someday I hope I do.  Somebody down there was trying to 

break me up with Gordon and with Gene Gisley. I mean make Gisley mad enough to fi re me 

and Gordon mad enough to not talk to me anymore.  And I never found out who it was … I just 

know that it was happening.

Hughes:  And the moti ve there would have been?

Ferguson:  So I wouldn’t see that they were shadowing Gordon and  Gamscam. It was part of 

the Gamscam.
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Hughes:  That’s fascinati ng.

Ferguson:  And I know  Gene at one point called me into his offi  ce, and he was just irate.  And he 

said, “I hear that you’ve been bad-mouthing me down in  Olympia.”  

And I said, “Gene, I’ve never bad-mouthed you any place.”  

And he said, “Well then I’m told that.”  

And I said, “Let me tell you something, Gene. Even if I wanted to, I’m too smart to do 

that.  Do you think I’m going to go down there and do that?  Everybody down there is related 

to everybody else.  You don’t dare say that a doorman there is a big jerk because the person 

you’re talking to might be his niece or nephew.  Everybody is related, and it’s a big, big bear’s 

nest.  And so I wouldn’t do that.  I had no reason to bad mouth you.”  Same thing with  Gordon, 

they were trying to break me up with Gordon because they were afraid, I’m told, that I would 

see what they were doing because the State Patrol was shadowing Gordon … Of course  Dixy 

was involved in all this, and John  Merkel, the U.S. Att orney. It was really a tough thing.  But 

I stuck by Gordon all the way through. In later years, it was (sti ll) bad at my paper because 

we had a new editor and he didn’t like Gordon.  I even wrote a column one ti me saying that 

Gordon had gone to  Yellowstone Park for a trip with his wife. He was out of prison.  And he had 

gone for a trip and when he came back, he stopped by to see me.  And he was telling me what 

it was like.  And I said, “Well, a lot of people might be thinking about going to Yellowstone and 

you can tell me what areas are not burned up by the forest fi re and how things are.”  It made 

a good column, but it didn’t come out in the paper.  And I went in and I asked the new editor, 

“What happened to my column about Gordon and Yellowstone Park?”  He said, “We don’t need 

to have anything in our newspaper about people like that.”  All Gordon had done was tell me 

what was burned up and what wasn’t, and what the places were like that you could stay.  It was 

an interesti ng column for somebody who might want to go to Yellowstone.  And this SOB has to 

say, “Well, we don’t need anything in our paper about people like that.”

Hughes:  Give me your take on Dixy Lee Ray, our fi rst female governor. She and Jimmy  Carter 

took offi  ce in 1976. Talk about strange bedfellows.

Ferguson:  She really could have been a wonderful governor, and I don’t know what kept her 

from it so much.  She was a brilliant woman.  She’s the one I listened to on climate change. I 
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don’t listen to all these other crappy people who think the United States is poisoning the 

whole world.   Dixy said, “Baloney.”

Hughes:  When you heard her talk about nuclear power you knew she knew her stuff .

Ferguson:  Oh yeah, I’ve got both of her books as a matt er of fact.  She gave them to me 

one day.  I went to hear her speak at something in  Bremerton.  I went up and shook her 

hand.  So she said, “Do you have my books?”  And I said, “No.”  And she said, “Well here, 

let me give them to you.”  So she got the books and she wrote something in one of them, 

and I didn’t look at it.  Then I looked at it later. In one book she wrote, “To Adele, with 

many, many memories.”

 It didn’t say nice memories, or good memories.  But she was great.  One of the 

last ti mes I talked to her was aft er  Jacques died – that was her favorite dog.  I had an 

appointment with her in her offi  ce, and she was sitti  ng behind her desk. I sat down and 

pulled a chair up in front of her desk.  And I put my feet forward like this, and then I pulled 

them back real quick.  And she said, “Oh you don’t have to worry. He’s not under there 

anymore.”  Tears came to my eyes; tears came to her eyes. We sat there and cried together, 

because we both loved dogs so much, you know.

Hughes:  So where did she go wrong, Adele?

Ferguson:  I used to write that she behaved like an old maid school teacher.  In her college 

classes, I was told, if anybody sort of spoke up when they weren’t supposed to or got too 

smart she’d say, “Out!”  And they had to go.  That was the kind of person she was.  You 

know, they don’t suff er fools gladly?  She didn’t suff er fools at all.  And she was that way. 

 You knew Lou  Guzzo, the former  Seatt le P-I managing editor who became her aide?

Hughes:  Yes, I did.

Ferguson:  Well Louie Guzzo wrote me a lett er here a couple years aft er Dixy had died 

(in 1994).  And he said, “You know one thing I always regrett ed, Adele, was that I never 

got you and Dixy together to be friends.  I know that you would have been good friends 

because she respected you, and you respected her, but it just didn’t work out.”  He’s 

writt en me once since, when I write something about her. I sti ll write about her once in 

a while.  I quote her on climate change all the ti me. What she said was what a jackass Al 
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 Gore was and all this kind of stuff .  She was a good speaker. She was just mesmerizing.

Hughes:  Were you there covering that fateful  State Democrati c Conventi on at the 

 Hoquiam High School gymnasium (in 1980)?

Ferguson:  Oh yeah,  Dixy’s run-in with Sen. Warren  Magnuson.  I was there.

Hughes:  Dixy had crossed Maggie and he was PO’d! That was Maggie at his Maggiest, 

not ready to be shuffl  ed off  to reti rement and outraged that the governor was shopping 

around for his successor.

Ferguson:  Yep.  Maggie was great.  I always liked Maggie bett er than Scoop ( Jackson) 

because, for one thing, Maggie’s people were diff erent kind of people.  Scoop’s people 

were all hot shots.  Al  Rosellini’s staff ers were also people who wanted to be big shots.  

When he defeated Al in 1964, Dan Evans had staff  who just wanted  Dan to be the big shot. 

They were good. Dan had wonderful, wonderful staff .  And they’d tell you lots of stuff .  

They trusted me to tell me stuff  that they knew I couldn’t print, but to know it helps.  So 

they were good, and Dan Evans was a good governor. 

Hughes:  What do you think was the key factor in Dixy Lee Ray’s rise to power in 1976?  

What was it about her?

Ferguson:  She was a brilliant woman.  The fi rst ti me I ever met her I went to a luncheon.  

She was going to speak here in  Bremerton.  So I went up to her and said, “Hi Dixy, I’m Adele 

Ferguson.  I’m here to hear you speak.”  

She got her purse out and started to go over and pay for my lunch.  

I said, “You don’t have to pay for my lunch.”  

She said, “I don’t?”  

“No,” I said, “my newspaper will pay for my lunch.”  

She thought she had to pay for my lunch when I was interviewing her.

Hughes:  She was kind of a politi cal naïf?

Ferguson:  Oh yeah.  And so when people asked her questi ons, she’d say, “I don’t know the 

answer to that, but I’ll fi nd out.  And if you give me your number I’ll see that you get the 

answer.”  That’s the way she was, see.

Hughes:  Did she follow up?
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Ferguson:  Oh yeah.  And later on, I used to speak a lot around the state. I don’t do so 

much anymore, but one ti me I spoke to the  Bellevue  Republican women.  When  Dixy got 

there, she was ti cked off  because she wasn’t being respected the way she thought she 

ought to be.  So she kind of got a litt le carried away on some of the things she did … A 

lot of things that she did, she just sort of did out of spite.  A lot of women are like that. I 

suppose I can be that way too, be spiteful about something.  And she was a litt le spiteful.  

That’s where she ran afoul of the media … At that fi rst press conference where they made 

fun of her.  And she was humiliated by it.  

Hughes:  You really think she had the room bugged?

Ferguson:  Oh yeah.  John  Spellman had it bugged too.  Yeah, I think they’ve always had it 

bugged so they could hear what the people were saying while they’re waiti ng for them to 

come out.

Hughes:  That’s an interesti ng aside.  We know the downfall of Richard Milhous  Nixon 

was—

Ferguson:  They should have burnt the tapes!

Hughes:  Do you think that Washington governors and some others were surrepti ti ously 

doing some tape recording?

Ferguson:  Oh yeah.

Hughes:  Fascinati ng.  Did that in any way come out in the open?

Ferguson:  No, not that I know of.  I wrote about Dixy’s fi rst press conference when they 

were running her down, insulti ng her, and acti ng like she was just a dumb old lady. She 

was so mad at that one, no more press conferences. We didn’t have a press conference for 

quite a while because she was so ti cked off . 

(Editor’s Note: Gordon  Schultz, the former longti me UPI reporter at the  Capitol, 

has this observati on:   “I don’t think the conference room was bugged as such (like hidden 

mics etc.).  What happened was the conference room was remodeled while Dan  Evans 

was governor and they wired in a mike so the TV cameras could tap in and the press offi  ce 

could record what was said for the purpose of making transcripts that were distributed 

aft er each press conference.  They may well have heard what was going on before the 
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press conference started as well.  But again, I don’t think the microphone was hidden. It 

was there in plain sight.” We asked Ferguson to comment on this and she declared, “I sti ll 

think it was bugged!”)

Hughes:  So it’s 1977 and you’re now a senior member of the capitol press corps. Did you 

get any of those guys together and say, “God, fellas —

Ferguson:  I told them while I was sitti  ng there!  I told them while they were busy bad 

mouthing her.  I said, “Hey guys, I’ll bet this place is bugged.  I bet she’s sitti  ng in there 

listening to this in front of her desk.  And you’ll be sorry.”  “Ahahahahaha,” you know, 

“funny, funny.”  Well, it wasn’t funny because she did hear it all.

Hughes:  So it all unravels for  Dixy, and John  Spellman, the  Republican King County 

Executi ve, becomes governor, 1980.

Ferguson:  I liked John Spellman OK. … I thought he was a very nice guy.  But he was shy; 

he was a very shy guy.  One of the people who worked at the press house – young guy, I 

forget his name now – but he worked there and he cleaned it up ….  He used to come in 

and sit and talk to me in the morning.  You can learn an awful lot from the janitors.  He told 

me that he would be out walking along in the morning and he’d run into Spellman with his 

bodyguard.  He would say hello to the governor, and Spellman wouldn’t answer back.  So I 

always thought that was unusual for John to not answer one of the employees when they 

just say, “Good morning, Governor.”

Hughes:  And you think that that was because he was shy?

Ferguson:  Well I like to say that, yeah. Now, speaking of janitors, Marti n  Durkan 

( Democrati c state senator from  Renton and chairman of the  Ways & Means Committ ee) 

had janitors in his employ.  They would check the trash sacks every evening in front of 

the governor’s offi  ce, and from other various offi  ces.  So he got to look at an awful lot of 

paperwork that came out of people’s offi  ces that nobody knew he was getti  ng.

Hughes:  They didn’t have shredders back then?

Ferguson:  No.

Hughes:  Did you ever do any Dumpster diving yourself?

Ferguson:  I don’t think so.  I can’t remember if I had any reason to.
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Hughes:  What was your view of Marti n  Durkan?

Ferguson:  He was a brilliant guy and somehow he just wasn’t at the right place at the 

right ti me I guess in his desire to become governor. … For one thing, his brother told me, 

“You ought to see this guy’s back.  He was so badly wounded in the war you just wouldn’t 

believe it.” … I’d go and talk to Marti n, and the minute I’d go in his offi  ce and sit down, he’d 

turn the radio on.  Well, that was to drown out any listening things.  He was suspicious, and 

he was right: He was being listened to.  When the phone rang – what do they call that thing 

that records the numbers? It doesn’t record the conversati on, but somebody can fi nd out 

everybody who’s calling in and calling out by whatever this process is.  And Durkan found 

out that Bob  Greive’s right-hand man, George  Martonik, was monitoring his calls.

Hughes:  R.R. “Bob” Greive of  King County, the Senate majority leader?

Ferguson:  Yeah. He and Durkan hated each other. Durkan helped dump Greive as majority 

leader. I wrote about all this stuff . It’s all been in the paper, so it isn’t anything  that new. 

What I haven’t writt en about I’m not going to tell you anyway!

Hughes:  What an autobiography you could write.

Ferguson:  What I really ought to do is publish some of my columns.

Hughes:  That would be an  Olympia best seller.  Given the new technology, you don’t have 

to publish fi ft een or twenty-thousand books.  You can do a run of three, four, fi ve-thousand 

and sell it for a decent price without having to make a big investment.

Ferguson: Another litt le story I wanted to tell you is about Bob Greive. We were friends. 

But then we had a big falling out. 

Hughes:  What was that over?

Ferguson:  Well, because I didn’t like what he was doing. When he collected money from 

various interests for candidates, he only used it for candidates who would vote for him for 

majority leader.  He didn’t use it to elect Democrats, or anything like that.  He used it to 

elect people who had to swear to him that they’d vote for him for majority leader. That’s 

how he stayed majority leader.  But when we were sti ll friends he asked me one ti me to be 

on a panel of people to ask questi ons of a candidate he was backing.  I said, “I don’t drive 

up to  Seatt le, Bob.”  
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He said, “You can go with me, it’s no problem at all.  I’ll drive up there, we’ll go up 

there right aft er session, the thing is going to be at 7:30, I’ll come right back and you’ll be 

home at a decent ti me.”   

So I said, “Well, OK.”  So later on I was talking to, I think with Limey  Flynn, a 

longti me lobbyist.  And I said, “I’m going to go be on this panel up in Seatt le for Bob  Greive. 

I’m going to ride up with Bob.”  

And he said, “You’re going to ride with Bob Greive?” 

I said, “Yeah.”  And he said, “Bob Greive has got to be the worst driver in the State 

of Washington.  I wouldn’t ride down to the corner with Bob Greive.” 

 I said, “Well, geez, thanks a lot!  I’m going to go up to Seatt le with Bob Greive.”  

And he said, “Isn’t there anyone else going up that you can go with?”  

I said, “I don’t know but I’ll fi nd out.”  So I went around and found out Marti n 

 Durkan was going to be on the panel.  So I went to Durkan and said, “Limey’s really worried 

about me driving up there with Bob Greive.”  And Marti n said, “Forget it.  You’ll go with 

me.  I’ve got to go up anyway.  I’ll go up right aft er work, we’ll sit through the panel and 

we’ll come right straight back, and it won’t be any problem.”  

“Oh God,” I said, “Thank you.”  Then I went back to Limey and I said, “Well, Limey, 

I took your advice.  I got somebody else to ride up to Seatt le with.”  And he said, “I am so 

glad to hear that, Adele.  You know, the only guy down here who’s a worse driver than Bob 

Greive is Marti n Durkan!”  (Uproarious laughter)  Well, it turned out that they cancelled 

the thing. Later, I was invited over to Seatt le to Durkan’s house a number of ti mes.  Durkan 

would pick me up at the ferry, and he was a terrible driver.

Hughes: Tell me about the Pete  von Reichbauer switch from Democrat to Republican in 

1981, which switched control of the Senate from D to R for the fi rst ti me in 26 years.  Did 

you know von Reichbauer?  She’s nodding.  

Ferguson:  He lived kind of a strange life because it ran in his family that the men in his 

family died young, like in their forti es or something.  So this was always the story about 

Pete.  But of course he did what he did because Spellman got elected governor and 

 Spellman was his big buddy.  He’s sti ll a King County Council member, so he’s successful.
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Hughes:  So how would characterize John  Spellman?

Ferguson:  I think he was competent and honest; he was just not innovati ve, I guess.   Evans 

was innovati ve;  Rosellini was somewhat innovati ve.  I knew one of his good friends who 

said one ti me, “You and I together, we could write a book about Al Rosellini that will sell a 

million copies.”  I said, “I want to live to be an old lady, so, no.”  (laughing)

Hughes:  By the way, I heard that you like to fi sh.

Ferguson:  Oh yeah!

Hughes:  What is it about fi shing you like?

Ferguson:  I just like it, I like catching them. 

Hughes:  What do you catch?

Ferguson:  Salmon, but there’s not much salmon out here anymore.

Hughes:  Gov. Spellman said that he went fi shing with you a couple of ti mes.

Ferguson:  He did.  We were both guests of  Bremerton Mayor  Glenn Jarstad at  Westport. 

Spellman and I have the same fault fi shing.  We start to step back from the rail. You’re not 

supposed to do that.  When you hook a fi sh, you’re supposed to stay there and fi sh from 

there.  But he does this like me, he starts a step back.  He was fun on the boat.  What did 

he say?

Hughes:  I said, “Tell me about the business about 

Adele having this fearsome reputati on and being 

warned to stay away from her and all that.”  And 

he said something to the eff ect, “Adele was 

always fair in what she wrote about me in her 

column.  Mean, but always fair.”

Ferguson:  You know, Al Rosellini told me one 

ti me, he said, “You know Adele, you always 

stabbed me in the front.”  And when Dave 

 Ammons wrote the story about me that was in the paper (in 1991 

when she’d been at the Capitol for 30 years) he quoted it as coming from Dan Evans.

Hughes:  Oh, it was Al who actually said that?

This is the photo that ran with Adele’s column in the 1980s.

Daily World archives
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Ferguson:  It was Al.  So next ti me I saw Dan Evans I said, “Say Dan, that quote about you in 

there about ‘you always stab me in the front,’ they got that wrong because that was really 

Al Rosellini.”  You know what Dan said?  “Well, I wish I’d said it.”

Hughes:  So what was the downfall of John Spellman?  Why four years later, in 1984, did 

Booth  Gardner – “Booth Who?” they said at fi rst –  come out of the woodwork to beat 

 Spellman? What was it about that?

Ferguson:  Well, the economy went sour and Booth was a really engaging person.  He had 

a reputati on as a shrewd businessman and an outstanding administrator. He was Pierce 

County executi ve and a new face.  I know a lot about Booth Gardner.  

Hughes:  Have you seen him lately?

Ferguson:  No, I’ve only seen pictures of him.  How is he doing?

Hughes:  He’s fi ghti ng  Parkinson’s Disease. It’s hard to see him diminished.  You knew him 

way bett er than I, but I had lunch or dinner with him several ti mes when he was governor. 

Ferguson:  Did you order off  the bott om of the menu?

Hughes:  Usually he was ordering a hamburger. 

Ferguson:  That’s what he always had when he ate with me.  First, he used to be one of 

my  Kitsap legislators. He was a 26th District Senator.  So he’d invite me out to lunch or 

dinner, and we’d go and he’d always order a cheeseburger. So I fi gured he must not have 

any money or anything, so I’d order something cheap too.  And I said something one ti me 

to Jack  Pyle from The  Tacoma News Tribune.  I said, “Jesus Christ, this guy never has any 

money. He always orders the cheapest thing on the menu.”  

 “Well,” Jack says, “the thing about Booth is that he’s got so much money that he 

wants to spend yours to make up for it.”  

So from then on and the next ti me I got invited out, I ordered from the top of the 

menu, and I ate big.  I thought to heck with that; I’m not going to eat any more of these 

damn cheeseburgers!

Hughes:  I saw Governor Gardner at the sayonara party when David  Ammons left  the  AP to 

become communicati ons director for Secretary of State  Sam Reed.  It was good to see him.  

It was clear that he is sti ll very bright, but he wasn’t voluble like he used to be.  That’s one 
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of the debilitati ng things about the disease. It zaps your energy.  

By the way, how do you feel about the  “Death with Dignity” issue that’s on the 

ballot this year?  Gov. Gardner is a key spokesman for the issue.

Ferguson:  I’m not ready to vote for something like that.  

Hughes:  Do you see the  “Death with Dignity” thing as sort of a slippery slope?

Ferguson:  Yeah.  It kind of bothers me. 

(Editor’s note: The assisted suicide issue passed handily on Nov. 4, 2008)

Hughes:  You knew Booth  Gardner before he became governor.  Characterize what kind of 

an executi ve and a politi cian he was.

Ferguson:  He had a much bigger reputati on than he deserved, thanks to people like me 

who should have known bett er.

Hughes:  In the spring of 1982, you wrote one of the early columns about him emerging 

on the statewide scene. “Booth Gardner,” you wrote. “Remember the name. … He may 

very well be the rising star of the  Democrati c Party in this state. … He could be your next 

governor.”

Ferguson:  Yeah, and he impressed me, but he wasn’t really all that he was (cracked up to 

be).  Greg  Barlow was the guy.  Barlow had worked for Booth’s stepfather, Norton  Clapp, in 

the 1970s.

Hughes:  Barlow became a  Nati onal Guard general, right?

Ferguson:  Yep, The General.  Greg Barlow ran  Pierce County for Booth as his chief of staff . 

The fi rst ti me aft er Booth was elected Pierce County Executi ve in 1980, why Greg went in 

and called a meeti ng of all the department heads, took out the car keys to his county car, 

and laid them on the table.  And he said, “There. We don’t all need these county cars.”  

So everybody else had to pull out their keys and laid them down.   And that’s how they 

started.  Greg ran the county for Booth and Booth got all the credit.  I was the only one that 

didn’t know any bett er unti l I found out later.  But I wrote one ti me that he had this guy 

working for him who was spending his money wildly. I forget who the guy was.  But I wrote 

and said this guy is going to spend everything Booth’s got before he’s through.  I was going 

through the Legislati ve Building when here comes this really handsome silver-haired guy 
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in uniform, and it’s Greg Barlow.  So he said, “You’re Adele Ferguson?”  And I said, “Yeah.”  

And he said, “I just want to thank you for the column you wrote about this guy spending all 

of Booth’s money.  I just went down yesterday and picked up his checkbook.”

Hughes:  What was the guy spending the money on – campaign stuff ?

Ferguson:  Well, not really.  He was blowing the money, you know what I mean?  He was 

supposed to be helping run the campaign on Booth’s money, but he was blowing it.  In the 

column I wrote about it I was saying the crap he was doing.  I don’t remember the specifi cs 

now. When you write fi ve columns a week for so many years they start to blend together.

Hughes:  OK.  So now we’re in the   Gardner Administrati on.  It’s 1985. What’s the hallmark 

of the Gardner Administrati on in state government?

Ferguson:  Nothing.  The governor spent most of his ti me running around visiti ng kids in 

classrooms and saying, “Do you know who I am?”  Ah, he did very litt le.  And the fi rst thing 

he wanted to do when he got elected was raise the sales tax.  He was not a good governor.  

What he should have done was take Greg  Barlow with him, like when he was in Pierce 

County.  But he couldn’t do that because Norm Dicks didn’t like Greg Barlow.  Norm  Dicks 

talked Booth out of bringing Greg Barlow.

Hughes:  I didn’t realize that Norm Dicks was so infl uenti al with Booth Gardner.

Ferguson:  Oh yeah. Well aft er all,  Pierce County is in his district. … He was big buddies 

with Booth.

Hughes:  You also had a front row seat to watch the rise of young Gary  Locke as a legislator.

Ferguson:  Yeah, and I always liked Gary Locke.

Hughes:  He always returned reporter’s calls, that’s for sure.

Ferguson:  He’s a nice guy.  And he did go together with Dino  Rossi and write that budget 

without raising any taxes. 

Hughes:  What kind of marks do you give Gary Locke as a legislator and then as a governor?

Ferguson:  Well, I’d give him prett y good marks except he sti ll has that terrible  Democrati c 

disease of spending, and wanti ng to raise taxes instead of cutti  ng anything.  He’s got that 

real bad.  He made the most wonderful quote one ti me, though.  I’ve probably used it fi ve 

or six ti mes, and he’s never lived up to it.  When he was fi rst running for governor, I think 
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it was, he said, “You can’t always fi gure that your own party has all the good ideas.  The 

other party has good ideas too.  And the best way for us to handle government is for the 

two parti es to get together and accept the other person’s ideas, and make use of them.  

You don’t have to be a Democrat.” He said it bett er than I’m saying it.  But his whole point 

was everybody has a voice. Listen to everybody who has something to say about it.  It was 

very good, but he never lived up to it.

Hughes:  Let’s go back to females and politi cs and breaking barriers. Other than Dixy Lee 

 Ray, tell me about some female legislators. 

Ferguson:  Well, there was Karen  Schmidt.  She was full of piss and vinegar. 

Hughes:  How about the late Ellen  Craswell?  Would she have made a good governor? Gary 

 Locke defeated her in a landslide in 1996.  Bruce, Ellen’s husband, is sti ll coming by your 

house every now and then to help you. 

Ferguson:  I said – and of course it just broke their heart – I said, “She’ll make a good 

governor while she’s got Bruce there to be with her, because Bruce would make a fi ne 

governor, if he could get elected.”

Hughes:  He was a fi ne politi cian in his own right?

Ferguson:  Oh yeah, but he never got elected to anything.  He told me aft er I wrote that, 

“You know when you keep saying Ellen can’t win this, that’s too much wishful thinking.”  I 

said, “No, it’s not wishful thinking.  I’m just saying she can’t get elected. And she can’t.”  All 

this Jesus stuff  she keeps talking about.  Well, that Jesus stuff  doesn’t work.

Hughes:  She was a true believer wasn’t she, an evangelical Christi an?

Ferguson:  Oh yeah.

Hughes:  The interviewer inadvertently skipped over Mike Lowry, who was governor for 

four years, starti ng in 1993.

Ferguson:  It’s easy to do. I knew Mike  Lowry when he worked for the Ways & Means 

Committ ee for Sen. Marti n  Durkan.  He and his wife both worked for the Ways & Means 

Committ ee.  He’s a very smart guy – probably the best guy with the budget of any of those 

governors we’ve been discussing.  He knew more about the budget than anybody.  Bobby 

 Williams, the Republican from  Longview who was such a good budget analyst, said that 
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when Mike was governor he’d go sit with him and they’d go over the budget.  Bobby said, 

“This guy really knows the budget.”  

Hughes:  That’s high praise from Bobby Williams. They called him a “gadfl y” because he 

seemed to be everywhere asking questi ons.

Ferguson:  Now there was a good guy.   Bobby was the guy I would call if I wanted to know 

something about the budget process.  When he was in the Legislature he was the brains 

in the House for Republicans, and then even aft er he was out.  He came here to  Silverdale 

one ti me and I rushed up to him. I hadn’t seen him for a long ti me, and gave him a big 

hug. He was just embarrassed as hell.  He’s one of those kind of guys that’s not used to 

having people come up and hug him, women.  Dan  Evans used to be like that, very shy – 

untouchable Dan, you know what I mean? But Bobby was very impressed by Lowry’s grasp 

of the budget.  He was also impressed by Gary  Locke’s new budgeti ng method, the one 

about … (pauses to think)

Hughes:  Prioriti es of government?

Ferguson:  Prioriti es of government, yeah.

Hughes:  So what went wrong for Mike  Lowry?

Ferguson:   Well, what went wrong is the woman. (Allegati ons of improprieti es) But 

you know something, when he was in Congress I never heard a word about that kind of 

thing happening with him. Never.  I never heard a word from anybody saying that Mike 

Lowry was easy with the hands or does anything like that.  So I was surprised to hear this 

allegati on.  And I actually defended him in all the columns I wrote because I said, “These 

women can handle this.  All they have to do is say, ‘Don’t do that.’ ” You know what I 

mean?  “I love the job, Mike, but we can’t be messing around like this.” … These women 

all talked like they had to go through it.  They didn’t have to put up with that. He wouldn’t 

have dared fi re them.  But they just all went along.  

Hughes:  That off ends your sense of propriety as a strong woman doesn’t it?  

Ferguson:  Yeah.

Hughes:  The noti on that a woman can’t stand up for herself.  So is there some complicity 

there a litt le bit?
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Ferguson:  What do you mean?

Hughes:  Well, complicity in that your mom or your Aunt Adele ought to have given you the 

gumpti on to say, “OK buster, let’s knock this off ,” or “This is only going to get us in trouble,” 

like that story you told about what you used to say to guys who were hitti  ng on you.  

Ferguson:  One ti me I was standing in the Senate, and they had called a caucus. And they 

all marched back in.  And one of the Democrati c Senators pinched me on the behind when 

he went by.  So I said loudly enough for everyone to hear, in the galleries too, “If you lay 

one hand on me again you aren’t going to have any hands left  when I get through with 

you!”  Now everybody knew what I’m talking about, see.

Ferguson:  But Mike  Lowry resented some of the stuff  that I wrote.

Hughes:  I bet he did.

Ferguson:  And I hugged him once when I saw him, and he shrank back like I was a ratt lesnake.  

Hughes:  Who were some of the absolute best and the brightest people you covered over 

the years?  That you thought were just exemplary public servants.  

Ferguson:  Well, I thought Dan  Evans 

was an exemplary public servant.  And 

Jimmy  Andersen, who was a state senator 

and reti red from the Supreme Court, 

is in that category.  Andersen closed a 

lot of loopholes in laws concerning law 

enforcement, like granti ng immunity to 

private citi zens who come to the aid of 

a police offi  cer and creati ng a statewide 

criminal identi fi cati on bureau. It was his 

bill that set up Medic I. Perry  Woodall 

was exemplary.  Auggie  Mardesich. Bill 

 Gissberg were exemplary.  I know I’m going to forget somebody.  Joel  Pritchard. There’s 

tons of them. Just let me think.

Hughes:  Do you hear from any of the old guys? 

Adele with Lt. Governor Joel Prichard on the Senate fl oor, 1991
Associated Press, Louie Balukoff 
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Ferguson:  Once in a while.  I’m going to see some of them here very shortly.

Hughes:  Really, what occasion is that?

Ferguson:  Well, on  Electi on Day – and this has to be a big secret. See, this is by invitati on 

only so you don’t let it get out.  But on Electi on Day, Gordon  Walgren – it used to be Ralph 

 Munro and Gordon Walgren – and I sort of throw a big luncheon.  We don’t pay for it. We 

just invite people.  And we all meet, and it’s usually old politi cal junkies and offi  cials, some 

legislators.  

 So we have lunch and we talk politi cs and we vote and see who we think is going 

to win in the electi on, and we give litt le talks.  And this year, on our guest list we have Gov. 

Dan Evans, Jimmy Andersen and Dick  Marquardt, the former insurance commissioner. 

Those are our big shots – and Ralph  Munro, of course.  We’ve invited 40 people.  They just 

love this thing.  I mean they want to invite themselves. You have to kind of fi ght them off  

because they want to bring people.  Marquardt called up and said, “I don’t want to drive 

over there by myself.” So I said, “I’ve invited Jimmy  Andersen and Dan  Evans.”  And he said, 

“Dan told me, ‘Well, she hasn’t writt en anything nice about me for a while.’ ” I thought 

“What have I not writt en nice about him?”  Well, I guess about the Indians.  He authored 

the gambling thing. 

Hughes:  Is this event all off  the record?

Ferguson:  Well, kind of. I always tell them at the beginning of the luncheon that I may 

write about this but I won’t identi fy you unless I need to identi fy you.  It all depends.  I 

don’t do anything to embarrass anybody. Bruce  Craswell, Ellen’s husband, is going to come, 

and county offi  cials, too.

Hughes:  So, when you look back – and we’ll save Gov. Chris  Gregoire toward the last.  But 

when you look back at some of the people who ran for governor or should have been 

governor, who would have been a great governor?

Ferguson:  Norm  Maleng (the Republican King County Prosecutor).

Hughes:  He was one of my all-ti me favorite people.

Ferguson:  Yeah, mine too.  He was my favorite that year – 1996.  That was the year Ellen 

 Craswell won the primary and ran against Gary  Locke. 
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Hughes:  What was there about Norm?

Ferguson:  Well, he was brave. He spoke out on things; he wasn’t a coward, and you knew 

exactly where he stood.  

Hughes:  He was kind.

Ferguson:  Yeah, he was. He was a good man. He was a good friend.  I felt so bad about the 

litt le girl. (Maleng’s 12-year-old daughter, Karen, was killed in a sledding accident in 1989.)

Hughes: And then to lose him like that to a heart att ack (in 2007) at the age of 68 was 

really tough.  Anybody else other than Norm Maleng who really pops into your head – 

someone you held in high regard? 

Ferguson:  Well Jimmy Andersen.  I knew him as a state representati ve, as a senator, and as 

a judge on the State Supreme Court. He was a chief justi ce.

Hughes:  I’m getti  ng ready to interview reti red Justi ce Charles  Smith.

Ferguson:  Oh, that’s not the black guy, is it?

Hughes:  Yes it is.  Did you know him?

Ferguson:  Well, not that much, but I think he was a litt le wishy washy on the death 

penalty. Be sure to ask him about that.  

Hughes:  I will.  So in Adele Ferguson’s Hall of Fame, the people that you worked with over 

the years in public life, who would be number one?

Ferguson:  For what reason?

Hughes:  Integrity, moxie, humanism, hard work. …

Ferguson:  Well, Dan  Evans, Slade  Gorton, Warren  Magnuson.  I had something wrong with 

my family once, and I needed some real help. I went to Maggie.  I’ve never ever usually 

asked anybody for help, but I had a sister-in-law from  Poland who was having a lot of 

trouble.  She needed some congressional help to move from one country to another, and I 

got it from him.

Hughes:  I thought there was a very interesti ng angle on Gary  Locke – his sense of heritage 

and how far he’d come as an  Asian-American.  I was touched by that, it was an interesti ng 

thing.  Did you get to know Mona  Locke as well?

Ferguson:  No, only to see her once in a while.
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Hughes:  Of those fi rst ladies who do you give high marks to?  Nancy  Evans, for instance…

Ferguson:  She didn’t like me.

Hughes:  She didn’t?  What was that about?

Ferguson:  Oh, they were having a big fundraiser here for Dan at the home of Joe  Mentor, 

a builder in  Kitsap County. And they sold so many ti ckets that Joe had to add onto the 

house to make room. … Joe was trying to get Nancy and I to sit together.  And she said no, 

she didn’t want to.  She said, “Well she’ll write down everything I say.”  She didn’t realize I 

didn’t really do that.  So she didn’t like me much.  And I wrote a couple ti mes that I wished 

when she came to Kitsap County that she’d quit wearing a house dress.  And I thought, 

“You don’t do that, when you come here. If you’re going to come here and impress our 

folks at least dress up a litt le.”  

Hughes:  I have a fl ashback to one of my all-ti me favorite Adele Ferguson leads.  … It 

was the column you did at  Ocean Shores where Maureen  Reagan was there for a speech 

to  Republicans. And Maureen plopped down on a sofa next to you and said, “You look 

lonesome!”  And your response in the column was, “The hell I did.”  That was a great 

column.  I thought she was an interesti ng lady.

Ferguson:  Beauti ful eyes.  She had Paul  Newman eyes, those beauti ful blue eyes.

Hughes:  How would you characterize your own politi cs?

Ferguson:  I call myself an independent.  And I always say I believe in the Republican 

philosophy, that government should only do for people what it can’t do for themselves, or 

it can do bett er.  Not the  Democrati c philosophy, which is that government should be all 

things to all people.  And the reason I can say I am not a Republican is that I’m independent 

(minded). … And I was pro-choice.

Hughes:  Do you have strong feelings about aborti on?

Ferguson:  Originally I was opposed to it, and I wrote about that.  Then I listened to 

Lorraine  Wojahn, who was a senator from  Pierce County.  And she told about the cost of 

not allowing aborti ons and all these illegiti mate kids. You had to pay for them unti l they 

were 18, and many of them are abused.  All these litt le kids born that people don’t want, 

and subsequently they’ll torture, burn them with cigarett es and break their arms.  Every 
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ti me I hear one of those stories in the paper I just want to get a hold of somebody and 

kill them.  And these aren’t the only people seeing these kids.  What about the aunts and 

uncles and neighbors and those people who see this and don’t do anything about it?!  

There’s nobody who could harm an animal, let alone a baby around me. I just would not 

put up with that.  So I changed my mind. I voted against aborti on when it was an initi ati ve, 

but I believed what Lorraine Wojahn said. I’m pro-choice, now, but I’m defi nitely against 

parti al-birth aborti on.  And I oft en say that I’m just really embarrassed and ashamed of 

my women friends in the Democrati c Party who condone parti al birth aborti on, which is 

murder in my view.

Hughes:  Do you have strong feelings about the initi ati ve and referendum process versus 

the noti on of pure representati ve democracy?

Ferguson:  I think we ought to have the initi ati ve and referendum process.  Remember the 

ti me the legislators raised their pay and the initi ati ve came out (in oppositi on) and got so 

damn many votes? It’s a balance.

Hughes:  Who are some of your politi cal heroes?

Ferguson:  Well, I don’t know about Ronald  Reagan. I knew Ronald Reagan when he was 

kind of an asshole. You know what I mean?

Hughes:  Really?

Ferguson:  Yeah, he was kind of a show off  …

Hughes:  When was that, Adele?

Ferguson:  Before he became president, when he was going to some of these meeti ngs.  

And  Evans didn’t like him either. You could see that.  … My politi cal heroes?  Well, I’d say 

Dan Evans is a politi cal hero of mine because he’s been so damn successful. 

Hughes:  Best president of the United States in the 20th Century?

Ferguson:  Even though he didn’t impress me in the beginning, I guess I’d have to say 

Ronald Reagan because of the way he restored in people the love of their country.  I think 

that Jeb  Bush was the smarter brother among the Bushes and it’s too bad that Jeb wasn’t 

elected.  I think things would be so diff erent today if it had been Jeb instead of  George.

Hughes:  Tell me your view of the Chris  Gregoire administrati on.
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Ferguson:  Well, she’s in the pocket of the damn labor unions, and Indian tribes and the 

defense att orneys.  She made all this money, you know, on the tobacco sett lement.  She 

hired somebody to handle that for her back East.  She didn’t do any of that court stuff .  

But she went out, she got the money.  I think she’s a spender.  Look, last ti me she said she 

wasn’t going to raise taxes and that’s the fi rst thing she did. You cannot trust her.

Hughes:  Have you known her for a long ti me?

Ferguson:  Yes, I promoted her for governor way back when.  Before she even became 

in Ecology, I think.  I must have done it in a news story because I can’t fi nd it among my 

columns. That means I did it separately.  Otherwise I could look it up. I’ve catalogued my 

column.  So it had to be a news story.

Hughes:  What do you think has gone wrong for her?

Ferguson:  What goes wrong in any of them is the lust for power. Once they’re near it and 

can smell it and they’re close to it, they want it so bad they’ll do almost anything to get it.  

See,  she said to labor, “All my decisions I make I’ll check with you fi rst.”  And the Indians 

… That’s a hundred and forty billion bucks a year we could have gott en in shared revenue 

from the gambling compact, and she dumped that off .  

Hughes:  Do you call her? Does she return her calls?

Ferguson:  I haven’t tried lately.  I used to. I was able to get a hold of her when she was 

heading up Ecology. You know what she did in Ecology?  She’s the one who, when she was 

sti ll at the  Department of Ecology asked for money for increased staff .  They didn’t give it to 

her.  So you know what she did?  She then promptly fi xed it so that it now took you a year 

or two to get a water right.  Just to show you, “Well we haven’t got ti me because we don’t 

have enough staff .” That was her.

Hughes:  Well, this is not going to come out unti l long aft er the electi ons are over, but who 

do you think is going to be the next president of the  United States?  Obama or  McCain?

Ferguson:  What keeps me from answering quickly is I don’t know who to believe.  You 

know what I mean?  Not just them, but the people who are reporti ng the polls and saying, 

“Well, he’s 13 points ahead.”  And then today the  Associated Press says they’re even.  So 

I think whether it’s  “The Bradley factor” or the socialism factor that might kick in, I think 
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McCain sti ll has a chance.  But he’s been the poorest goddamn candidate you can imagine.  

I read both of Obama’s books all the way through.  But I wish I had a copy of the book 

before he changed it.  He published  Dreams from My Father fi rst, and then he republished 

it, and made changes in it.  

Hughes:  OK, as a proud American and feisty female human being how do you rate Sarah 

 Palin?

Ferguson:  I like her because I think back to Jimmy  Carter, who was in intelligence when he 

was in the  Navy.  And he was the rott enest president we’ve had – maybe next to George 

 Bush.  But Jimmy Carter wasn’t worth a crap and he had all these credenti als that should 

have made him wonderful.  

Hughes:  But he is a fi rst-class human being, you’d have to say, in a lot of respects, wouldn’t 

you?

Ferguson:  Yeah.  But as for  Palin, I mean what’s wrong with her experience? They always 

act like she’s only been a PTA president.  She was a mayor; she was a city council member; 

she did everything to promote bett er government.  She joined the PTA because she didn’t 

like the way they were treati ng kids in school.  She became the city councilman for things in 

the city she wanted changed.  She became the mayor because she couldn’t get it done as 

just a city councilman.  She became governor because she wanted to do these other things.  

Everything she wanted was reform. She wasn’t looking at being vice president or president.  

Hughes: Do you have strong memories of 1992 – the so-called “Year of the Woman”?

Ferguson:  No.  I probably didn’t like most of the women that were running.  I’m not the 

kind that hangs out with the women.  

Hughes:  How about Senators Patt y  Murray and Maria  Cantwell?

Ferguson:  Well, I’ve quit picking on Patt y because she’s always so nice when she sees me.  

She always comes up and treats me so nice.  I hate to say it, but it sort of cools me off  a 

litt le.  And Maria, I don’t care that much about Maria Cantwell.  

Hughes:  Speaking of female politi cians, did you know the redoubtable Julia Butler  Hansen, 

the former state legislator from  Cathlamet who was elected to Congress in 1960?

Ferguson:  I did. I did. I called her the “Duchess of Cathlamet.” For years, she was the most 
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powerful woman in the state as chairman of the Legislati ve Transportati on Committ ee. 

In 1955, she and John  O’Brien were the Democrats’ candidates for the speakership of the 

House. But Julia lost narrowly in the caucus.  She would have been the fi rst woman Speaker 

of the House. Aft er the vote, she went around shaking hands, saying, “No hard feelings.” 

But then she came to the two guys who had engineered her defeat, Len  Sawyer and Auggie 

 Mardesich. “No hard feelings,” she told them, “but I’ll get even with you sons of bitches!”

Hughes:  I have to tell a Bob  Bailey story about Julia.  Senator Bailey was her district aide 

and he always said that Julia never wore a miniskirt because she didn’t want her balls to 

show.

Ferguson:  Ahaha! That’s prett y good. I won’t repeat the story about the ti me the State 

Patrol stopped  Julia and Bob  Bailey on the highway.  You’ve heard that, I’m sure, a hundred 

ti mes.  

Hughes:  I have not heard it! Please tell me.

Ferguson:  You haven’t?!

Hughes:  No, I swear.

Ferguson:  Well, Bailey worked for Julia.  And Julia and a couple of her friends had to get 

to  Olympia, and they were in a hurry. Bob was driving and they were late, so she told him 

to speed it up. The State Patrol pulled them over.  So the fi rst thing Bob Bailey does is try 

to explain they are just trying to get Julia Butler Hansen, U.S. Congresswoman, to Olympia.  

Then Julia gets into the act, telling the trooper, “Haven’t you got anything bett er to do 

than to pull a car over and stop decent people?  I mean there are people out there really 

breaking the law!” And she just chews this guy up and down. And the trooper gets out his 

ti cket book, and starts to write the ti cket.  And Bailey quickly hands him his card that says 

“Senator Bob Bailey,” the State Legislature.  And the guy puts the ti cket book away because 

that’s who writes their budget – the Legislature.  (laughing)  You never heard that?

Hughes:  Never. I love it.

Ferguson:  That’s a true story.  Bob told it to me.

Hughes:  The day that I met Julia Butler Hansen I was a reporter for the Grays Harbor 

College Timberline in 1961. Congressman Russell  Mack, a Republican from Hoquiam, had 
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just died and she had taken offi  ce.

Ferguson:  And she was PO’d because they were trying to pick a successor before he was in 

the ground.

Hughes:  Exactly.  Anyway, Julia came in, sat down at the conference table and said, “Son, 

do you have a cigarett e?”  I said, “Yes, Mrs. Hansen I do.”  I was smoking Parliament or 

some sort of highfaluti n brand trying to look sophisti cated. She looked at the cigarett e and 

expertly, with the thumb of her right hand, fl icked the fi lter off  it, tapped the loose end on 

her watch case and bummed a light.  It was just classic stuff . No fi lters for Julia!

Ferguson:  She had a big fundraiser once for Sen.  Magnuson. Did you hear about that, at 

her house?

Hughes:  No.

Ferguson:  So she was there and people are coming in to meet  Magnuson.  And Maggie 

was getti  ng thirsty, so one of the guys said “We’ve got a bott le.” I forget what he drank. 

“We’ve got some upstairs in the bedroom. You can come on up there and have a drink.”  

And to get him up there they said, “Senator, the President is on the phone upstairs.”  So 

then he goes up the stairs.  He didn’t come back down.  So  Julia’s people are now getti  ng 

pissed off  because they came to see Magnuson.  So then Maggie tells one of the people, 

“Would you say that Jermaine would like to get a call from the President too?”   Jermaine 

goes up there at the end of the fundraiser, and Julia is furious because she had lost her 

prime guests.      Julia was really funny.  I wrote a number of things about her.  

Hughes:  She was a great lady.

Ferguson:  Yeah, she really was. She really was. She and I got along surprisingly well.

Hughes:  Surprisingly?

Ferguson:  Well, she’s a very diff erent kind of a woman.  Julia is not your average kiss-ass. 

You know what I mean?  Some of them are.

Hughes:  I’m sitti  ng here with another woman who doesn’t exactly suff er fools gladly.

Ferguson:  Well, I liked her. We especially got to be friends when she got on the  State 

Highway Commission (1975) and later as chairman of the  State Transportati on Commission 

(1979-1981).  
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Hughes:  Julia was the real deal, wasn’t she?

Ferguson:  Oh gosh yes.  As a matt er of fact I did her a big favor.  Aft er she became head 

of the Transportati on Committ ee, she used to come to these meeti ngs, and I went to all 

the meeti ngs.  And she would sit up at the front table and you could see right up her skirt. 

You could see her underwear!  So I fi nally went to the people there, and I said, “For God’s 

sake would you put a board in front of that table?  I don’t want to be looking at Julia Butler 

Hansen’s underwear every ti me I go to these meeti ngs.”  They did. They put a board in 

front of the table.

Hughes:  Did anyone over the years ever off er you any of these kinds of appointments?

Ferguson:  Yes.  I was off ered appointments on two commissions. The  Evans people off ered 

me some kind of a labor deal.  And then I was off ered an appointment on one of these 

transportati on committ ees.

Hughes:  This would have been like a fullti me job?

Ferguson:  No, but it would add to a pension if you ever did take a full ti me. 

Hughes:  Did anybody ever off er you any fullti me jobs, like on the Liquor Board?  That 

would be the perfect thing for the old newsies.

Ferguson:  No, but Leroy  Hitt le gave us booze when he was on the Liquor Board.

Hughes:  I’ll bet he did.  

Hughes:  Tell me about these nati onal conventi ons you covered over the years.

Ferguson:  Oh yeah, I went to a lot of them.

Hughes:  What were memorable ones?

Ferguson:  Oh, well, the ones in  Florida where we had to walk home through all the tear 

gas.

 (It was in 1972) and both the Democrats and the Republicans met in  Miami that 

year. I don’t remember (a lot of details).  They were just all conventi ons.  You go to those 

things and all you remember is the hotel you stayed at, and that’s the best you can do.  

One ti me we stayed in a gay hotel and one ti me we stayed in a Jewish hotel.  It shut down 

the phones in the elevators at dusk Friday and you had to walk up all these stairs because 

they were Jewish and they didn’t have phones and stuff  on the weekend.  
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Oh, I was in  Chicago too for all the riots and protests.

Hughes:  Really, you were there in ’68 when the Chicago Police clubbed the Vietnam War 

protesters?

Ferguson:  Oh yeah.

Hughes:  What was that like?

Ferguson:  That was wild.

Hughes:  Talk about politi cal theater.  You’ve got rioti ng in the streets, and poor Hubert 

Humphrey getti  ng the nominati on, fi ghti ng Gene  McCarthy, and the ghost of Bobby 

 Kennedy.  

Ferguson:  Yeah, I was at that one.  And in New York at one of the conventi ons there, I went 

to fi ve  Broadway shows..  You get in on Saturday; they don’t do anything unti l Monday.  

So on Sunday I went to, fi ve Broadway shows… One of the delegates was down the hall 

in the hotel and we were both going to go to the show, going to play at this theatre.  And 

we were going to go down and go into this theatre when it opened up.  So we went 

downtown, in  New York it’s a really shabby part of town where they have these theaters.  

So there’s a liquor store there. You know how it is – you just kill ti me; you walk in stores 

look around and see how they do things.  So this lady and I walked into this liquor store, 

and we’re standing there just looking around, three young black guys walked in.  And they 

walked up to the middle of the room and then they stood back to back looking out.  And 

the manager of the store came over and he said, “Can I help you fellows?”  And they said 

nothing.  He said it again: “Is there anything that I can do for you fellows?  And they said 

nothing.  And I said, “If you guys are here to rob this place would you let us get out of here 

fi rst because we’re new in town?  And they said, “So are we!”  (laughing)

They looked so scared.  And we thought they were going to rob the place.

Hughes:  So how about the charge that you are anti -Indian. How do you plead to that?

Ferguson:  I’m not anti - Indian.  I just do not believe that anybody, even if they were 

 Norwegians, should have the fi sh which belong to the people of the State of Washington.  

And I’m mad at the judge who gave it to them.

Hughes:  George  Boldt.
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Ferguson:  Yep.  Did I ever tell you this story, too?  I was at one of these things in John 

 Cherberg’s offi  ce one ti me. He had a lot of people in there.  And I’m standing in there 

having a drink and this litt le old guy came up to me and said, “Aren’t you Adele Ferguson?”  

I said, “Yes.”  He said, “I’d like to have you meet my wife.”  I said, “All right, why don’t we 

chat a litt le bit?”  He walks off  giggling and snickering, and I said, “Who the hell was that?”  

And a guy said, “That’s George Boldt!”  (laughing loudly)

Hughes:  So he never let on that you had been antagonizing him?

Ferguson:  No, he never let on that I was the one who had been chewing him up for so 

long.

Hughes:  That’s funny.   

Ferguson:  And I don’t hate  Indians. I really don’t.  As a matt er of fact I got a lett er one ti me 

from Gummie  Johnson when he was representi ng the Indian tribes for something they 

wanted.  And he wanted to know if I hate Indians.  And I said, “No, I hate the judge who 

gave them the fi sh that belonged to the people of the State of Washington.  And I don’t 

believe they should have that.”

(Editor’s note: C. Montgomery “Gummie” Johnson, who died in 2005, was state 

GOP chairman in the 1960s and early 1970s. He was known as a “fanati cal moderate” with 

a strong environmental conscience. In 1965, Johnson helped purge  John Birch Society 

members from the state  Republican Party.)

Hughes:  Have you writt en about the whole mushrooming tribal casino thing, and the 

noti on that the governor gave away the farm there with that compact?  Do you think that 

that’s OK for them to have the casinos?

Ferguson:  Well, I really don’t, but I don’t know what you can do about it.  I suppose if 

that’s the only way they can make money, all right, but it gets bigger and bigger.  And 

 Gregoire hasn’t really stopped them from getti  ng bigger. I don’t like the idea that the tribes 

have a monopoly on gambling and don’t pay any taxes on their earnings. They shouldn’t 

have special rights that other citi zens don’t have.

By the way, you know the one thing I never found out?  Why did Gummie Johnson 

turn against the (Republican) Party?  I don’t know that.  He did, he turned very much 
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against the party. He was a bitt er, bitt er, bitt er old man when he died.  And I never could 

fi nd out from him.  When he was down there in  Olympia he checked into a nursing home 

there.  And I know that he had lunch with Supreme Court Justi ce Jim  Dolliver every 

Saturday.

(Editor’s note: Johnson married a Democrati c lobbyist, and they formed a 

consulti ng fi rm that defended the treaty rights of Indian tribes. In 1980, he was a 

consultant to Gov. Dixy Lee  Ray in the Democrat’s unsuccessful bid for re-electi on against 

John Spellman.) 

Ferguson:  I liked Jim Dolliver.  He had been Dan  Evans’ chief of staff .

Hughes:  The story about Dolliver fi rst having a chance to be appointed to the Supreme 

Court by  Evans in 1970 and choosing not to take it is interesti ng. 

Ferguson:  Yeah, that was  Dolliver who turned it down. Dan (Evans) was willing to go.  

Hughes:  But the  State Bar Associati on’s board was against endorsing Dolliver because he 

didn’t have a lot of law practi ce experience. The noti on also was that he might have been 

intellectually a lot feisti er than they really liked their Supreme Court judges. In his history 

of the court, Charles H.  Sheldon noted that “the governor could have appointed Dolliver 

without the bar’s endorsement,” but it would have been diffi  cult for Dolliver “to win 

electi on later without its support.” So Dolliver asked the governor to withdraw his name. 

Evans eventually appointed Dolliver to the Supreme Court in 1976 and he served for 23 

years. 

(Editor’s Note: When the justi ce died in 2004, former secretary of state Ralph 

 Munro recalled that during Dolliver’s tour of duty as Evans’ chief of staff , a throng of angry 

union members gathered in Olympia and angrily chanted “Evans, Evans.” Dolliver advised 

the governor to open his remarks by thanking them for celebrati ng his birthday. “It broke 

the crowd up,” said Munro, who had also worked in the Evans Administrati on.  “Two 

minutes earlier, they had been shouti ng obsceniti es; now they’re all laughing.”)

Hughes: Adele, did part of your  Olympia coverage extend to covering the Supreme Court?

Ferguson:  Oh I was friends with all those guys.  

Hughes:  Who are some really impressive people there that you met?
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Ferguson:  Dolliver.  Jim was the one who defended Gordon  Walgren.  He put out the 

opinion when Gordon was trying to get his bar license restored. Dolliver wrote that it’s sti ll 

diffi  cult to see how Gordon Walgren ever was included in this  (“Gamscam”) mess because 

there was no reason to think that Gordon would even be involved in it.  And of course 

Justi ce Jim  Johnson was a good friend of mine.

Hughes:  Do you know the current Chief Justi ce, Gerry  Alexander, really well?

Ferguson:  He is the only member of the Supreme Court who aft er I wrote a column about 

him wrote and thanked me for it.  

Jimmy  Andersen, who was in the Legislature for 14 years, was a great friend of 

mine. Bob  Brachtenbach, another former legislator, was a friend of mine. As a legislator, 

 Andersen kept plugging away at fi lling loopholes in laws concerning law enforcement, like 

granti ng immunity to citi zens who came to the aid of a police offi  cer. He also helped create 

a statewide criminal identi fi cati on bureau, and it was his bill that set up Medic I.

Hughes:  Was that hard over the years to make those friendships with people you were 

covering?

Ferguson:  No, the thing that I did was that I didn’t socialize with them.

Hughes:  We’re talking now just about the judges?

Ferguson:  Any of them.  I don’t socialize with legislators.  I don’t make cozy friends and 

don’t go to dinner to their houses and stuff .  

Hughes:  But that doesn’t mean you couldn’t have a drink with them?

Ferguson:  Oh no, you can have a drink with them.  But if you get too friendly then they 

can’t understand it when you start cutti  ng them up for something they need cutti  ng up for.  

Somebody’s got to cut them up.

Hughes:  Recall for me an instance like that when somebody was really wounded, saying, “I 

thought you were my friend.  How could you write that about me?”

Ferguson:  Oh yes, it was the Speaker of the House of Representati ves and he was from 

 Vancouver – Robert  Schaefer. I wrote something about him and he was so hurt that he quit 

speaking to me.  And then I ran into him the day that we had the earthquake down there 

in  Olympia.  I happened to go down early that morning into the lunchroom in the House. I 
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was allowed to eat in their lunchroom.  He was down there, and that was the fi rst ti me he 

had spoken to me in God knows when.  And the damn earthquake hit – we’re all running 

out to the street.  (laughing)

Hughes:  Talk about acts of God!

Hughes:  When did you reti re from The  Sun?

Ferguson:  In ’93.

Hughes:  1993.  Let’s revisit that.  What was that like down the stretch?

Ferguson:  You mean why did I leave?

Hughes:  Yes.

Ferguson:  John P.  Scripps was going to die of cancer.  So they wanted to have his will 

drawn to avoid losing a lot of money through what happens with the papers.  So they 

merged into the  Scripps Howard.  But they were very honest about it; they told all the 

employees that.  They said, “We’re doing this merger and all because we want to avoid 

losing a lot of money to the family when Mr.  Scripps dies.”  Well, he died, and with the 

new management along came a new editor out of  Florida.  … That was Mike  Phillips and he 

came there with some other people and the fi rst thing they did was try to get rid of almost 

everybody there that was an (opponent) type.  They wanted to get rid of Gene  Gisley, my 

editor. They got rid of him prett y fast.  They kept the business manager.  They didn’t try to 

get rid of me (at fi rst), but eventually they did want to get rid of me.

Hughes:  Why? Because you had been there a long ti me?

Ferguson:  Because I was the  Bremerton Sun, you know what I mean?

Hughes:  I do.

Ferguson:  In  Kitsap County I represent the Bremerton Sun more than anybody ever did 

except Julius  Gius.  Look at all the beats I was on; look at all the people I met and served 

and went to and did things.  So he wanted to get rid of me.  Julius told me that.  Julius is 

now down in  California.  Julius said, “He’s got to get rid of you.” So one day Phillips called 

me in, and he called in his managing editor, and his city editor, and some other person.  

And he said, “You’re going to have to make a choice:  You can either conti nue writi ng 

politi cs or you can write the column, one or the other.”
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Ferguson:  So I said, “All right, I’ll take the column.”  I was about ready to quit – and they 

didn’t know that – because I was so angry with them, the way that they treated me.  They 

had a woman copy editor. I will never work for another woman.  And she made changes 

to my column that made me look foolish.  For example, if you talked about “materiel” in 

a war story, she’d make it “material.” … So I kept writi ng the column, and it wasn’t long 

before she was making more changes in the column.  And I went out and I told her, “You 

know, if you don’t understand it or if there’s something really wrong with it, why don’t you 

ask me?”  She said, “I don’t have to.”  So I went in my offi  ce, sat down, and wrote out my 

resignati on; gave them two weeks’ noti ce because I had piles and piles, all kinds of stuff  

to do.  Went in, gave it to the managing editor: “There you are.”  Of course that word got 

around real fast.  So I started getti  ng rid of stuff ; did like ever good reti ring person did, 

washed and scrubbed my desk down with soap and water, and got rid of everything.  

And the editor came into my room and said, “I don’t suppose you’re so mad at us 

that you won’t let us keep running your column aft er you reti re.”  

And I said, “That’s prett y slimy of you considering that you haven’t spoken to me 

but six ti mes in 1992.”

And he said, “Well, I can explain that.”

And I said, “Not to me you can’t.”

So I got a call from Paul  Scripps, John  Scripps’ son.  I wrote him a lett er.  Well, fi rst 

he called me and said, “Would you please reconsider?”  My column always was number 

one on the list when they took a survey. … The column was always right up there on 

top.  So he said, “Would you let us run your column if I promise you that they will make 

no changes in your column?”  And I said, “Paul you may trust them, but I don’t.”  And I 

didn’t trust them not to do that.  All they would do was the fi rst ti me I’d be gone they’d 

start making changes again.  So I wrote him a lett er and explained why I left , and what the 

problem was.  It was too bad, we were friends.  

Hughes:  Did they have a reti rement party for you?

Ferguson:  No, no, I just walked out the door.

Hughes:  You’re there from 1946 to 1993 and you just walked out the door.  Was that hard?
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Ferguson:  No I wasn’t happy there any more.  They didn’t appreciate me. 

Hughes:  Was there a lot of fallout in the community over (your departure)?

Ferguson:  They gave away the paper for a while (to enti ce subscripti ons from non-

subscribers).  And I go by Fred Meyer’s and see them giving away The  Sun, I’d go up and I’d 

say, “They didn’t have to give it away when I worked there.”  (laughs)

Hughes:  Do you sti ll take The Sun?

Ferguson:  Oh sure.  He’s gone now (the former editor).

Hughes:  Has there been some bright young man or woman who came out here and said, 

“Adele, I wanted to meet you because you were a big part of the history of The Sun.”  

Ferguson:  No, but I was a big part of the history of The Sun, so I’ve never worried about it.  

My pension comes from there.

Hughes: When you see now what’s happening with newspapers—

Ferguson:  Oh, I’m so ashamed of them.

Hughes:  Tell me about that.

Ferguson:  Well, I’m ashamed at what the media is doing.  The media is trying to make this 

electi on and I’m opposed to that. I think that’s wrong.  And it is the mainstream media. 

It isn’t the small newspapers that are doing it. It’s the big guys.  The  New York Times, The 

 Washington Post,  CNN,  ABC,  NBC,  CBS.

Hughes:  So you see strong liberal biases?

Ferguson:  Oh yeah. Oh yeah. I think that’s terrible.

Hughes:  But I was talking, too, about the fi nancial issues newspapers are facing, 

parti cularly with publicly-traded companies.  They’re making layoff s and revenue streams 

are eroding. I’m sure The  Sun is not immune to that.

Ferguson:  No.

Hughes:  What’s happening to the newspaper industry that you and I have loved for so 

many years?

Ferguson:  I don’t know.  I don’t know what happened to the fact that a person to be a 

journalist was supposed to give you the “who, what, why, where” and so forth, and no 

opinion.  And then they started doing that.  The  Seatt le papers were doing it.  When I was 
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down there (covering the Legislature) they had their litt le favorites and the ones they 

covered up for. There’s so much covering up.

Hughes:  Do you see that as part and parcel of the economic problem? Newspapers are 

losing print subscribers but gaining readership online.  And online revenues don’t begin 

to make up for lower print adverti sing revenues. So the model is you can’t get the same 

amounts of revenue from Bremerton Dodge or whatever to buy online adverti sing, as you 

can in run-of-press print adverti sing.  

Ferguson:  I don’t have a computer. Well, I have a computer but it’s one I had made for me 

special.  I’m not online or anything because I’m not mechanical. If anything goes wrong 

with that thing I’ve got to get Bruce  Craswell up here to fi x it.  So I don’t know how it 

works.  

Hughes:  So you’re not on the Internet?

Ferguson:  No.

Hughes:  When you were working for The  Sun were you on the Internet?

Ferguson:  I don’t think so.  I forget what we did.  You could get stories that were fi led and 

stuff  like that but no Internet of anything like that.

Hughes:  Do you think you’re missing something by not being on the Internet?

Ferguson:  Oh probably. But I don’t care.  I’m not missing that much.

Hughes:  Well, I’m sti ll trying to make this point:  What’s happening now in the newspaper 

industry is that revenues are sharply declining because the reader base is eroding. 

Younger people parti cularly and a lot of others are accustomed to just surfi ng the Internet, 

getti  ng all the stuff  for free.  And then there are these other competi ng interests for the 

adverti sing dollar. Do you have any refl ecti ons on all this?

Ferguson:  No, I don’t.  I do know that you can’t clip the online. Well, maybe you can clip 

it and mail it to your aunt.  But I think newspapers should always be with us.  Here’s my 

clippings for the day.  (Holds up a pile of arti cles clipped from papers.)

Hughes:  What newspapers do you read every day?

Ferguson:  I read The  Seatt le Times, The  Seatt le Post Intelligencer, The  Wall Street Journal – 

 good paper, too – and The  Kitsap Sun, and I read The  Washington Times which comes once 
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a week.  But The Wall Street Journal – did you know that was the most liberal paper in the 

country?  I didn’t know that.  Well, they had a list in another newspaper saying, “These 

are the most liberal newspapers.  First one was The Wall Street Journal, other than the 

editorial pages.  And then it’s The  New York Times, The  Washington Post, The  Los Angeles 

Times and all these other newspapers.  

Hughes:  In your opinion, are the news columns in The  Wall Street Journal actually 

punctuated with liberal thought?

Ferguson:  No, I don’t think they are.  See I go through page by page of the whole fi rst 

secti on to see what they’re doing, because I like stuff  I can clip, and what I need to clip.  

Now they’ve got three pages of editorial pages, and I check those out prett y carefully.  They 

have stuff  in there that no other newspaper even carries.  The other day here’s Joe  Biden 

telling the world … that there’s going to be a big event (if  Obama is elected). Something’s 

going to happen to test the mett le of Barack Obama.  I never saw that in any other story in 

my papers.  I didn’t see it in the  AP story or The  Sun; I didn’t see it in The  Seatt le Times. I 

didn’t see it in The  P-I.  Where did he say it, and why didn’t anybody else write it?

Hughes:  How would you characterize your old newspaper, The Sun, today, versus where it 

was in 1975, in terms of its approach and what it’s doing in news coverage?  

Ferguson:  Well, I think 

all the newspapers are 

crazy.  For example, The 

Times and The P-I are 

inclined to give you fi ve 

pages on something.  

I just haven’t got the 

ti me.  It’s got to be a 

really vicious murder 

for me to go fi ve pages.

Hughes:  It’s what we 

call “depth reporti ng.” Adele Ferguson, 1993
Kitsap Newspaper Group, Terry Poe
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Ferguson:  And then my own newspaper, I don’t fi nd good sharp writi ng…

Hughes:  What reporters working in the Northwest today do your read and admire?  Did 

you like David  Postman’s stuff  in The Seatt le Times?  He’s jumped ship to work for Paul 

 Allen now.  

Ferguson:  Oh has he?

Hughes:  Yeah.

Ferguson:  He wasn’t bad.  I think he was a litt le ahead of himself.  I don’t think he was as 

good as some of his predecessors at those newspapers. 

Hughes:  Do you read Peter  Callaghan of The  Tacoma News Tribune?

Ferguson:  Peter Callaghan is a good writer.

Hughes:  How would you rank your old friend David  Ammons, who was with the  Associated 

 Press for all those years?

Ferguson:   He’s a fi ne writer.  And, he’s a good reporter. You could never spot any bias, and 

he is a very nice guy, too.

Hughes:  Who was the best reporter you ever worked with in all those years?

Ferguson:  Dick  Larsen (of The  Seatt le Times and later The  Eastside Journal).

Hughes:  Some of the stuff  you’ve writt en in recent years has caused a fi restorm, or at least 

a mini-fi restorm.  Here’s this column …

Ferguson:  Oh, the one about the blacks?

Hughes:  Yeah. You wrote, “The pony hidden in slavery is the fact that it was the ti cket to 

America for black people.”  

Ferguson:  Yeah

Hughes: You added, “I have long urged blacks to consider their presence here as the work, 

of God in order to bring them to this raw, new country….”

Ferguson:  Why can’t I think that?

Hughes:  I think you certainly can, but a lot of people found it insensiti ve at best.  

Ferguson:  That column got online. It even ran in  Denmark.

Hughes:  And, boy, did it ever hit the fan over that.  They accused you of being racist.

Ferguson:  I wasn’t being racist.  I just thought, “Why are they here? How did they get 
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here?  Maybe that was the way God had of bringing them here.  And would they rather be 

here now or there?

Hughes:  They wanted your head on a platt er.

Ferguson:  Oh yeah.

Hughes:  Did anybody cancel you over that?

Ferguson:  No.  I got cancelled by two papers over something else, though.

Hughes:  What was that about?

Ferguson:  That was when I wrote and said that killing kids—

Hughes:  The  Palesti nian- Israeli thing.  I think I’ve got that here too.  You wrote it in 2002. 

That column had a really interesti ng lead:  “ ‘Don’t write that,’ advised my  husband when I 

told him my soluti on to bringing an end to the suicide bomber terrorism infl icted on  Israel 

by the  Palesti nian  Arabs.”

When did you lose your  husband?

Ferguson:  He died in 2005. … He was 87 years old. He lived fi ve years longer than anybody 

in his family ever had.  He had diabetes. That’s what he died from.

Hughes:  Did he frequently give you good advice?

Ferguson:  Not that much advice.  He didn’t care that much about what I was writi ng.  But 

that was good advice that ti me. I should have paid att enti on to him.

Hughes:  You really sort of regret that one?

Ferguson:  No, I just wish I had said it diff erently.

Hughes:  And the upshot of that was the noti on that one way to really induce peace in the 

 Middle East is to – 

Ferguson:  Kill their children.

Hughes:  You quoted former Israeli Prime Minister Golda  Meir as saying, “This won’t be 

sett led unti l they love their children more than they hate  Jews.” And then you added, “The 

next ti me a bunch of  Arab youths are throwing rocks at the Israeli tanks, mow them down. 

Kill them. Keep doing it unti l the Arabs decide whether they really hate the Jews more than 

they love their children.”  I’ve got all these clippings and e-mails that say this column is real 

evidence of your racism – that it was a racist screed and that you are fundamentally just an 
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insensiti ve person.  You plead innocent to those charges?

Ferguson:  Oh yeah.  I’m not a racist.

Hughes:  So what do you regret about that?  Do you think you could have just said it more 

deft ly?

Ferguson:  Yes, I could have done it a litt le diff erently. 

Hughes:  Someone suggested to me that for a lot of years, especially when Gene  Gisley was 

there at the  Sun, that you had had an editor you really trusted who might have dissuaded 

you from writi ng stuff  like  that.  And now that you’re —

Ferguson:  Well, he didn’t run a couple of my columns. He spiked one I wrote criti cizing 

something the City of  Bremerton was doing that he had promoted editorially. And he 

didn’t run one about the annual  Sigma Delta Chi journalism contest. I said that it wasn’t 

always the best stuff  that was chosen. It depended on who was doing the judging.

Hughes:  Did  Gisley give you good advice over the years?  

Ferguson:  Yeah, but he didn’t really need to advise me.  He read the columns.  See, I have 

no editor now.  The only editor I get is Bill ( Will, of the  Washington Newspaper Associati on) 

and he doesn’t change anything.

Hughes:  Bright guy, though.

Ferguson:  Yeah, he’s a really nice guy, too.  I don’t have to pay him a dime, you know, he 

does all this for nothing.  I send him a fruitcake every Christmas.

Hughes:  One of my favorite things when we were running your column at Aberdeen was 

that annual Yuleti de fruitcake recipe. The readers loved it. Do you have the ingredients for 

that recipe so that we can make it part of the oral history?  

Ferguson:  Sure. I used to put it in the column. That is a wonderful fruitcake.  And the men 

in parti cular love it.  

Hughes:  It’s not the awful kind of fruitcake that you would just pass along to someone else 

or use as a doorstop.  

Ferguson:  The one reason that many people didn’t like fruitcakes and fruitcakes got a 

bad rep was because everybody puts citron in them. This one has dates, and candied 

pineapples, and candied cherries, and nuts.  That’s all.
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Hughes:  So how did the fruitcake thing start?

Ferguson:  Well, actually when I fi rst came to  Bremerton there was a guy, Cornish 

 Southerland, standing on the street corner handing out copies of this fruitcake recipe.  

And I got it and I didn’t do anything with it.  Then aft er a while I thought, “Well, God, I 

should make it.” And it was just delicious, just wonderful.  So I ran the column and, God, 

everybody was making the fruitcake.  Every year I’d get lett ers saying, “Oh please print the 

fruitcake recipe.”

Hughes:  So it became a perennial.

Ferguson:  Oh yeah.  And then I had to quit because some people complained, “You 

shouldn’t be putti  ng recipes in the column.”  I don’t know why not. Dear Abby does it all 

the ti me. 

Hughes:  People complained?

Ferguson:  People on the paper complained.

Hughes:  Oh.

Ferguson:  Editors are funny people.  

You know the column that I write that gets the most reacti on from my readers?  

Any ti me I write about my animals.  When I write about the dogs or the cat or any animals 

around here I just hear about it for weeks. Oh God, how they love that.  I’ve got one 

writt en now about the chipmunk that’s trying to make love to my cat. There’s a chipmunk 

out here. The cat is sitti  ng out here looking out the door with her nose up against the glass 

and this chipmunk comes running up, puts his litt le feet up on the glass next to hers, and 

tries to kiss the door.  And the cat goes, WHAM, like this you know.

Hughes:  This is the  Scarlet Pimpernel?  Is that your cat’s name?

Ferguson:  Yes.  She’s named that because when we fi rst got her she disappeared into a 

hole in the wall and we couldn’t get her out. She was back by where the water faucets 

are to the washer.  So when she came out eventually we boarded up the hole.  She found 

another hole.  Well, when she came out of that one, we boarded it up.  There is no place 

that that cat can’t hide. She’s always hiding somewhere.  Now when you leave, the minute 

your car goes down the driveway she’ll come out.  She’ll say, “Well, they’re gone aren’t 

they?”  She’s AWOL, by God.
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Hughes:  You’re exactly right. Animals really resonate with people.

Ferguson:  Oh yeah.  Thomas  Friedman, The  New York Times columnist, wrote one 

yesterday about his Westi e pup dog. Did you read that?

Hughes:  No I didn’t.  But he’s really good.

Ferguson:  Well, I read that all the way through and almost cried at the end. His dog died in 

his arms.  But those kinds of things … People really love that.

Hughes:  So besides the fruitcake, were there any other sort of perennial columns that you 

did over the years?

Ferguson:  Well, I always write one about what happens at our  Electi on Day luncheon, how 

it comes out, how we vote and all this kind of stuff .  And I someti mes write one about my 

annual Christmas party.  I do the annual family Christmas party, and it’s fun. The kids just 

adore it.

Hughes:  You mean here at your house?

Ferguson:  Here. Used to have all my family, but it got to be too many people.  I mean 

when you get 40, 50 people in here, I never get to sit down for the whole evening.

Hughes:  Both the kids and grandchildren? They’re all prett y much on the  Kitsap Peninsula?

Ferguson:  Everybody lives here.  Except my brother that I’m close too lives over by 

 Ravensdale in  King County and one of my sisters lives over there.  I just lost a brother back 

in  Virginia.  It’s really funny how they go. … I’m outliving everybody.  

Hughes:  Have you done your genealogy? Is there longevity in that  Scotch- Norwegian 

heritage?

Ferguson:  I’m not sure.  See my father died at 65, my brother died at 42.  And my mother 

died at 79.  

Hughes:  What do you do for fun?  I see that you’re doing crossword puzzles and jigsaw 

puzzles.

Ferguson:  Oh, well, I do everything.  I go to stuff , but only in dayti me.  I don’t go to night 

stuff  because I don’t want to come home in the dark.

Hughes:  Why is that?

Ferguson:  Well because I don’t have any neighbors.  And I get mean lett ers from people.  
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Hughes:  Do you?

Ferguson:  People telling me I ought to be put to death.  Oh yeah, I get nasty things.

Hughes:  Was there ever a ti me in all your years in reporti ng and column writi ng where you 

felt that any of those threats were really the real thing.

Ferguson:  I don’t know. … I never worried a lot. 

Hughes:  Looking back on this fascinati ng life, what really just annoys the rods out of you?

Ferguson:  One ti ny thing that annoys me is that any ti me the president or another 

important person is going to speak, they give an advance copy to the media. And the 

goddamn media will tell you everything that’s in it before the guy even gets up in front of 

the microphone.  And that just irritates the hell out of me!  I don’t want the announcer to 

say, the president is going to tell me this and this and this.  Just let him tell me!

Hughes:  Here’s a veteran newspaper woman, reporter and columnist, and a lot ti mes 

you’ve really been annoyed with your own profession.

Ferguson:  Oh yeah, a lot of ti mes. You bet.

Hughes: Because you’re so easy to talk to, and people enjoy being around you, did you 

ever sort of say to your colleagues, “Gee, guys, why do you keep doing this stuff ?”

Ferguson:  I’ve writt en so many columns there can’t be anything I haven’t writt en about.  

I was writi ng a column the other day about the diff erence between the kind of questi ons 

that these mainstreamers will ask the  Republican and the ones they’ll ask the  Democrat.  

To the Democrat they’ll say, “Well, Mr.  Obama, which job did you enjoy the most – being a 

lecturer at  Harvard or signing up voters?”  And then they’ll turn around to the Republican 

and say, “Mr.  McCain, what’s the worst thing you ever did in your life that you’re the most 

ashamed of?”  You know what I mean? See how they do it?  The other day they had a 

“Campaign ’08” special secti on in either The  P-I or The  Times.  On this side they had a story 

about McCain, and on this side they had a story about Obama.  On this side they had eight 

menti ons of McCain and seven menti ons of Obama in the same  Associated Press story. ….  

On this side they had 17 menti ons of Obama and two menti ons of McCain.  Now, you can’t 

tell me that that isn’t bias.

Hughes:  Where does that spring from?
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Ferguson:  It springs from the fact that these people are I suppose from the ’60s.  I don’t 

know.  But they’ve got an inbred hatred of conservati ves.  And I am a conservati ve. I may 

not be a total Republican, but I’m a conservati ve.

Hughes:  You’re certainly not a litmus test conservati ve.

Ferguson:  No. I’m not.

Hughes:  As you pointed out earlier, you’re pro-choice.  

Ferguson:  Yeah.  And I was for that litt le boy in  Florida, Elian  Gonzalez, being given back to 

his father in  Cuba in 2000. (Editor’s Note: The custody and immigrati on status of the young 

Cuban boy was a heated controversy involving the governments of Cuba and the U.S, the 

boy’s father, Elian’s relati ves in Cuba and Florida, and the Cuban-American community in 

 Miami. A district court’s ruling that the Miami relati ve could not peti ti on for asylum on the 

boy’s behalf was upheld by the courts, and  Elian returned to  Cuba to live with his father.)

Hughes:  Did you write about that?

Ferguson:  Oh yeah, you bet.  You know what I got the most lett ers on of all the columns? 

I got over one hundred lett ers when I was against the rifl e deal – about whether people 

should be allowed to buy those fancy rifl es.  I said I was opposed to it.  And damn near all 

of the lett ers were opposed to me.  

Hughes:  So that was a gun-control issue, and the “fancy” rifl es – you mean like high-

powered rifl es?

Ferguson:  Well, the kind that they kill people with.

Hughes:  Armor-piercing bullets and all that?

Ferguson:  Yeah, I got over a hundred lett ers.

Hughes:  That doesn’t surprise me at all, having done journalism in a hunti ng and fi shing 

area.  So you don’t want to disarm people, but you don’t see why they need bazookas and 

armor- piercing bullets?

Ferguson:  I have guns.  I’ve killed six deer.  

Hughes:  When you think back on your career, what’s the most memorable part?  As a 

storyteller and observer, how would you sum it up?

Ferguson:  I don’t know, except that when I got ready to reti re in 1993, I thought, “Boy this 
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is going to be great to not have any deadlines to meet anymore.”  And I’m sti ll doing it.  … 

But I like to write.

Hughes:  So you’re writi ng every day?

Ferguson:  No, not necessarily, but I’m 

sure writi ng when I have to.

Hughes:  And how many columns a week?

Ferguson:  Three.

Hughes:  How many columns do you fi gure 

you’ve writt en since 1965?

Ferguson:  I tried to fi gure that out 

because I don’t remember when I stopped 

writi ng fi ve and started writi ng three.  

Hughes:  But if you extrapolate it and you include  “The Farmer’s Daughter” columns …

Ferguson:  Not counti ng The Farmer’s Daughter.  I couldn’t fi gure out where to start.

Hughes:  So, 1965 you started out doing fi ve, and the least you’ve ever done is three.  From 

1965 to present, 43 years.

Ferguson:  Yeah.  I was sti ll writi ng down in  Olympia, and Gene  Gisley was editor when I 

went to three.  

Hughes:  I’ll fi gure it out. We’ll come up with an esti mate. … What other things do you like 

to do when you’re not researching or writi ng the column?

Ferguson:  Well, I use to crochet. I’ve crocheted many beauti ful, gorgeous afghans.  And 

I drew. My  husband was a fi ne painter.  These two pictures on the wall here are by his 

grandmother.  … I’m a collector. I collect many, many things.  I used to do a lot of gardening 

and outdoor work, and I used to like to hike, but I can’t do all that so much anymore.  I 

wish I could.  And I like to write. I love to read. I work jigsaw puzzles.

Hughes:  What is there about jigsaw puzzles?

Ferguson:  I don’t know, but I’m really good at it.  I can leave the room and come back and 

fi nd exactly the piece I’m looking for.

Hughes:  What does that tell us about this mind of yours?

Adele in her offi  ce at her Hansville home,  2008
John Hughes, The Legacy Project
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Ferguson:  I don’t know.  If I had to choose between booze and jigsaw puzzles I would have 

a hard ti me.  I drink every day.

Hughes:  What do you drink these days?

Ferguson:  McNaughton’s and water.

Hughes:  Have you run into meddlesome physicians over the years who tell you not to do 

that?

Ferguson:  Some of them, when I had my eye operati on for cataracts.  

Hughes:  You’ve got the eyes of a 30-year-old, Adele.

Ferguson:  Really? Oh good.  When I had that operati on, my directi ons said no drinking 

the night before the operati on.  So I said to my doctor, “How come I can’t drink?”  

He said, “What do you mean you can’t drink?”  I said, “Well, you told me to ask the 

anesthesiologist whether I could drink and he said I couldn’t.”  And the doctor said, “Well, 

I’m countermanding that right now. You can drink.”  So I did, and I thought, “Well he didn’t 

think it would hurt me any. “ I don’t drink too much. I don’t get drunk.  Someti mes I just 

drink one; someti mes two, but someti mes three, depending on how long it takes to make 

dinner.  

Hughes:  And you’re cooking for yourself. John’s gone now.

Ferguson:  And I’m not going anywhere in my car.  

Hughes:  I keep saying “John,” but you called your husband “ Phil.”

Ferguson:  Yeah, I call him “Phil.”  Someti mes people called him “Whitey” and “Blondie.” 

That’s what they called him when he was in the  Navy.  

Hughes:  Have you spent any ti me around young Tim  Eyman, the initi ati ve king

Ferguson:  He calls me constantly.  And he’s a guy who’s on the phone for 40 minutes at a 

crack.

Hughes:  And what is that like?

Ferguson:  Well, I just have to sit and listen to him.  I like him. He’s very smart.

Hughes:  Do you think that he’s just gone overboard with all these initi ati ves?

Ferguson:  I think he is a litt le overboard on this latest one (opening car-pool lanes during 

some hours and synchronizing traffi  c lights). I think he’s almost reached the point where 
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he’s doing it because it’s a way of living for him now. I sti ll have great suspicions of the 

people in power who will do anything to stay in power. I think voti ng by mail is kind of easy 

to meddle with.  

Have you ever thought about doing a book?

Ferguson:  Oh, I know, but it takes ti me.

Hughes:  I know, but I’m sure you’ve read Gordon  Newell’s book, “Rogues, Buff oons 

and Statesmen.” It ends in the early 1970s. Someone needs to bring that history of the 

Legislature and Olympia up to date. Don Brazier’s books are really good, but you could 

make things more colorful. 

Ferguson:  Yeah, yeah, yeah.  I’ve thought of printi ng copies of my columns.

Hughes:  I think that would be a great idea.  I’m surprised that you haven’t done that 

already.

Ferguson:  I’ve got them. I’ve got them all.

Hughes:  It’s easier than ever before because when you print a book today with modern 

technology you don’t have to print 20,000 copies. 

Ferguson:  Some of those are really good columns.  Not just the ones on politi cs but on 

other things.  I thought one really funny one I wrote was when a guy – actually he was 

one of my sons-in-law at the ti me – he wanted a special bott le of wine.  So I called the 

liquor store to fi nd out if I could get this special bott le of wine.  It goes like this – of course 

I don’t remember the actual names of the wines.  But they said, “Well we don’t have 

Ansenhauersnickenbott led, but we do have Snickebookiehockeybuck.”  

And I’d say, “No I think Ansenhauersnickenbott led is what we have.” 

 “Well, now there’s Solumott lesnakinbrackin.”

 And it just got funnier and funnier as it went with these people trying to get this 

damn bott le of wine.

Hughes: Can you share with us some tricks of the trade that you learned over the years as 

a writer? Things you fell back on invariably.  

Ferguson:  Always know the names of the secretaries of the people you want to talk to.  So 

you call up. You want to talk to mayor so and so. You fi nd out that his secretary’s name is. 
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Let’s say it’s Bett y. You say, “Hi Bett y, Adele here.  How about the boss?”  If you treat them 

like equals, treat them so that you know who they are, so they’re real people and not just 

on the staff , they’ll kill themselves to help you.

Hughes:  Like always get to know the janitor and the school secretary.  

 Do you have any kind of interview techniques to put people at ease? You’re famous 

for asking blunt questi ons. Do you think people really appreciate that?

Ferguson:  Not if you ask them too blunt a questi on. Then they don’t appreciate it.

Hughes:  Know when to hold ’em and fold ’em.  Know when to be blunt and when to be 

more soothing.  Is that it? 

Ferguson:  Somebody told me the last ti me I was on a panel with the  Associati on of 

Washington Business, and I asked the questi on aft erward, “How come nobody else asked 

questi ons?”  And the guy said, “Would you?  If you were out here, you wouldn’t ask 

another questi on if somebody like you was going to answer them.”  They felt I was too 

honest I guess, or too mean.  I don’t know what it was. But I say what I think.

Hughes:  Did you ever get to interview any presidents?

Ferguson:  Oh yeah.

Hughes:  Who did you interview?

Ferguson:  Well let’s see – I talked to John  Kennedy.  As a matt er of fact I had an awful ti me 

trying to get a picture of him.  Once I was doing the pictures as well as writi ng the story, 

and they were parking his car at the airport right in front of me.

Hughes:  John F. Kennedy?

Ferguson:  Yep.  Every ti me I’d get my camera up one of the  FBI guys would come over and 

stand right in front of me.  Right in front of me!

Hughes:  Was he president then?

Ferguson:  Yeah.  And I’d move, and the guy would move, and I’d move here and the guy 

would move.  I fi nally said to Kennedy, “Would you make him stop that!”

Hughes:  Where was this Adele?

Ferguson:  Seatt le,  SeaTac, I think.

Hughes:  Did you get to talk to him?
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Ferguson:  Just briefl y.  When he comes through in the line you can talk to him, ask him 

a quick questi on but I don’t remember anything about that.  I do remember this: It was 

when he came through to go that baseball fi eld in Tacoma.  I was down there, and Sen. 

Frances Haddon  Morgan from  Kitsap County was there, too. Her mother, Lulu  Haddon, 

had also served in the House and Senate. Frances was a big, big heavyset lady who was in 

the Senate for a long ti me.  She had her granddaughter with her.  So she’s standing in the 

crowd.  So just as John F. Kennedy comes by with his bodyguard, she reaches out, grabs 

his arm, pulls it forward, puts her granddaughter’s hand in his, and shakes their hands 

together.  She said, “I wanted my granddaughter to shake hands with the president.”  I 

thought those Secret Service guys were going to kill her.  Kennedy just laughed, but it 

wasn’t long aft er that he was shot.  You know he was shot right aft er he’d been here.

Hughes:  So who else? Did you talk to President  Clinton?

Ferguson:  No.  But I talked to Gerald  Ford.  I also talked to Jack  Kemp and Nelson 

 Rockefeller.

Hughes:  Best interview you ever did?

Ferguson:  I don’t know. I just don’t think about it in those terms.  

Hughes:  You said something earlier to the eff ect when you’re a reporter that usually once 

it’s done, it’s over.

Ferguson:  It really is.

Hughes: Do I summarize correctly that you believe Dan  Evans is by far and away the best 

governor we’ve had on your watch?

Ferguson:  I hate to say that while Al  Rosellini is sti ll alive.  I can say that Dan Evans and Al 

Rosellini were the best.

Hughes:  Have you been around those two when they’ve been together? 

Ferguson:  No, not that much, on a rare occasion.  But I’ve been on the panels that ask 

them questi ons.  One ti me when they had this panel over in Eastern Washington. I was 

invited to come over and they were going to do Evans and Rosellini.  I was told that I was 

the only reporter picked by both sides to be on the panel.

Hughes:  That’s a real honor.
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Ferguson:  They said the Evans people said, “Well, geez, you know she’s going to jump all 

over you about such and such.”  And they said, “Yeah, but she’ll get all over him, too.”

Hughes:  So you always tried to be — what did John  Spellman say? “That she was mean 

someti mes, but fair”? 

Ferguson: I always tried to be fair.

Hughes: Well, we’re winding down today. Tell me about how this place where you live 

came to be  Hansville?

Ferguson:  I got ti red of living near  Seabeck because most of the people who lived there 

were old ti mers and did not welcome anybody who hadn’t been there a hundred years like 

they had.  So I thought, “Let’s get out of this place.”  I began reading the papers, looked at 

The  Seatt le Times.

Hughes:  What year was that?

Ferguson:  1965.  So I kept reading the ads for houses and I saw this one up here.  “150 feet 

of waterfront home,” the ad said. And I thought, “Gee, that really sounds good. “I wanted 

to get away from my folks, and they lived right next door practi cally.  So I drove up on my 

lunch hour at noon the very next day. I worked unti l my deadline, which was 11 o’clock.

Hughes:  So how long does it take to get here from The  Sun (newspaper offi  ces in 

Bremerton)?

Ferguson:  Forty-fi ve minutes.

 So I came up here and these people were living here.  It turned out they had leased 

the place with an opti on to buy at the end of one year.  The year had gone by and they had 

decided to try and get it cheaper than 27,000 bucks, so they dallied.  And the owner got 

ti red of it.  He adverti sed. I answered. I walked down on the beach and I’d always wanted 

an emerald ring. All my life I’d wanted an emerald ring.  I went down on the beach, and 

found a green plasti c ring out of some kind of a toy box or something, and I picked it up 

and I thought, “That’s some kind of a sign.”  That ring tells me that I want this. I had come 

and it was beauti ful here!

Hughes:  I’ll bet – like today.

Ferguson:  So I went back and I told my  husband, “We have to have that place!”  We didn’t 
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have any money, but we did have another place over near  Poulsbo that was kind of on the 

water, so we put that up and went to the bank.  Of course, we always paid. My folks never 

paid anybody. I was the kid who had to go out and tell the bill collector they weren’t home …

Hughes:  I was earning $78.50 a week for a fi ve-and-a-half -day week as a cub reporter 

with The  Aberdeen Daily World in 1966.  Were you doing a lot bett er than that on The Sun?

Ferguson:  Oh no, I wasn’t doing a lot bett er than that.  The Bremerton Sun didn’t pay that 

highly, and I had even been there for quite a while.

 So anyway, we told them we’d take the place.  And we scratched up the down 

payment, which was twenty-fi ve hundred bucks or something.  And about this ti me the 

people who were in here decided they didn’t want to leave.  And they told the owner, 

“Now we’re ready to sign. We want to exercise our opti on to buy the place.” The owner 

says, “You’re too late.  You should have done it when the year was up.” Well, they wouldn’t 

get out of the house.  So they set a date for the house to be vacated and for us to get in.  

 Phil and I drove up every night from out by  Seabeck just to look at our house.  We did this 

for I bet a month and a half, two months, waiti ng to get these people out of here.  Well, 

fi nally the day came … We loaded our furniture onto a U-Haul truck, and came up and 

they’re sti ll in our house!  But the owner of the house and the real estate agent told them 

it was ti me to go …

Hughes:  Adios!

Ferguson:  We passed each other in the doorway.  I mean they’re bringing stuff  out, and 

we’re bringing stuff  in.  

Hughes:  It wasn’t “God bless you and have a wonderful life”?

Ferguson:  Oh, they were just furious.  But not too much later, their daughter got in some 

trouble at school. She was accused of something that she didn’t do.  Falsely accused.  

And somebody told them to come talk to me because I would write about it.  They came 

and talked to me, and I wrote about it, and the daughter got off .  Then we were friends. 

(laughter)

 In any case, we moved into the house and were madly in love with the house and 

have been ever since. … All the people up and down where I live here are former  University 
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of Washington faculty members.  At one ti me somebody put on a big sales pitch at the UW 

and a whole bunch of these people bought all these houses up and down here.  And they 

just came over on holidays or for the summer or something.  So we were all alone up here.

Hughes:  Is that  Point No Point down there where the lighthouse is?

Ferguson:  Yeah, that’s Point No Point.  This is  Foulweather Bluff  up here at the other end.

Hughes:  Do you know the derivati on of “ Hansville”?

Ferguson:  Nah, I did once but I don’t really care.  I suppose Hans must have sett led it. … 

(Editor’s Note: Hansville is named for Hans  Zachariasen, one of the fi rst sett lers, in the 

1880s.) 

Hughes:  So how many people live here?

Ferguson:  I don’t know. There’s a gang of them now.  

Hughes:  Here you are in this wonderful place overlooking  Puget Sound.

Ferguson:   Admiralty Inlet.

Hughes:  We’re at the northern ti p of the  Kitsap Peninsula?

Ferguson:  Yeah.  Skunk Bay.

Hughes:  Has anybody over the years made any funny metaphors on that – “Adele 

Ferguson is sti ll writi ng columns at Skunk Bay”?

Ferguson:  No. (smiling) And across the road here I own 20 acres.  Mount Baker is straight 

across from me. So is  Whidbey Island.

Hughes:  So do you get into  Olympia anymore?

Ferguson:  Not much anymore.

Hughes:  There’s all these clippings here, and you listen to the radio and you watch TV.  

What are you writi ng columns about today?  

Ferguson:  Well let’s see, what did I write about last week? I can’t recall.

Hughes:  Someti mes I couldn’t remember, either. Isn’t that awful?

Ferguson:  Yeah, people say to me, “Gee I really liked your column this week.”  I say, “What 

was it about?”

Hughes:  That is the most horrible feeling.  I’m so glad you said that.  There were ti mes I’d 

think, “My God, am I losing it?  But you write so many and you can’t remember what they 
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are.  And you’re moving on to something else all the ti me.  

Ferguson:  And once you put it behind you, it’s behind you.  The last one I wrote was 

about an old newspaper friend of mine who once told me that in the year of the  Great 

Depression in 1929, her devout Catholic, widowed mother got a phone call from her priest 

saying, “Go down to the bank immediately and take out all your money.”  But she couldn’t 

fi nd her girdle so she didn’t go and put it off  unti l the next day.  And the next day the bank 

didn’t open!  

Hughes:  Well, here’s a column you wrote just the other day – “Candidates Long on Talk, 

Short on Substance.”  So there you go. Some things never change?

Ferguson:  Yeah. That’s from this year.

Hughes:  Was there a questi on that you really want to answer that you wish I’d had the wit 

to ask?  

Ferguson:  No.  Are you coming back, or are you done? You’re going to sit down and 

wonder where the holes are?

Hughes:  Yeah, exactly.  I haven’t had so much fun in a long ti me.

Ferguson:  I’ll probably think of some more funny stories.

Hughes:  Well, what a pleasure to spend this ti me with you, Adele.  

Ferguson:  Thank you so much.

END OF INTERVIEW I

Adele Ferguson 

October 23, 2008
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Interview II

Adele Ferguson

November 13, 2008

Hughes:  It’s Nov. 13, 2008 we’re back with Adele Ferguson at  Hansville.   Wiccy and  Daisy, 

her dogs, are under foot, and The  Scarlet Pimpernel, a tabby, is around here someplace. 

Ferguson:  Under the bed.

Hughes:  Under the bed again.  Well, we’re almost done transcribing the fi rst part, and you 

were talking about someone we couldn’t identi fy from the tape – The  Seatt le P-I reporter 

who resented you when you arrived at the Capitol in 1961.

Ferguson:  You mean Stub  Nelson?

Hughes:  Was it Stub Nelson?

Ferguson:  It was Stub Nelson.  It was the guy I told you about who got the nose bleeds?

Hughes:  Yes.

Ferguson:  Whenever he got very stressed and was just up to here not knowing what to do 

to next, he got nosebleeds.  

Hughes:  So in point of fact, it was Stub Nelson who got snott y with you when you 

inadvertently sat in his chair?

Ferguson:  Yes, yes.

Hughes:  Do you know Stub’s real name?

Ferguson:  No.  I never heard he ever had one.  Everybody called him Stub.  

Hughes:  That’s a great name.  So, later on did you and Stub make amends?

Ferguson:  Oh yeah… But for a long ti me none of them, except Leroy  Hitt le, would even 

speak to me. They thought I was just playing around. You know what I mean?  Leroy was 

the  AP guy. Everybody loved Leroy.  And he helped me so much; he just took me under his 

wing.  We used to have these litt le cubicles all down the wall, and Leroy’s offi  ce was here.  

He gave me one on the end so I’d be closest to him.  Stub was in there too because there 

wasn’t that much room.  But eventually, even though I didn’t get along with these guys 

very well, eventually I was one of the ones who wrote the rules for how the press had to 

behave.  Well, they named me and I forget who else – Bill  Mertena of the  AP maybe— to 
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write rules.  Did you know Mertena?

Hughes:  I did. Good guy.

Ferguson:  Bill  Mertena, incidentally, hated “GOP.” He just had fi ts when anybody used 

“GOP” for Republicans in a story.  Didn’t bother me none.  I thought one of the reasons 

they use GOP, because in the headline it’s shorter.  

Hughes:  Sure, “Dems” and” GOP”

Ferguson:  I use Rs and Ds someti mes.  Aft er I’ve used the other, of course.

Hughes:  So how long did it take for the ice to melt with the guys at the  Capitol?

Ferguson:  A couple of months – two, three months.

Hughes:  But that wasn’t true with any of your sources.

Ferguson:  Oh no, no, no.  Most of my sources to begin with were lobbyists.

Hughes: How did your annual  Electi on Day luncheon go on Nov. 4?

Ferguson:  Well, we did have some stellar guests at the  Silverdale Yacht Club Broiler.  We 

used to have it other places, wherever we could hold enough people.  But Gordon  Walgren 

and I are the hosts. For some years it’s just been the two of us, and Ralph  Munro.  Many 

ti mes both he and Gordon have picked up the tab for the whole thing.  One of them paid 

for the booze and one of them paid for the food.  Everybody’s hopeful that they’ll do it 

again. (laughs)  But anyway, Gordon and I meet and then we decide who to invite. It’s by 

invitati on.  Although enough people hear about it and want to come that if they ask us, and 

they aren’t too rott en, we’ll say, “Just drop by.”  But there are some people we leave out 

of it because other people there don’t like them.  We don’t embarrass people by having 

somebody they hate come to the luncheon.  But this last ti me we had 40 names.  I said to 

Gordon, “I’ve got so many here, and I want to be sure we have some  Republicans.”  See I 

generally look at the Republicans, and Gordon looks at the  Democrats.  

He says, “I think that you’re getti  ng ahead of me.  I’ve got to get more Democrats in 

here.”  

I said, “Well, I don’t care.”  

Dick  Marquardt, the former insurance commissioner and ex-legislator, calls me 

every once in a while.  And last year when he called me, it was aft er our luncheon, I said, 
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“Why don’t you come next year to our luncheon on Electi on Day?”  

“I will,” he said.  

I said, “OK.”  

So this year he said, “You remind me.”  

So this year I told him, “Now remember the luncheon is noonish at the  Silverdale 

Yacht Club Broiler, and it lasts a couple hours.  And you have to pay for your own lunch.”  

So he said, “OK.”  And then he calls back, he said, “You know, I don’t want to drive 

over there all by myself. I’m going to ask Jimmy  Andersen to come with me.”  Jimmy is a 

former Supreme Court Justi ce, old friend of mine. I love the guy. Wonderful guy. Then he 

called me back and he said, “I decided we’d ask Dan  Evans to come.”  And Dan came.

Hughes:  This ti me?

Ferguson:  Yeah. We’ve got   Marquardt, Evans and Andersen.  Andersen was a great friend 

of Gordon’s too.  Andersen and  Gordon put together a package of crime bills in the Senate.  

I think Andersen defended Gordon. I can’t remember whether or not he testi fi ed, but he 

defended Gordon in his  “Gamscam” thing.  I also invited an old friend of mine who was a 

federal judge. That’s Bob  Bryan.  He was here in  Kitsap.  He was Dan Evans’ chair for his 

campaign one ti me.  This year, aft er most everybody was gone, Bob and Gordon and a few 

other people stayed behind.  And Bob said something about, “I was glad to see Dan. Aft er 

all, Dan named me to the Superior Court. He came over and asked me how would I like to 

be a judge?”  

And I said, “Well, you know, Bob, my recollecti on of that was that the second ti me, 

or whatever, they asked you to be the chairman of his campaign for governor, you turned 

him down.  And you didn’t get that appointment to the court when it was open.  Later on 

you got one.”   

Bob says, “Oh no, that’s not the way it was.  He came over and off ered me the 

appointment, and I took the appointment. (Bryan was a Superior Court Judge before he 

became a U.S. District Judge.)   

And so I said, “I remember very clearly that you didn’t get it when you were 

supposed to get it.”  Well, he denied that, you know.  But everybody at the table said, “I 
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like your version of it best, Adele!”

Hughes:  The luncheon was on  Electi on Day. What was the consensus on the outcome of 

the electi on?

Ferguson:  There were only four of us who went for  McCain.  And I said, “Who are the 

other three people here?”  And I knew  Marquardt was one of them, but he didn’t put his 

hand up.  Earlier, he told me on the phone, “McCain is going to win this because of the 

‘ Bradley Factor.’ ” And I said, “Well, I keep hearing that there never was a Bradley Factor.”  

I mean they just say that people tell people they’re going to vote for the black guy, but 

they’re not going to do it. 

Hughes:  Ralph  Munro was a strong McCain backer, wasn’t he?

Ferguson:  Oh yeah. McCain came to  Bremerton and drew one of the biggest crowds you 

ever saw in Bremerton. 

Hughes:  Did you really think that McCain could sti ll pull it out?

Ferguson:  Well, I hoped so. And I thought, by golly, this guy ( Obama) has got no more 

experience than a freshman in high school to come in here and want to be president.  But 

let me say, too, that while I liked Sarah  Palin, she doesn’t have any more experience to be 

president either, and I think she’s making a big mistake now to keep shooti ng her mouth 

off  about maybe running for president in ’12. I think that’s a big mistake. I think what she 

ought to say is, “Well, we’ll see how things look then.”  I thought, “Don’t do that.” Now 

you’re laying it out there, and now Bobby  Jindal and these other guys are going to look 

upon her as being too pushy.

Hughes:  Bobby Jindal, the governor of  Louisiana, is a very impressive young man.

Ferguson:  Isn’t he? I really like him.

Hughes:  So this is quite a luncheon you had.  There’s Dan  Evans, and Gordon  Walgren, and 

Jimmy  Andersen, and Dick  Marquardt— 

Ferguson:  And Ralph  Munro, and bunch of county offi  cials … and ex-county offi  cials, and 

ex-mayors, and ex-legislators.  Betti    Sheldon was there. She was at the center of one of our 

biggest mistakes. When she was running for the Legislature against Ellen  Craswell, we all 

voted on who we thought would win. We voted almost unanimously that Ellen Craswell 
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was just going to whip the crap out of Betti    Sheldon.  And Betti   burst into tears and left  the 

luncheon.  So we never did that again.

Hughes:  What was the outcome?  Did  Ellen win?

Ferguson:  No, Betti   won!  (laughs uproariously) We tell that story frequently at the lunch.

Hughes:  So you had a ballot on the presidency, and the gubernatorial race?

Ferguson:  By one vote, we said that  Rossi would beat  Gregoire, I think.  Or vice versa, I’d 

have to look that up.

Hughes:  Well, she’s winning by 200,000 votes.  No photo-fi nish this ti me. What do you 

make of that?

Ferguson:  It’s the left  coast. All up and down, it’s the left  coast.

Hughes:  You said one of the things you really wanted to talk about today was your old 

friend Clyde  Ballard, the Republican from  East Wenatchee who became speaker of the 

House in 1995. (Ballard was Speaker for two terms before sharing the speakership with 

Democrat Frank  Chopp in the wake of a 49-49 ti e.)

Ferguson:  Clyde was one of the most decent guys who ever served in the Legislature.  He 

and his wife operated an ambulance service.  

Hughes:  Tell me more about Clyde.

Ferguson:  Well, Clyde and his wife did not drink.  I forget who started this, but the 

traditi on was that the Speaker of the House would have the press in once a week and pour 

the drinks and have peanuts and stuff .

Hughes:  Is this the so-called  “Committ ee Room X”?

Ferguson:  No, you’d get your hair cut in Committ ee Room X and you’d get a drink while 

you’re in there.  Room X was on the third fl oor of the House up in the corner.  And they 

had a guy – Rep. Ralph C. “Brigham”  Young – who was a barber. They had cases of beer up 

there and stuff .  I could always tell when my legislators had been there because they always 

fell asleep aft er they came back down.

Hughes:  So you could get a haircut and a Budweiser from “Brigham” Young!

Ferguson:  Let’s see, who’s the chairman of the Transportati on Committ ee in the Senate?

Hughes:  Mary Margaret  Haugen.
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Ferguson:  Is she a hairdresser?

Hughes:  I don’t know.

Ferguson:  Well, she cut my hair a few ti mes. … You couldn’t get out to go downtown. She 

cut in the women’s lounge.  

Hughes:  I got you off  the topic of Clyde  Ballard.

Ferguson:  He didn’t drink, his wife didn’t drink.  But I told him, the social hour was a good 

idea. “This really works out well,” I said.  “It gets the press together for about an hour with 

the speaker and we can talk just off  the record unless you want it to be on the record.”  

And it sort of breaks the ice between these two groups of people.  This was weekly.  And 

so then the questi on was how was Clyde going to do that when he didn’t drink?  Well, then 

he concluded that he certainly didn’t have to drink.  They got all their booze from lobbyists, 

you know. They didn’t have to pay for it.  So Clyde and  Ruth would go ahead, and they 

started having the weekly meeti ngs.  He and Ruth were absolutely terrifi c.  Ruth never was 

paid for what she did. She just ran his offi  ce and took care of everything.  She was great, 

absolutely great, and Clyde was too.  I called them quite a bit aft er they left  the Legislature.

Hughes:  Here is a series of really good columns you wrote starti ng in February of 1967 

talking about Tom  Copeland and Speaker Don  Eldridge, and “What power really means in 

Legislati ve Circles.”  I don’t know much about Tom Copeland, one of the Republican leaders 

of that era.  

Ferguson:  Tom Copeland was a very wealthy farmer. He raised peas, and he did a lot of 

behind- the-scenes manipulati ng.

Hughes:  And he lost to Don Eldridge for Speaker, then ended up running the House, the 

business end of it.

Ferguson:  Yeah, and he was good at it.

Hughes:  Eldridge won the speakership in 1967, with the help of the Evans’ Republican 

Coaliti on.  And you did a really good column here headlined, “Some have misjudged 

Speaker Don Eldridge.”  “Don Eldridge has fooled a lot of people this session,” you wrote.  

“He’s a lot tougher than they thought he was going to be.  And he’s going to fool a lot more 

people before it’s over.” Tell me more about him.
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Ferguson:  He was a good friend. I admired him. He was a very smart guy. He and I used 

to meet and have lunch together aft er he left  the Legislature (and was appointed to the 

Liquor Control Board by Dan  Evans).  He’d call me up and I’d go down to  Olympia and we’d 

sit and shoot the breeze.  … He and I were friends, and I got along with most of the House 

speakers prett y good, although I got irked at Joe  King.  I shouldn’t even say this, but I will 

anyway – what the hell.  When Joe King was speaker, he had the booze recepti ons.  And 

here we are in this room full of people – reporters and all, and everybody was eati ng the 

peanuts and drinking the booze.  So Joe says, “We are going to pass the state income tax in 

this session.”  

And I said, “No, you’re not.”  

He said, “What do you want to bet?”  

I said, “Well, what do you want to bet?”  

He said, “I’ll bet you a bott le of good booze that we will pass the state income tax in 

this session.”  Put it on the ballot, you know.  

I said, “OK, I’ll take the bet.”  Well of course we didn’t.  I never got the booze.  

Hughes:  I don’t think in our lifeti mes we’re going to see Washingtonians approve an 

income tax, do you?

Ferguson:  Not when it has to go through them.  They just aren’t going to do it.

Hughes:  Gov. Evans made the best run I’ve ever seen. He made logical presentati ons on 

why it would be fairer, but the electorate wasn’t buying it.

Hughes:  (Sorti ng through copies of her columns) You say you’ve got all of these columns 

indexed, Adele?

Ferguson:  Yeah.

Hughes:  Are they in scrapbooks?

Ferguson:  They’re up there in books, page by page. See, this is my columns indexed.

Hughes:  How far back does that go?

Ferguson:  Back to the beginning – 1965.

Hughes:  And so you painstakingly kept a copy of each column, put it in a scrapbook.  

Ferguson:  Some of them are missing because I took them out to use and then didn’t put 
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them back, but not very many.

 Hughes:  So what’s your technique here in terms of indexing?

Ferguson:  It’s alphabeti cal.  And then I have other books that list each category, and then 

the numbers and the dates for the columns.

Hughes:  You’ve got good handwriti ng.  Did you develop shorthand, your own kind of 

shorthand?

Ferguson:  No.  But I used to love to watch Richard  Larsen, The  Seatt le Times reporter. He 

took all his notes about half and half. He’d do half real shorthand and the other half just 

notes.  He was a great guy, and a true gentleman, Mr. Larsen was.

Hughes:  At The Legacy Project, We did some research on two interesti ng Kitsap legislators, 

Lulu  Haddon, and her daughter Frances  Haddon Morgan, who was in the House and Senate 

for 10 years from 1959-69.  Apparently Lulu Haddon, the mom, who was in the House and 

Senate from 1933-42, was something of a trailblazer in her own right. 

Ferguson:  Oh sure.  Lulu was Finance Commissioner of  Bremerton once.  Lulu was 

very politi cal, and so was Frances.  Frances was something else.  She cried her bills into 

existence.  If she had a bill that she wanted, and they didn’t want to help her get it out 

of committ ee she just let tears go by the bucket.  And when they made her chairman of 

one of the committ ees, anybody who got a bill put in there that required the parents or 

caretakers of retarded kids to contribute to their care, by money, you never saw that bill 

again. She put it in her purse and it never came out.

Hughes:  Did she have a developmentally disabled child?

Ferguson:  Grandchild.  One ti me she hid out. For two or three days they couldn’t fi nd her, 

and they needed her to help get a bill out.  But she told me later, “You know, I was in the 

grocery store one of those days, and Jim  Dolliver (Evans’ chief of staff ) walked in and saw 

me in there.  And he just looked at me and acted like he didn’t see me.” (laughs) You know 

what the  Evans’ people did?  They liked her because they knew that what she did wasn’t 

for her. It was for those who can’t speak for themselves.  And so they put her on the Canal 

Commission in order to give her enough years to get a pension.  But in the end she didn’t 

get a pension.  When  Dixy was governor, Frances went into the governor’s offi  ce one day to 
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rest. They’ve got these couches out in the waiti ng area, and she sat down to rest her feet.  

And the girls who worked in there, one of them came over and asked her what she was 

doing there.  And she said, “Well, I’m just here to see people.  And I was ti red so I thought 

I’d come here and rest my feet.”  And she said they made it very plain to her that the 

couches were not for people to rest their feet.  So aft er that, Ralph  Munro, the secretary 

of state, got a great big armchair and put a metal tag on it that said, “This chair belongs to 

Frances Haddon  Morgan.”  He put it in his outer offi  ce.  And Frances, when she was ti red, 

would go sit in Ralph’s offi  ce and rest her feet.

Hughes:  What a remarkable guy.

Ferguson:  Yeah, really, and you know he wasn’t popular with  Republicans.  Isn’t that odd?

Hughes:  It is odd.

Ferguson:   Democrats loved him.  He worked hard for the older people, for the retarded 

kids, for anybody!  … Ralph gave me that clock up there, that red clock. It came from 

 Russia.  And when he came to the luncheon the other day, he brought me a bouquet of 

fl owers.  He’s that kind of a guy.

Hughes: Any other really memorable characters from over the years?

Ferguson:  Oh there were lots of them.  Rep. Bud  Kalich, of course, was a wonderful guy.

Hughes:  A rare popular Democrat from  Lewis County – ex-fi ghter pilot.

Ferguson:  I went down there and went elk hunti ng with him.  He had an old ranch or farm 

down there, with old apple trees.  And he wanted to preserve these old types of apples 

that they don’t sell anymore.

Hughes:  Heirloom apples.

Ferguson:  Yeah, that was one of his things.

Hughes:  You know, Adele, you need to do something about these dogs of yours. They’re so 

savage.  (Dogs are nuzzling interviewer’s crotch.) What kind of dog is Wiccy?

Ferguson:  Labrador.

Hughes:  I’ve never been around a Labrador that is this sweet – the face, the eyes, her 

beauti ful whiskers.  How did Wiccy come to be called “Wiccy”? Are you fond of the 

Wiccans?
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Ferguson:  No, I did it because she was such 

a problem to me.  See when I fi rst got her my 

daughter had picked her up by the side of the road 

someplace.  And she had her for a week or so. My 

daughter picks up all those dogs and fi nds homes 

for them.  So she brought her out here and gave 

her to me.  And she would run off .  She was always 

down at the road looking for whoever dumped her 

off .  And when a car would go by, someti mes she’d 

chase it. I knew she was going to get killed.  So I 

paid a thousand to have this fence put in all the 

way around to keep her in.  … I never       

     saw a stray I didn’t pick up if I could catch it.  

Hughes:  What’s the most diffi  cult column you’ve had to write – just really a gut-wrencher?

Ferguson:  I don’t know…  I’m prett y good at writi ng when people die.  The one I wrote 

about Paul  Conner, everybody just loved that one.  Paul was in the Legislature from the 

24th District for more than 30 years. Nobody ever wrote some of the stuff  I wrote.  Bob 

 Schaefer, you know, he was Speaker of the House, he was a foundling. Did you know that?

Hughes:  I didn’t.

Ferguson:  He was left  in a basket on the doorstep someplace. I don’t know if it was a 

home or an orphanage or something like that, down in  Vancouver.  And I wrote a whole 

column saying, “Isn’t it too bad that somewhere there are a couple of people who don’t 

know that the baby they left  on that doorstep became the Speaker of the House of 

Representati ves.

Hughes:  You were here when the legendary  Tyee Motel at  Tumwater burned in 1970?

Ferguson:  Yeah, but I didn’t stay at the Tyee.

Hughes:  Quite a watering hole for the legislati ve crowd wasn’t it?

Ferguson:  Yeah, there were a lot of trysts, you might say, out there.  Incidentally, I wanted 

to menti on now that we’ve got President-Elect Barack  Obama, that State Rep. Sam  Smith, 

Adele with her black Labrador Wiccy
and Springer Spaniel Daisy, 2008
John Hughes, The Legacy Project 
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a black man from  Seatt le, stayed at the  Olympian Hotel, as I did, in the 1960s. And at least 

once during every session, he’d have a party for all the black people from around the state 

– you know 40, 50 people.  And I was the only press person that was invited.  You never 

saw people so dressed up in your life.  I mean they’d wear the most gorgeous dresses and 

jewels and furs. Just looked great. And they were nice people. We all had a good ti me.  

 Sam would go down in the House restaurant and get a paper plate or two and then he’d 

heap lunch meat on it, so he’d have that for hors d’oeuvres to take it to the party. 

Hughes:  I’m curious about your opinion on term limits.  Helen  Sommers who has been 

there for 36 years is now reti ring. She is currently the state’s longest serving legislator.

Ferguson:  She was a good legislator, but I think that we will never be able to do anything 

about Congress without term limits.  Because you’ve got people like Barney  Frank and 

Chris  Dodd, who screwed up Fannie Mae and so forth, who are now writi ng the legislati on 

and conducti ng the hearings to do something about that mess. That’s crazy!  I always felt 

that in Congress, the senators should be allowed two terms and the House members six 

terms or 12 years. And you couldn’t go from one to the other.  And then when it comes to 

the state Legislature, I think oft en about the people who have been there that you really 

miss.  Lt. Gov. John  Cherberg, who served for 32 years, was a hell of a guy. He was one of 

my best friends down there.  

Hughes:  Have you been down to  Olympia lately?

Ferguson:  Not lately.  

Hughes:  So you’re doing the classic thing, working from home. You’re clipping arti cles and 

reading and writi ng. But you’re not doing it with computers or using the Internet?

Ferguson:  Well, I had a computer made for me, but I only wanted it to take my column and 

let me get the column out and run it though a printer. And I had a fax machine.  And the 

reason I do that is because if anything goes wrong with my machine, which it does once in 

a while, I’ve got nobody to fi x it.  I am the most un-mechanical person that ever lived.  You 

know who fi xes my machine? Bruce  Craswell, Ellen’s husband.  He and  Ellen once invited 

me to lunch at their house, and the other guests were their pastor and his wife.  And so 

we just sat and shot the breeze.  I’m telling you, we sat there all aft ernoon. They were just 
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enthralled hearing my stories.  

Hughes:  I’ll bet they were!  And  Ellen was a true believer, a naïf.  She must have just been 

stunned to hear some of this colorful insider stuff  you talk about.

Ferguson:  Yeah.  And I should say, too, that I admired Ellen. Ellen was great. But Sen. Phil 

 Talmadge, a Democrat from the 34th District (1979-1991) couldn’t stand Ellen – not as a 

person, but for the way she was – the fact that she wouldn’t vote for the tax increases and 

all this kind of stuff .

Hughes:  Tell me about Phil Talmadge.

Ferguson:  Well, I liked Phil.  One day we were in  Cherberg’s offi  ce. Phil never had drinks 

in there, but he’d come in.  I don’t know if he was a drinker or not, but he didn’t drink 

in there.  He came in one day when I’d had two or three.  So I said, “You know, Phil, do 

you realize that every ti me you stand up to speak most of the people at the press table 

put down their pens?”  He said, “Why?”  I said, “You’re the world’s greatest expert on 

everything.  You speak on every topic, on every issue, and while you do know something 

about them, you’re too widespread.  Why don’t you sti ck to things you really know well, 

and then everybody will look forward to hearing you speak.”  He thanked me.  And for I 

guess two or three days he did keep his mouth shut but he broke loose aft er that.

Hughes:  He’s a really bright guy, isn’t he?

Ferguson:  He is. He really is.

Hughes:  He had a very interesti ng career on the Supreme Court too, didn’t he?

Ferguson:  Yeah, and left  voluntarily.  He didn’t get beaten. I’m not sure what he’s up to 

now.

Hughes:  In your wildest imaginati on, aft er all that you saw there, having a front row seat, 

did it enter your mind that it would be interesti ng to be in the Legislature? 

Ferguson:  No, I never wanted to be in the Legislature.  I never wanted to be on-call to 

people.  I never wanted to be where people would call you and you had to be nice to them.  

My  husband and I both made several trips with Lt. Gov. Cherberg on his trade missions; 

pay your own way and everything.  But we went on these trips and I had to be nice. Most 

of the other people on the trips were legislators, and some lobbyists, and some business 
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people they took along.  The whole point of the trip was we were going to get business 

for the State of Washington, so we had some rich business people on the trip too.  But 

anyway, I had to be nice, even though I would really get irked over something.  Some of the 

legislators, for example, wouldn’t help carry luggage.  They would just drop out of sight and 

leave it for the rest of us to do.  But I couldn’t make a big fuss about anything because I had 

to be friends with these guys when we got home.  So that’s the part — that you have to be 

nice when you get back home again. I don’t like having to be nice all the ti me.

Hughes:  Did I ask you about Jeannett e  Hayner, who became Senate majority leader in 

1981 when  von Reichbauer switched parti es.

Ferguson:  You didn’t.  Jeannett e Hayner eventually decided that she was going to do the 

drinks once a week like the others, even though she didn’t drink.

Hughes:  She was the fi rst female Majority Leader, right?

Ferguson:  Right. And she was persuaded by her caucus, or somebody that these press 

people are going in and having drinks with the Speaker of the House, and they’re having 

drinks with Clyde  Ballard and whoever, so why don’t you do it?  Well, she didn’t drink and 

she didn’t want to be accused of spreading beer and rum to these people.  But she did it, 

and someti mes they’d have litt le sandwiches and cookies.  But she answered questi ons and 

socialized, and I think she kind of liked it aft er a while.  

Hughes:  And was she a good Majority Leader?

Ferguson:  Yeah.  I think she took the offi  ce from Jim  Matson from  Yakima, a really nice 

guy who everybody liked. He was one of  Walgren’s best friends.  Anyway, he was the one 

before and she got it, they pulled that coup and got it.  

Hughes:  What kind of relati ons do you have with Speaker Frank  Chopp?

Ferguson:  Not very good, even though he’s from  Bremerton.  See, he sort of came at 

the end of when I was there representi ng The  Sun. I left  in ’93, so he was not there long 

enough for me to get too cozy with.  

But I got along fi ne with Wayne  Ehlers, who became speaker in 1983. I liked Wayne, 

except I never forgave him.  He’s the guy who got the initi ati ve passed that set up the 

salary commission (for statewide elected offi  cials).  And I always say, If you want to know 
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the guy who fi xed it so that they get a raise damn near every ti me they meet, thank Wayne 

 Ehlers because he did it. At one ti me, when Wayne was Speaker and Denny  Heck and Dan 

 Grimm – a future state treasurer – were in the Legislature, those three guys were running 

the House and none of them had a job. They were all living off  their overti me that they got.  

They could call meeti ngs any ti me they wanted to, so they just lived off  the Legislature, the 

three of them.  I wrote about it!

Hughes:  Denny Heck, who became Booth  Gardner’s chief of staff , seems like someone who 

would be your kind of guy.

Ferguson:  Eh, not exactly.  Neither was Dan Grimm, but Wayne was. He was a jolly guy.

Hughes:  Let’s go back to 1970. I see here in one of your columns that there’s an episode 

that somehow escaped my radar.  This concerns Mary Ellen  McCaff ree and the possibility 

that she could be Speaker of the House.

Ferguson:  I remember writi ng that.  She was my neighbor up here for a while. She lived up 

here in Hansville.

Hughes:  You wrote this: “Mary Ellen McCaff ree of  Seatt le, just the ti cket.  Smart, 

experienced, unfl appable, with the added advantage of being one of a ti ny handful of 

legislators who are in so with the governor that they could have just about anything they 

wanted from him.  Whether she wants this is something else again, but she’d be tough to 

beat.”

Ferguson:  She didn’t go for it.  When she was up here she lived just up from the store here 

in Hansville.  Her husband was the president of the Senate of the  University of Washington.  

All this property up here, all the way down, much of it belongs to former faculty members 

of the UW.  They were one of them.

Hughes:  It’s fabulous here. 

Ferguson:  But you wonder why we’ve got so many problems today, people can’t pay their 

mortgages and stuff . Look at the houses they’re building.  Everybody builds a house that’s 

way too big for them because they think they’re going to make a mint when they sell it.  

This house is valued at a half a million, but we paid $27,900 for it. 

Hughes: What did your husband  Phil do for a living?
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Ferguson:   He was in the  Navy for eight years, and then he became an electrician in the 

 Navy Yard.  And then he went to work as a consultant.  Then he wrote manuals on how to 

store your atomic weapons and stuff  like that.  He didn’t go to college.  But I didn’t go to 

college either.  

Hughes:  So you had these trade mission opportuniti es.  Did these devolve from covering 

the Legislature?  

Ferguson:   Cherberg just liked to travel, and he never had to pay. The guy who organizes 

the trip doesn’t have to pay. Everybody else paid.  Actually, it wasn’t that much, and it was 

great because when you went you were treated the same as the Lieutenant Governor.  You 

got to meet the second-in-command in all the countries. You don’t get fi rst-in-command 

when you’re Lieutenant Governor.  So we went on all these trips.  I persuaded him to go to 

Egypt. He had not thought of that before.  We also went to  China for three weeks.

Hughes:  When was that?

Ferguson:  1980 I think it was.  Every ti me we went out on the streets we were surrounded 

by crowds of people, all wanti ng to practi ce their  English on us.

Hughes:  We’re winding down. If you were doing this interview, what would you ask 

yourself, Adele?

Ferguson:  I made list notes to myself of people I didn’t want to not menti on.

Hughes:  Tell me about them.

Ferguson:  Perry  Woodall, a Republican from Eastern Washington, was a wonderful guy, 

tremendous lawyer and always looked out for the  Mexicans. He took care of his people.  

He had a seat in front of Marshall  Neill, who later went on the Supreme Court.  Perry would 

get up and make all these speeches. In the middle of talking, he’d come back to Marshall 

and have him look it up in the law.  Then Marshall would turn the book around so Perry 

could read the law, and Perry would carry on.  Perry was one guy who wouldn’t tell you 

what went on in caucus.  It was sort of a thing with him that the members of the caucus 

are not supposed to tell what goes on when they shut the caucus door, so he wouldn’t tell 

you anything about that, but he’d tell you everything else.  Some of the others were dying 

to tell you what went on in the caucus.  I always found out about the  Democrati c Caucus.  
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Bob  Bailey tried to explain to his caucus one ti me why so much stuff  was getti  ng out of the 

caucus.  “Everybody thinks Red  Beck is doing it,” he said, “because Red talks to Adele all the 

ti me.”  But he says, “I have a feeling someti mes that it’s me.”  Red did tell me everything.  

Red said, “Now, they made me chairman of the  Consti tuti onal Conventi on Committ ee.  And 

I just have one thing to do all session: Make sure that no bill gets out of committ ee that 

calls for a Consti tuti onal Conventi on!”

Frances Haddon  Morgan got up one ti me on the fl oor of the House —and they had 

a bill on the fl oor that had to do with using nicknames.  They wanted to stop people from 

using nicknames like “Red” Beck. So she got up there and declared, “Now, people won’t all 

use their real names.  For example, Frances Haddon Morgan is not my real name. My real 

name is Frances Rose Morgan; my mother’s name is Haddon.”  Then she says, “And there’s 

Adele.”  Everybody looks at me. Now they’re talking about me.  “Adele Ferguson. That’s not 

her real name either.  She’s got another name.”  And prett y soon she sits down. I went out 

in the court and ran around to her side of the chamber; she’s out there now in the wings.  

And I said, “Frances, if you ever menti on my name again on the fl oor of the Senate, I’m 

never going to menti on yours in The  Bremerton Sun.”  

She decided that I was really OK when she found out I had a sister who was 

retarded. I was in the same boat with her. She had the (retarded) grandson and I had the 

sister.  

 What else I was going to tell you about was that I wrote an amendment once.  I 

never got involved in writi ng legislati on.  Some of the other reporters did. They had a bill 

that had to do with riding horses on public lands.  So I wrote an amendment while I’m 

sitti  ng at the press desk. It said, “Horses being ridden on public highways must be plainly 

labeled ‘horse’ in a sign affi  xed to their tails so drivers coming up behind them won’t 

mistake them for legislators.”  They passed it, and then they tabled it.  They were having a 

litt le fun!

Hughes:  That’s great.

Ferguson:  I did actually help write a bill with a guy from over in Eastern Washington who 

became head of a big federal offi  ce in  Seatt le and now he’s back in  Washington D.C. –  Rollie 
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 Schmitt en.  Our bill had to do with protecti ng white deer. There used to be white deer up 

here. I don’t know if there are anymore, because I haven’t seen any white deer for years.  

But you could see them when we were out in our boat; you’d see them on the beach.  We 

wanted to make it so that people didn’t just kill them for their hides.  So we drew up a 

bill.  Our bill took care of albino animals.  I heard that the Game Department later got it 

rescinded.

Hughes:  Who speaks for albino animals?  Adele Ferguson does!

Ferguson:  Now Karen  Schmidt was a fi ne legislator; she was one of my legislators.  She 

wrote the death penalty bill and really went through hell for it because she got calls in the 

middle of the night. You know, people screaming and carrying on.  There are more of these 

damn do-gooders who believe the death penalty is a terrible thing. I think it’s fi ne. I think 

we ought to do more of it.  But Karen was a fi ne legislator.

 Beverly  Woods was too.  She got beat in the electi on two years ago. Beverly Woods 

was a wonderful legislator who was in it to help people; to do good work for people. She 

didn’t want anything for herself. And the people in this county dumped her for a gal on 

 Bainbridge Island.  That really gets me.  And I wrote a column that said “Don’t try to do 

anything for people because that’s how they repay you.”

Hughes:  No good deed goes unpunished.

Ferguson: John  O’Brien knew how to get things done. He was great.  One of his 

consti tuents told him she was ti red of going in grocery stores and if her kid had to go to 

the bathroom they wouldn’t let the kid go to the bathroom. They only had a toilet for 

employees.  So he wrote a bill that said henceforth aft er Jan. 1 or whatever, that any store 

as big as thus and such square feet must a have a separate toilet for the public.  And of 

course you know what happened?  All the grocery stores immediately put signs up that 

said their toilets were available to anybody who wanted to use them.  So then his bill just 

never got anywhere. They didn’t need it.  But that’s how you legislate. That’s how smart 

guys legislate. And all new grocery stories, regardless of size, had toilets for customers 

anyway from then on.  

Ferguson: One ti me I was out at one of the night clubs. Most of the people like me, when 
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you’re there (in  Olympia) by yourself, you just went prowling at night to wherever you 

thought there were people.  I used to run into Will  Bachofner, chief of the Washington 

State Patrol.  He died just recently.  He’d always want to buy me a drink.  And I’d say, “Let 

me buy you a drink for a change.”  And he’d say, “Ladies don’t buy drinks when they’re with 

me.”  He was a good guy, and I don’t think he even drank much.  He used to go out at night 

from bar to bar. I think he was just keeping track of what was going on.  

Hughes:  Can you make any generalizati ons about what you’ve observed in the Legislature 

over the years, what’s diff erent today than in 1961 when you started covering  Olympia?

Ferguson:  Of course I haven’t been down there since ’93, so I’ve been out of it a while.  

But before I left , it used to be that all during the session there were always parti es and 

recepti ons, and fundraisers.  And then when they passed new laws that said you can’t have 

the fundraisers and all, and it got to be too expensive to have these things. The nightlife 

disappeared.  Before that, it was fun and everybody went.  The staff ers all went, and the 

reporters would go to get some good hors d’oeuvres or you’d hope that before it was over 

somebody would ask you if you wanted to go out to dinner.  Once I went to a recepti on and 

waited and waited and nobody asked me to dinner, so I went ahead and started eati ng the 

hors d’oeuvres.  Then Gordon  Walgren comes up and asks if I want to go out to dinner with 

them.  “Why the hell didn’t you ask me an hour ago?” I said. “I wasted all this ti me eati ng 

this crap.”

Hughes:  So some of the so-called reforming really zapped some of the energy out of the 

 Capitol?

Ferguson:  It zapped the fun out of it.  And it used to be that lobbyists were prett y powerful 

people, and prett y important people.  But somehow the anti -lobbyist group got them 

painted as the bad ones.  I always thought they were handy as hell. If you want to know 

something they’re not going to lie to you, even if it’s not to their benefi t.  Some of the 

most honest people down there were the lobbyists because their reputati ons rose and fell 

on whether they could be trusted with what they said.  I know reporters who don’t want 

to hear anything “off  the record” because they can’t write it.  When I fi rst went down there 

(in 1961) I talked to the insurance lobbyist and he said, “I’d like to invite you to dinner with 
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some legislators.  But it will have to be a dinner where you can’t write anything about it.”  

And I thought, well then I can’t come along. That’s when I didn’t know any bett er.  I learned 

that’s not the way you do it.

Hughes:  Were there any stories that you sure wished you could write about.

Ferguson:  Well yeah, and I’m not going to talk about them either.  I’ve got some real good 

dirt on some of those people down there, but I’m never going to write about it, and I don’t 

talk about it.

Hughes:  But is it safe to say that in terms of your conscience that if you would have felt 

some of that dirt absolutely had to come out that it would have?

Ferguson:  Oh yeah. I wouldn’t conceal 

something that was lawbreaking or hurtf ul.  

It’s just stuff . I’ll give you an example of a 

very mild case:  Red  Beck was the senator 

down in the 26th District.  And he was just a 

great advocate for the gas tax.  I knew that 

Red bought all his gas from the  Navy Yard 

where he didn’t have to pay the tax.  He was 

ex- Navy. But I never wrote about it.  See 

what I mean?  I never wrote that because I 

fi gured you could fi gure it out real easy for 

yourself.  If they’d have asked him, I suppose 

he would have had to admit it, but I never, 

ever wrote the truth, which was that he never paid the gas tax because he bought his gas 

in the Navy Yard.  I knew about people’s romances, too, but those are really no-nos.  Some 

of the top people down there were romancing quite handily with some of the people. But 

that’s just gossip. I didn’t write about that stuff .

Hughes:  I wonder if as much of that goes on today as it used to.

Ferguson:  I would imagine.  People are the same.

Hughes:  I was always really impressed at how you were able to be both a columnist and a 

Adele at her kitchen table, 2008
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reporter at the same ti me.  How did you manage that?

Ferguson:  It wasn’t hard. 

Hughes:  Why wasn’t it hard?

Ferguson:  I guess you just wear a diff erent hat.  I know the rules.

Hughes:  You’re sti ll a newspaper junkie like I am. Do you worry about the profession – the 

loss of readers and revenues?

Ferguson:  I don’t like what some of the people in it are doing. Their  English is poor. I almost 

clipped out something I saw in this morning’s paper. They wrote that somebody “got a hold 

of” something.  And I thought, “Come on, you don’t say ‘got a hold of,’ for God’s sake, in a 

news story.”  And then I read a story where they said that in the fi nal results of the governor’s 

electi on last ti me,  Gregoire had a 129-vote margin over  Rossi. But that’s not the fi nal result. 

It was 133 votes when the court got through.  And I wrote a lett er to the publisher and said, 

“For God’s sake, doesn’t anybody keep up with what’s going on?  If you call the Secretary of 

State’s Offi  ce and ask them what the fi nal vote was, it would be 133.” … 

And I don’t like the fact that they choose sides in the news columns. That’s what a 

journalist is supposed to not do.  A journalist is supposed to be just the facts ma’am, and 

not embroider it with what you think or anything.  That’s not true journalism.

Hughes:  So you’re seeing a lot more of that, blurring the disti ncti on between news and 

opinion?

Ferguson:  Oh yeah.  And I’ve been places on panels where there are other people, maybe a 

columnist or two, and they’ll say something like “Today we have a group of journalists.”  And I’d 

correct them and say, “No, I’m not a journalist.   Peter here from the Tacoma paper, he’s not a 

journalist;  he’s a columnist. He’s an opinion writer, and a good one, too.  I’m an opinion writer. 

We can tell you what we think about it but you’re not supposed to do that in news stories.”

END OF INTERVIEW II

Adele Ferguson

November 13, 2008
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Interview III

Adele Ferguson

 January 23, 2009

Hughes: There’s a real possibility that the  Seatt le Post-Intelligencer may go out of business.  

The P-I hasn’t always been my favorite newspaper, but –  

Ferguson:  Mine either, but I don’t want to see it go under. … I think it must be mainly the 

online competi ti on.  That’s what’s doing it.  

Hughes:  That and this recession. So what’s your message to Mr. and Mrs. Greater Seatt le 

about what it’s going to be like without that voice in a town that needs more voices in the 

media?

Ferguson:  Well, I believe in newspapers. I believe in newspapers.  I don’t care what they do 

on television or online or all this other computer stuff .  You can’t clip them and mail them 

to your aunt in  Dubuque.  Once in a while I would do a column and just ask people, “What 

don’t you like about your newspaper?”  And usually the answer I would get was, “They 

never follow anything up.  They’ll have a story in about something that’s really interesti ng, 

and never say another word about it. You never know what happened.”

Hughes:  That more so than any percepti on of a politi cal bias?

Ferguson:  Yes. And my own newspaper here in the county, I used to write notes to the 

editor and say, “Any ti me you run a story about somebody hired for a public job why don’t 

you put the damn salary in there?!”  Everybody wants to know what we are paying this 

person.  And they never do it.  They’ll put ages in someti mes, and I think all politi cians’ 

ages should be in their stories.  And they don’t do it all the ti me.

Hughes:  Who’s your favorite reporter lately – someone you think just does a terrifi c job?

Ferguson:  Well to me, no one reporter so much, but for favorite columnist, Charles 

 Krauthammer.

Hughes:  Do you watch TV much?

Ferguson:  I watch  CSI!

Hughes:  Do you watch any of the hot new news shows, like  Anderson Cooper?

Ferguson:  I watch Sean  Hannity.  I don’t watch  Olbermann.  I watch Hannity, and 
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someti mes Bill  O’Reilly. But O’Reilly’s ego is almost more than I can stand. … In the morning 

I get up at 5. I watch the news from about 5 to 5:30 on Channel 5, and the next half hour 

on Channel 4, and the next half hour on Channel 7 and then I give it up for the day.

Hughes:  And then you start thinking about what to write in your column.  Have you 

writt en anything about our new president?

Ferguson:  Yeah I have.

Hughes:  What have you said about Barack  Obama?

Ferguson:  I started out by noti ng that in the fi nal days of the Bush Administrati on there 

was a  Fox News interview asking the two   Bushes – father and son – questi ons like, “What 

memorable events went on in this offi  ce?”  And I thought, “That isn’t what I’d ask.”  I want 

to ask the senior Bush, “Why, why, why every ti me they jump all over you about ‘Read my 

lips, no new taxes,’ don’t you tell them the truth?  Which was, that the  Democrats came 

to you and off ered to make a deal.  You signed a tax increase, and they pledged to put all 

the money saved from downsizing of the military into reducing the federal defi cit.  Nobody 

ever says that!  It was in the papers and I had clippings. I talked to Slade  Gorton about it 

and did a story with him.  But nobody remembered it!

And I would have asked the younger Bush, “Why, with the reputati on of the 

 Republicans for fi scal responsibility, did you let the fi rst budget come through loaded with 

all the goodies for Republicans, and Democrats as well, instead of vetoing it?  And you 

didn’t veto anything unti l stem-cell research came along.”  No wonder the Republicans 

were mad at him over that.  

Then I would ask Jimmy  Carter, “Why can’t you obey the historical traditi on that ex-

presidents do not cast aspersions or criti cize their successors’ acti ons?”  He’s an asshole! 

Carter goes overseas and does it all the ti me.

And I would ask Bill  Clinton, “Why do you take these occasional jabs at George W. 

Bush when he restored you to respectability by asking you serve with his father on the 

fundraising drive for the tsunami victi ms and the victi ms of  Hurricane Katrina?”  

And I said I would like to ask Barack Obama, as I’ve asked before and got no 

answers, “Where were you, and who was there – the who, what, where – when you 
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decided to run for president?  Or are the people who were involved persona non grata?”  

You know that may be why he can’t talk about it.  It may be Jeremiah  Wright and those 

people.

Hughes:  It certainly is an amazing historical moment – our fi rst black president. Did you 

think there was a real chance that he would be elected?

Ferguson:  I so disliked the   Clintons, and I was so hopeful that they wouldn’t get back in 

again.  Remembering that they left  with the furniture … I didn’t really think so, no.  But I 

was wrong once before.

Hughes:  Really?

Ferguson:  Somebody called me and asked, “Well, what do you think about Clinton now 

that he’s been caught with  Monica and the cigar and all that kind of sleazy stuff ?” And I 

said, “He’s toast!”  (whispering) I was wrong.

Hughes: What’s the most memorable column you ever wrote from the standpoint of the 

impact it made?

Ferguson:  Well, I don’t know about impact, but I think my most memorable column was 

about a dog named “Dice.” (It was published in October of 1974). People love pet stories, 

and this one was really something. Dice was a dark brown German shorthair who belonged 

to Bill and Laura   Breuer of  Olympia. I wrote that “He was no ordinary dog – he was one 

of the greatest hunters around and they treated him like one of the family. He rode in 

the front seat of the car right up there between his owners. Bill and Laura and Dice were 

practi cally inseparable.”

 Then, as he got older, Dice started to get sick. The Breuers took him to the vet, who 

said Dice had colon cancer. They sent a specimen of ti ssue to  WSU for verifi cati on and the 

sad word came back that nothing could be done. The best thing to do, the vets said, was 

to put Dice to sleep rather than subject him to more pain and suff ering. So the Breuers put 

Dice in the car between them and took him on his last ride to the vet. They left  him there 

and drove around for the rest of the day, crying.

About two months later, Bill and Laura’s son,  Chet, who was chief of detecti ves with 

the Olympia Police Department, got a call from the dog hospital. They wanted him to come 

and get Dice. 
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But Dice was supposed to be dead.

Here’s what happened: Aft er  Bill and  Laura left  the dog, the veterinarians didn’t 

have the heart to give him the fatal needle. They’d known Dice since he was a pup and 

he was like family to them, too. So they decided to wait a day or two unti l their newest 

partner came on board and get him to put the dog out of its misery. While they were 

waiti ng, the phone rang. It was  WSU. Did they sti ll have the dog with colon cancer? They 

did. “Well,” they said, “We’ve got a new drug we want to try out. How about giving it to 

Dice? It won’t cost anybody anything and it might help.”

The upshot, of course, was that the drug worked! And Dice was ready to go home. 

They called Chet because they knew that his folks thought Dice was dead.  Chet called John 

 Sullivan, a family friend, for advice. “How do I tell them he’s not dead without giving one of 

them a heart att ack?”

Sullivan said, “Do it just like you told me.”

The next day, Sullivan was at home when Bill and Laura drove up with Dice sitti  ng in 

his usual spot between them.

He pretended not to noti ce the dog as Bill and Laura got out of the car, all smiles.

“Come on over here,” said Bill. “I want to show you something.”

Sullivan tried to look at the ti res and the hood and everything else on the car unti l 

he was ready to be surprised by an equally happy Dice. 

Well, Dice lived for a couple more years and fi nally died of old age. The Breuers 

vowed that they would never have another dog. Sullivan tried to give them one out of 

a litt er of shorthair puppies, but they refused. Dice was the love of their lives, and they 

couldn’t go through all that all over again.

Sullivan told them he had to be gone for a week or so, and he didn’t have anyone to 

watch the last pup in the litt er. Wouldn’t they please just puppysit for him?

They were reluctant, but they loaded the pup into the car and drove off .

“Funny thing,” I concluded. “It’s been a long ti me since, and Sullivan has just never 

gott en around to retrieving that pup.”

I guess I’m not the only one who gets senti mental about animals. People just loved 
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that column, and so do I!

Hughes:  What a great story!

 Adele, if you left  this mortal coil tomorrow, how would you like to be remembered?

Ferguson:  “She tried to be honest.” (laughs)

Hughes:  I think you succeeded.

Ferguson:  Well, I don’t know, but I’ve never really lied about anybody.  … I think what they 

used to say about me, which was a compliment, was that I had an “insti tuti onal memory.”

Hughes:  You certainly do.  I thank you for letti  ng me spend this ti me with you, Adele.  It’s 

been great.  

Ferguson:  Well, thank you for asking me. I know I’ll think of more things I wanted to say.

End of Interview

Editor’s Note: Don Brazier’s two-volume History of the Washington Legislature (1854-1963 

and 1965-1982) was an invaluable reference work for this oral history.
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